
Page 1 of 3 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 19, 2024 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Approval of the minutes of the Regular City Council meeting of February 5, 2024. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 

business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing to consider entering into an Amended and Restated Agreement for Private 
Development with CV Commercial, L.L.C. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 02/10/2024) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amended and Restated Agreement for 
Private Development with CV Commercial, L.L.C. 

3. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the North 
Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project Phase 2. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 02/10/2024) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project Phase 2. 

4. Hearing on the proposed condemnation of property located at 109 East 2nd Street. 
 

1



Page 2 of 3 

a) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
b) Oral comments. 
 
c) Resolution declaring the property located at 109 East 2nd Street to be a nuisance due to being 
structurally unsafe, a fire hazard, or otherwise dangerous to human life and health, and ordering 
abatement of said nuisance by removal, repair or demolition of said property and requiring the owner 
of said property to abate said nuisance or submit a viable plan by March 18, 2024. 

Old Business 

5. Pass Ordinance #3047, imposing the one percent local sales and services tax within the City of 
Cedar Falls and allocating the revenue derived therefrom, upon its third & final consideration. 

6. Pass Ordinance #3048, amending the Zoning Map located North of Aldrich Elementary School and 
South of West Greenhill Road from R-1, Residential District & MU, Mixed Use Residential to RP, 
Planned Residence District, upon its second consideration. 
 
OR 
 
Suspend the rules requiring ordinances to be considered at three separate meetings (requires at 
least six aye votes), and pass the ordinance upon its third & final consideration. 

7. Pass Ordinance #3049, amending Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to the Cemetery Section, upon its second consideration. 

8. Pass Ordinance #3050, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicle, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to the speed limit on certain portions of West 27th Street, upon its second consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 

discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

9. Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of February 5, 2024 relative to the 
following items: 
a) City Council Training Update. 
b) Hearst Project Update. 

10. Receive and file the 2023 Annual Reports of the Planning & Zoning Commission, Board of 
Adjustment, Historic Preservation Commission, Group Rental Committee/Board of Rental Housing 
Appeals, Housing Commission and Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee. 

11. Receive and file the following resignation of members from Boards and Commissions:  
a) Gina Weekley, Human Rights Commission. 

12. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 
a) Gordon Sorensen, Planning & Zoning Commission, term ending 11/01/2025.  
b) Maureen Henderson, Planning & Zoning Commission, term ending 11/01/2026. 
c) Brent Johnson, Planning & Zoning Commission, term ending 11/01/2028. 

13. Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to the following certified 
list: 
a) Waste Water Treatment Plant Operator II. 

14. Approve the application of Casey's #4279, 1620 W 1st St, for a cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor 
permit. 

15. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Asian Fusion Vietnamese and Thai Cuisine, 5725 University Avenue, Special Class C retail 
alcohol - renewal. 
b) Cottonwood Canyon, 419 Washington Street, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 

2



Page 3 of 3 

renewal. 
c) The Wine Shop, 305 Main Street, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
d) Chad's Pizza & Restaurant, 909 West 23rd Street, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
e) Sakura Japanese Steakhouse & Sushi Bar, 5719 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - 
renewal. 
f) Casey's, 1620 West 1st Street, Class E retail alcohol - new. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

16. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

17. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Water Service Territory Transfer Agreement 
with Iowa Regional Utilities Association (IRUA) relative to water service rights affecting properties 
along South Union Road. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Addendum of a Master Service Agreement 
with IP Pathways, LLC, relative to providing support services. 

19. Resolution designating July 5 and July 6, 2024 (9 a.m.-10 p.m.) as additional days of use for 
consumer fireworks within the City limits. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Professional Lawn Care, a/k/a 
ProLawn, relative to yard maintenance services for private properties in violation with City of Cedar 
Falls Ordinances. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing expenditure of funds for the purchase of a solid waste transfer 
trailer for the Public Works Department. 

22. Resolution approving and accepting Completion and Final Acceptance of Work of Owen Contracting, 
Inc. for the Lake Street Trail Project. 

23. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting March 4, 2024 as the date of public hearing on, the 
proposed plans, specification, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2024 Street Restoration 
Project. 

24. Resolution setting April 1, 2024 as the date of the public hearing on the proposed property tax rate 
and creating a proposed property tax rate for the City of Cedar Falls FY2025 Budget. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

25. Allow Bills and Claims for February 19, 2024. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

Executive Session 

26. Executive Session to discuss Information contained in records in the custody of a governmental body 
that are confidential records pursuant to Iowa Code Section 22.7(50); and to discuss Property 
Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the purchase or sale of particular real estate 
only where premature disclosure could be reasonably expected to increase the price the 
governmental body would have to pay for that property or reduce the price the governmental body 
would receive for that property. 

Adjournment 

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, FEBRUARY 5, 2024 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR DANIEL LAUDICK PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, 
Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Laudick led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
54615 - It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Kruse that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of January 16, 2024 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54616 - Major Rob Green, Cedar Falls, Commander in the Civic Air Patrol, gave an 

overview of the program and aerospace, thanked the City for use of the Public 
Safety building for a ceremony, and provided the Squadron training time.   

   
  The following individuals spoke in support of a proposed resolution by the 

Council to be approved and submitted to state and federal governments calling 
for a cease fire in the Gaza Strip: 

  Xandra Escalada, Cedar Falls 
  Ev Wilson, Waterloo 
  Byron Plumly, Cedar Falls 
  Amelia Gotera, Cedar Falls 
  Shirley Whiteside, Cedar Falls 
  Sonja Bock, Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission Chair 
  Aliya Rahman, Waterloo 
  Archer, Cedar Falls 
  Nic Tripp, Cedar Falls 
  Reverend Michael Blackwell, Cedar Falls 
  John Greer, Cedar Falls 
 
  Brandon Sanders, Waterloo, spoke about property owned on First Street and 

issues with snow removal. Councilmember Schultz commented.  
 
  Mark Suchy, Cedar Falls, thanked the City for its work on the Center Street 

Corridor and requested consideration of lowering the speed limit to 25 on 
Longview from Western to Lone Tree Road. 

 
  Pastor Larry Stumme, St. Paul Lutheran Church, spoke regarding disparity in 

living conditions for Black residents and referenced the 24/7 Wall Street report 
mentioning the Waterloo/Cedar Falls area, and encouraged working together as 
a community. 

 
  Kim Jensen Jordan, Cedar Falls, spoke about the history of the Sartori family, 

hospital, the City’s maintenance of the property and building concerns about 
losing the hospital, and expressed desire to see Mayo Clinic presence in the 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

community. 
 
  Following comments by Mayor Laudick, he announced a brief recess from 8:13 

PM to 8:17 PM. 
 
54617 - Mayor Laudick announced the continuation of a public hearing on the proposed 

amendment to the Land Use Map by changing the designation from Low Density 
Residential Use, Greenways and Floodplain Use, and Neighborhood Commercial 
& Mixed Use to Low Density Residential Use and adjust the Greenways and 
Floodplain Use of property located North of Aldrich Elementary School and South 
of West Greenhill Road. The Mayor then asked if there were any written 
communications filed to the proposed amendment. Upon being advised that 
there were no written communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral 
comments. There being no one present wishing to speak about the proposed 
amendment, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order 
of business. 

 
54618 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta that Resolution #23,470, 

approving an amendment to the Land Use Map by changing the designation from 
Low Density Residential Use, Greenways and Floodplain Use, and 
Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use to Low Density Residential Use and 
adjust the Greenways and Floodplain Use of property located North of Aldrich 
Elementary School and South of West Greenhill Road, be adopted. Following 
comments by Councilmember Dunn, the Mayor put the question on the motion 
and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: 
Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,470 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54619 - Mayor Laudick announced the continuation of a public hearing on the proposed 

rezoning from R-1, Residential District & MU, Mixed Use Residential to RP, 
Planned Residence District of property located North of Aldrich Elementary 
School and South of West Greenhill Road. The Mayor then asked if there were 
any written communications filed to the proposed rezoning. Upon being advised 
that there were no written communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral 
comments. There being no one present wishing to speak about the proposed 
rezoning, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order of 
business.  

   
54620 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Latta that Ordinance #3048, 

amending the Zoning Map located North of Aldrich Elementary School and South 
of West Greenhill Road from R1, Residential District & MU, Mixed Use 
Residential to RP, Planned Residence District, be passed upon its first 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

54621 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3047, 
imposing the one percent local sales and services tax within the City of Cedar 
falls and allocating the revenue derived therefrom, be passed upon its second 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted.  Aye:  Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn.  Nay:  none.  Motion carried. 

 
54622 - It was moved by Hawbaker and seconded by Ganfield that the following items on 

the Consent Calendar be received, filed, and approved: 
 

Receive and file the City Council Work Session minutes of January 16, 2024 
relative to the following items: 
a) College Hill Visioning Plan. 
b) Animal Control 
 
Receive and file the minutes of the January 26, 2024 City Council Joint Meeting 
with Legislators. 

Receive and file resignations of members from Boards & Commissions: 
a) Julie Kliegl, Human Rights Commission. 

Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to 
the following certified lists: 
a) Public Safety Supervisor - Captain. 
b) Public Safety Supervisor - Lieutenant. 

Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of December 2023. 

Approve a request for temporary signs at various locations for the Waterloo-
Cedar falls Annual Coin Show on March 23-24, 2024. 

Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Hy-Vee Fast and Fresh, 6527 University Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - 
renewal. 
b) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C retail 
alcohol – renewal. 
c) Panther Lounge, 210 East 18th Street, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
d) Bani’s, 2128 College Street, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
e) Happy’s Wine & Spirits, 5925 University Avenue, Class E retail alcohol – 
renewal. 
f) Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

 Motion carried unanimously.   

54623 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that the following resolutions 
be introduced and adopted: 

Resolution #23,471 approving and authorizing execution of an Advertising 
Agreement with Lee Enterprises, Incorporated, d/b/a Courier Communications, 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

relative to recruitment advertising. 

 Resolution #23,472 approving and authorizing a Service Agreement with 
TargetSolutions Learning, LLC, d/b/a Vector Solutions relative to a tracking 
software for Public Safety Services. 

 Resolution #23,473 approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Asbestos Inspection/Monitoring Services with Iowa Environmental Services, Inc. 
relative to properties adjacent to the West Viking Road Industrial Park. 

 Resolution #23,474 approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Services Agreement with Richard Bardle relative to fiberglass TC mascots for the 
Panthers on Parade Project. 

 Resolution #23,475 approving and authorizing execution of an Iowa Tourism 
Grant Agreement with Iowa Economic Development Authority (IEDA) relative to 
digital advertising to promote Cedar Falls. 

 Resolution #23,476 approving and authorizing execution of a Travel Iowa Data 
Co-op Agreement with Iowa Economic Development Authority (IEDA) relative to 
Cedar Falls Tourism access to statewide and localized data for tourism planning 
and marketing. 

 Resolution #23,477 in support of a grant application to the Otto Schoitz 
Foundation for the Seerley Park Improvements Project. 

 Resolution #23,478 approving and authorizing execution of an Amendment to the 
Service/Product Agreement for Federally Funded Project with Iowa Northland 
Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration and technical 
services for activities relative to FY2023 (FFY2022) HOME Investment 
Partnership Program funding project delivery. 

 Resolution #23,479 approving and authorizing execution of a Second 
Amendment to the Service/Product Agreement for Federally Funded Project with 
Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration 
and technical services for activities relative to FY2023 (FFY2022) Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG). 

 Resolution #23,480 approving and authorizing execution of a Contract with 
Family & Children’s Council of Black Hawk County relative to Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding for service agencies. 

 Resolution #23,481 approving and authorizing execution of a Contract with the 
Salvation Army relative to Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding 
for service agencies. 

 Resolution #23,482 approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy Real 
Estate and Acceptance for property located at 1218 Cottage Row Road. 

 Resolution #23,483 approving and authorizing submission of the Iowa Certified 
Local Government (CLG) 2023 Annual Report of the Historic Preservation 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

Commission to the State Historical Society of Iowa. 

 Resolution #23,484 approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy 
parcels 49 & 52 with the Iowa Department of Transportation (IDOT) relative to 
the reconstruction of Highway 57/West 1st Street. 

 Resolution #23,485 approving and authorizing execution of a Farm Lease 
Agreement with Century Farms an Iowa General Partnership relative to 
agricultural land known as the Belz Farm. 

 Resolution #23,486 approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of a columbarium vault for the Cemetery Section of the Operations and 
Maintenance Division. 

 Resolution #23,487 approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental 
Agreement No. 1 to the Professional Service Agreement with Foth Infrastructure 
& Environment, LLC relative to the 2024 Bridge Inspection Project.  

 Resolution #23,488 receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting 
the low bid of Municipal Pipe Tool Company, LLC in the amount of $151,712.00, 
for the 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. 

 Resolution #23,489 approving and accepting the contract and bond of Municipal 
Pipe Tool Company, LLC for the 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation 
Project. 

Resolution #23,490 approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement with Cedar Falls Community School District 
(CFCSD), relative to a post-construction stormwater management plan for the 
Cedar Falls High School located at West 27th Street. 

 Resolution #23,491 setting February 19, 2024 as the date of public hearing to 
consider entering into a proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private 
Development with CV Commercial, L.L.C. 

 Resolution #23,492 receiving and filing, and setting February 19, 2024 as the 
date of public hearing on, the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & 
estimate of cost for the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project Phase 
2. 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,471 through #23,492 
duly passed and adopted. 

54624 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #23,493, 
approving and adopting CFD 1121: Council Policy – City Council Meeting 
Procedures, be adopted.  Following comments by Councilmembers Kruse, Dunn 
and Schultz, and responses by Mayor Laudick, it was moved by Schultz and 
seconded by Kruse to amend the motion by replacing “must” with “shall” in 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

section 8.2. Following comments by Councilmembers Dunn, Hawbaker, Latta, 
and Ganfield, and responses by City Attorney Rogers, the motion to amend 
carried 6-1, with Ganfield voting Nay. Following comments and questions by 
Councilmember Ganfield, and responses by Mayor Laudick, the Mayor put the 
question on the original motion as amended and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: Ganfield. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #23,493 duly passed and adopted. 
 

54625 -  It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Crisman that Resolution #23,494, 
approving and authorizing execution of an Amendment to lease with MercyOne 
Northeast Iowa, formerly known as Wheaton Franciscan Healthcare-Iowa, Inc., 
former known as Covenant Health Systems, Inc., extending the term from 
January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2026, be adopted.  Following comments 
and questions by Councilmembers Schultz and Kruse, and responses by Mayor 
Laudick, City Attorney Rogers and Director of Finance and Business Operations 
Rodenbeck, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted.  Aye:  Schultz, Kruse, Hawbaker, 
Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn.  Abstain:  Latta.  Nay:  none.  Motion carried.  The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #23,494 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54626 -   It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Latta that Resolution #23,495, 

approving and adopting the Imagine College Hill! Vision Plan, be adopted. 
Following comments and questions by UNI Student Liaison Noah Hackbart, 
Councilmembers Hawbaker, Kruse, and Ganfield, and responses by Mayor 
Laudick, it was moved by Councilmember Dunn to call the question.  Motion to 
call the question carried unanimously.  The Mayor then put the question on the 
motion and upon the call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted.  
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Hawbaker, Crisman, and Dunn.  Nay: Kruse and Ganfield.  
Motion carried.  The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,495 duly passed and 
adopted. 

 
54627 -   It was moved by Latta and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3049, 

amending Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to the Cemetery Section, be passed upon its first consideration. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
the call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted.  Aye: Schultz, 
Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, and Dunn.  Nay: None.  Motion 
carried. 

 
54628 -   It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3050, 

amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicle, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to the speed limit on certain portions of West 27th Street, be passed upon 
its first consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion and upon the call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted.  Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, and Dunn.  Nay: None.  Motion carried. 

 

9

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 7 - 

 

54629 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield that the bills and claims of 
February 5, 2024 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 
funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54630 -   It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Crisman to refer to the Committee of the 

Whole discussion for staff to bring to Council a plan to utilize funding allocated in 
the CIP for FY25 for proposals for changes to zoning and parking for the College 
Hill character areas 1, 2, and 3 as designated by the College Hill Vision Plan 
similar to the character districts for established for the downtown.  Note:  Priority 
should be given to areas 1, 2, and 3 however the impact and future possible 
changes to areas 4 and beyond can/should be included in the recommendations.  
Following comments by Councilmembers Kruse, Hawbaker and Schultz, and 
responses by City Administrator Gaines and Mayor Laudick, the motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
54631 -   It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Latta to refer to the Committee of the 

Whole discussion on the City’s current Conflict of Interest disclosure 
requirements.  Following comments by Councilmembers Kruse and Hawbaker, 
the motion passed unanimously. 

        
54632 -   It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta to adjourn to Executive Session to 

discuss Collective Bargaining per Iowa Code Section 20.17(3) as negotiating 
sessions, strategy meetings of public employers, mediation, and the deliberative 
process of arbiters. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted.  Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn.  Nay: 
None.  Motion carried. 

 
     The City Council adjourned to Executive Session at 9:02 P.M. 
 
     Mayor Laudick reconvened the Council meeting at 9:42 P.M.   
   
54633 - It was moved by Schultz and seconded by Dunn that the meeting be adjourned 

at 9:43 P.M. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
                                                           __________________________________ 
                                                           Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

10

Item 1.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: February 9, 2024 

SUBJECT:      Proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development 
between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa and CV Commercial, L.L.C. 

    
 
On July 19, 2021, City Council approved an Agreement for Private Development with 
CV Commercial, LLC (Resolution No. 22,460), for a new five-story mixed-use building to 
be constructed on their property located along College Street and W. 22nd Street within 
the College Hill Urban Renewal Area. In the original agreement, it indicated a 
completion date of the project by December 31, 2023. However, the project has yet to 
commence, so the developer has requested that the agreement be amended to update 
the project completion date, as the project will commence this spring. 
 
Along with updating the completion date in the proposed Amended and Restated 
Agreement for Private Development, several other sections are proposed to be updated 
as well to reflect the most up to date information. The updates include: 
 

1. Updating the completion date from December 31, 2023 to December 31, 2025. It 
is anticipated that construction will commence this spring on the project, with 
projected completion in 2025. 
 

2. Updating the construction cost of the project from $5,000,000 to $6,250,000. The 
developer has indicated that the estimated cost of the project has increased 
since the agreement was first approved in 2021. 
 

3. Updating the maximum amount of tax rebates that the project may receive over 5 
years, from a maximum amount of $593,937 to $717,087. This number has 
changed due to using the increased building cost listed in item 2 above and also 
using the current TIF tax rate amount. Please remember that the number above 
is the maximum amount of tax rebates that the project can receive over the 5-
year time period, and will be dependent on the actual taxable valuation of the 
building as determined by the County Assessor.  

 

11

Item 2.



The Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development by and between the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa and CV Commercial, LLC is attached for your review.  This 
Amended and Restated Agreement was reviewed by City Attorney Kevin Rogers and is 
acceptable to both parties. 
 
It is recommended that City Council adopt and approve the following: 
 

1. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amended 
and Restated Agreement for Private Development by and between 
the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and CV Commercial, LLC. 

 
If you have any questions pertaining to this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc:  Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
        
        
 
 
 

12

Item 2.



W 22nd St

W 21st St

Co
lle

ge
 S

t

Ol
ive

 St

W 20th St

W 23rd St

Project Location

CV Commercial, LLC
2119 College Street
New Mixed Use Building I

13

Item 2.



14

Item 2.



15

Item 2.



16

Item 2.



17

Item 2.



18

Item 2.



19

Item 2.



20

Item 2.



21

Item 2.



22

Item 2.



23

Item 2.



24

Item 2.



25

Item 2.



26

Item 2.



27

Item 2.



28

Item 2.



29

Item 2.



30

Item 2.



31

Item 2.



32

Item 2.



33

Item 2.



34

Item 2.



35

Item 2.



36

Item 2.



37

Item 2.



38

Item 2.



39

Item 2.



40

Item 2.



41

Item 2.



42

Item 2.



43

Item 2.



44

Item 2.



45

Item 2.



46

Item 2.



47

Item 2.



48

Item 2.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA (319) 268-5160 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING 

EXECUTION OF AN AMENDED AND RESTATED 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT BY AND 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA AND CV 

COMMERCIAL, L.L.C. 

 

 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 17,348, adopted February 14, 2011, and amended 

by Amendment No. 1, approved by Resolution 21,832 on January 6, 2020, this Council 

found and determined that certain areas located within the City are eligible and should be 

designated as an urban renewal area under Iowa law, and approved and adopted the 

College Hill Urban Renewal Plan (the "Plan") for the College Hill Urban Renewal Area 

(the "Urban Renewal Area" or "Area") described therein, which Plan is on file in the 

office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Area be redeveloped as part 

of the overall redevelopment area covered by said Plan; and 

  

WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from CV Commercial, L.L.C. (the 

"Developer"), in the form of a proposed Amended and Restated Development Agreement 

(the "Amended Agreement") by and between the City and the Developer, pursuant to 

which, among other things, the Developer would agree to construct certain Minimum 

Improvements (as defined in the Amended Agreement) on certain real property located 

within the College Hill Urban Renewal Area at 2119 College Street in Cedar Falls, Iowa 

as further defined and legally described in the Amended Agreement and consisting of the 

construction of an approximately 31,200 square foot commercial/residential mixed use 

building on the Development Property, together with all related site improvements, as 

outlined in the proposed Amended Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Amended Agreement further proposes that the City will make up 

to five (5) consecutive annual payments of Economic Development Grants to Developer 

49

Item 2.



in the form of a percentage of Tax Increments generated from the construction of the 

Minimum Improvements, the cumulative total for all such payments not to exceed the 

lesser of $717,087, or the amount accrued under the formula outlined in the proposed 

Amended Agreement, under the terms and following satisfaction of the conditions set 

forth in the Amended Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") 

authorize cities to make grants for economic development and blight remediation in 

furtherance of the objectives of an urban renewal project and to appropriate such funds 

and make such expenditures as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of said 

Chapter, and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Council has determined that the Amended Agreement is in the 

best interests of the City and the residents thereof and that the performance by the City of 

its obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the 

Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Amended Agreement and the 

City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development and 

blight remediation activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 

15A and 403 of the Iowa Code taking into account any or all of the factors set forth in 

Chapter 15A, to wit: 

 

a. Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 

economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 

b. Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, 

or expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which 

generate tourism-related activities. 

 

c. Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be 

targeted toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which 

gains and benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds 

dispensed. 

 

d. Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of 

the state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside 

the state or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will 

generate significant new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs 

in similar Iowa businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct 

jobs for the purpose of dispensing funds; and 

 

 

50

Item 2.



 WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as required by law, this Council has held 

a public meeting and hearing upon the proposal to approve and authorize execution of the 

Amended Agreement and has considered the extent of objections received from residents 

or property owners as to said proposed Amended Agreement; and, accordingly the 

following action is now considered to be in the best interests of the City and residents 

thereof. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS IN THE STATE OF IOWA: 

 

Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the Amended 

Agreement, including but not limited to making of grants to the Developer in connection 

with the development of the Development Property under the terms set forth in the 

Amended Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and purpose 

and in furtherance of the Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the 

Amended Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of 

appropriate economic development and blight remediation activities and objectives of the 

City within the meaning of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Iowa Code, taking into account 

the factors set forth therein. 

 

Section 2.  That the form and content of the Amended Agreement, the provisions 

of which are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects 

authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they 

hereby are authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the 

Amended Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the form and content 

now before this meeting, but with such changes, modifications, additions or deletions 

therein as shall be approved by such officers, and that from and after the execution and 

delivery of the Amended Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby 

authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 

documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the 

Amended Agreement as executed. 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 19th day of February, 2024.  

 

 

       _______________________________ 

       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

51

Item 2.



CERTIFICATE 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, SS.  

 

 
I, Kim Kerr, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above and 

foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and 

legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of ____________________, 

2024. 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2024. 

   

  

Kim Kerr 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

  

  

52

Item 2.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  
  
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: February 19th, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Phase II  
  City Project Number: RC-092-3271 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Phase II. 
 
This project consists of reconstructing Timber Drive from Grand Avenue to Greenwood 
Avenue, East Ridgewood Drive from Greenwood Avenue to Cherry Lane and Woodland 
Drive to East Ridgewood Avenue. Work includes reconstruction of water main, storm and 
sanitary sewers, installation of new 8” subdrain, asphalt pavement with concrete curb 
and/or edging, and concrete intersections.   
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $4,520,727.07. The project 
will be funded by Local Option Sales Tax, Street Construction Fund, Sanitary Sewer 
Rental Fund, and General Obligation Bond.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving the 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities for the North Cedar Heights 
Area Reconstruction Phase II. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  

53

Item 3.



54

Item 3.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Inspection Services Division 

 

  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick & City Council  
 
 FROM: Jamie Castle, AIA 
  Building Official   
 
 DATE: February 12, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Condemnation Hearing for 109 E 2nd Street 
 
On January 31, 2024, the Condemnation Committee, selected by Mayor Laudick, 
inspected 109 E 2nd Street as per City Code Ordinance 7-20(14) IBC 116.3 Procedure 
for Condemnation and Removal.  Per the ordinance, the Mayor shall appoint three 
council members to inspect along with the building official, fire chief, and county health 
officer and report their findings to the City Council.  If the Committee reports the building 
is unsafe or dangerous the matter shall be set down for hearing at the next regular 
meeting of the Council.   
 
The appointed Committee consisted of Council members Chris Latta, Gil Schultz, and 
Dustin Ganfield, as well as Building Official Jamie Castle, Fire Chief John Zolondek, and 
County Health Officer Eric Heinen.  Also at the inspection were Mayor Laudick and 
Building Inspector Joel Wardell.  The owner and board members of the Space were 
present at the inspection. The inspection occurred on January 31, 2024, at 1:30 PM with 
permission of the owner.   
 
City Staff were notified on January 19, 2024 that the owner of the property has since 
passed away.  The building was willed to Kendalle Alquwaie, a board member of The 
Space.  City staff has been working with Ms. Alquwaie. 
 
Nuisance history of 109 E 2nd Street: 

 On January 12, 2024 officers and paramedics were dispatched to the upper level 
apartment as the resident/owner was in need of medical care.  When the officers 
entered the property they discovered the property was in insanitary condition, 
lacked heat, and structural concerns.  The owner was admitted to the hospital.  
Officers notified code enforcement of the condition of the structure. 

 On January 14, 2024 officers returned to the property to remove the owner’s 
cats, given the owner remained in the hospital.  At that time contact information 

55

Item 4.



was exchanged and then provided to Inspection Services.  At this visit there were 
concerned raised regarding the water lines potentially being frozen since we 
were experiencing negative temperatures. 

 On January 15, 2024 Inspection Services (Jamie Castle and Adam Spray) 
requested that CFU shut off the water.  CFU attempted to shut the water off at 
the curb stop but were unable to.  Inspection Services worked with the board of 
The Space to meet at the building to have CFU turn off the water at the meter 
and to review the state of the building. 

 An inspection occurred with the permission of the board.  At that time Building 
Official Jamie Castle determined the building was not safe for occupancy and 
placarded the building.  Following this the Mayor was informed of the property 
issue and a condemnation committee was requested. 

 
Results of Condemnation Inspection: 
 

Interior: 

 The property has been neglected and is deteriorating.  The upper level ceiling is 
falling in 5 different locations and has water dripping.  It is evident the roof is 
leaking.  It would also appear that it has been leaking for some time based on the 
damage to the ceiling and the moisture in the floors.  Violation of §15-2(24)(a) 

 The stairs are unsafe, which are the only means of egress to/from the upper 
level.  The stairs have been repaired with non-code compliant methods.  From 
below the stairs you can see the deterioration.   The handrail is not fully attached 
and unsafe for use.  Violation of §15-2(24)(g), IRC 311, and IFC 1023. 

 Upper level floor is deteriorated in several areas.  In areas where the joists can 
be seen, they are worn, patched, and splintering.  In other areas the floor 
sheathing is spongy when stepped on and there are holes exposing the floor 
joists in some locations. 

 The kitchen and bathroom facilities were in disrepair.  In the upper level the 
areas were minimally accessible due to storage and debris.  The lower level 
facilities were not code compliant for a commercial space.    Violation of §15-
2(35), IRC R306, IBC Chapter 29. 

 Neither level has functioning heating.  Upper level was using space heaters.   
Violation of § IMC 309 and IRC R303.10 

 Electrical wiring in upper level not code compliant.  Utilizing extension cord to 
feed light in closet.  Violation of §15-2(35) NEC 400.12 

 Excessive use of extension cords within the lower-level commercial space. 

 Mold evident in several locations.  Violation of §15-2(35) NEC 400.12 

 Based on the appearance of the walls and ceilings, an unknown  event had 
caused soot.   

 A non-compliant tub was installed in the living room, the main issues are:  the tub 
blocks a clear path to bathroom, the floor joists may not be sufficient to support 
the tub, and it is improperly plumbed.  Violation of § UPC 308.0, 910.2, 1001.2 

 Sewer in the basement appears have incorrect fall.  Should be inspected and 
verified by licensed plumber.  
 

56

Item 4.



Exterior: 

 Masonry shows several cracks along the grout. Violation of §15-2(24)(d) 

 Further investigation is required to determine the extent of the issue but from the 
interior of the building, it is evident the roof is leaking. We did not inspect on top 
of the roof.  Violation of §15-2(24)(a) 
 

Minimal Abatement Requirements: 
 
It is the Building Official’s opinion that the following steps will be required to bring the 
building into compliance.  This is not a complete list as further investigation will be 
required to assess the state of the structure. 

 Remove all ceiling finishes to evaluate the roof structure.  Repair structure as 
required.  

 Reroof entire roof.  Patching would not be adequate. 

 Tuck point exterior. 

 Repair floor and joists where deteriorated as determined by a professional. 

 replace damaged floor sheathing at upper level. 

 Remove all wall finishes and replace.  This includes plaster and sheetrock. 

 Properly install all plumbing fixtures throughout the entire building with a licensed 
plumber and complete inspections by City Staff prior to restarting the water. 

 Make required updates to the building’s electric provisions to eliminate need for 
extension cords. 

 Provide and install a heating system for the entire building. 

 Verify the sewer service’s fall in basement. 

 Remove and provide new code compliant stairs. 
 

 

109 E 2nd Street Photos: 

 
 
 
     

 
 

57

Item 4.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Recommendation: 

 
The Department of Community Development recommends the following: 
 

1. City Council declare the property a nuisance. 

2. City Council order abatement of the nuisance.   The nuisance must be either 

completely abated or a viable plan of action with a detailed schedule and funding 

information for completion of the abatement must be submitted to the Building 

Official by 4:00 PM on March 18, 2024.  The Building Official will be granted 

authority to reinspect the property after 4:00 PM on March 18, 2024, to determine 

compliance if a viable plan of action was not submitted.  If a viable plan is 

58

Item 4.



submitted and approved the Building Official will also be granted the authority to 

periodically reinspect the property to ensure the plan is being met as submitted.  

Excessive reinspection’s would result in a reinspection fee being assessed to the 

property. 

3. If the owner of record fails to either submit a viable plan of action or abate the 

nuisance by March 18, 2024, the Building Official is hereby directed to do 

whatever may be necessary to remove, correct or abate such nuisance by 

demolition or removal, and to levy the cost of such abatement as a lien upon the 

above-described real estate, to be collected in the same manner as property 

taxes. 

59

Item 4.



60

Item 4.



61

Item 4.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

PUBLIC WORKS & PARKS DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PARKWAY 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Danny Laudick and Cedar Falls City Council 

 FROM: Chase Schrage, Director, Public Works Department 

 DATE: February 14, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Local Option Sales Tax  

 
 Enclosed are the ordinance revisions related to the local option sales tax for the 
purpose of street reconstruction and rehabilitation to begin January 1, 2026. The current 
program/ordinance is set to expire on December 31, 2025. These revisions would be to 
continue with option tax program beginning January 1, 2026 until repealed. The 
program was on the ballot in November 2023 and voted on as a block of contiguous 
cities (passing with 73%).  
 
The Department of Public Works recommends that the City Council approve the 
ordinance revisions for the continuation of the local options sales tax. Let me know if 
you have any questions. 
 
 
  
 

62

Item 5.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by:  Kim Kerr, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613                                   (319) 273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 3047 

 

AN ORDINANCE IMPOSING A LOCAL OPTION TAX WITHIN THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, OF ONE PERCENT (1%) UPON LOCAL SALES AND SERVICES TO 

BE EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2026, AND PROVIDING THAT THE REVENUE SHALL 

BE DERIVED AND ALLOCATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 423B OF THE 

2023 CODE OF IOWA, AS AMENDED. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 SECTION 1.  TAX IMPOSED 

 That a tax at the rate of one percent (1%) shall be imposed in accordance with Chapter 423B of the 

2023 Code of Iowa, as amended, on the local sales and services in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to be 

effective on January 1, 2026. 

 SECTION 2.  DISTRIBUTION 

 The revenue generated by the imposition of the local sales and services tax shall be allocated by the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as follows: 

One hundred percent (100%) of the revenue generated in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, during 

each fiscal year from said local sales and services tax is to be allocated for 

reconstruction/repair/replacement of existing streets, curbs, structures, storm sewers and 

sanitary sewers as they relate to streets within the corporate limits of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa. 

 

 The funds received from the local sales and services tax shall be considered additional funds which 

are allocated only for reconstruction/repair/replacement of existing streets, curbs, structures, storm sewers 

and sanitary sewers as they relate to streets and not as replacement funds for the present funding levels as 

authorized by the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, nor for widening of or creation of new streets. 

63

Item 5.



 2 

 The funds received from the local sales and services tax shall be placed in a separate account solely 

devoted to street repair and replacement and have all interest income generated by the temporary investment 

of tax proceeds credited to this special account. 

 

INTRODUCED:     January 16, 2024    

 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   January 16, 2024    

  

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   February 5, 2024    

 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

 

ADOPTED:            

 

   

 ____________________________ 

       Daniel A. Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

64

Item 5.



 
RESOLUTION NO. ______________ 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE R-P, PLANNED RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT MASTER 

PLAN AND THE DEVELOPMENTAL PROCEDURES AGREEMENT FOR 54.79 ACRES 

OF LAND LOCATED NORTH OF ALDRICH ELEMENTARY SCHOOL  

AND SOUTH OF W. GREENHILL ROAD  

 

 WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 

Commission to rezone approximately 54.79 acres of property from R-1 Residence District and 

MU Mixed Use Residential District to R-P Planned Residence District; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the R-P Planned Residence District requires the submittal and approval of a 

master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific conditions 

pertaining to the development, any timing and phasing of the project, and other details as 

necessary; and 

 

 WHEREAS, said R-P, Planned Residence District, allows for development flexibility 

according to a master plan to ensure that the area is developed in an orderly manner according to 

the principles of the Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan; and 

 

 WHEREAS, said rezoning request was submitted alongside the master plan for the 54.79 

acres of land located North of Aldrich Elementary School and South of W. Greenhill Road, and 

the principles and provisions of which were to be incorporated into the developmental 

procedures agreement between the City and the owners of the property; and  

  

 WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered the rezoning request and 

proposed elements of the master plan and found that said rezoning and master plan is consistent 

with the City of Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan and the intent of the R-P Planned Residence 

District and recommended approval thereof by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has recommended approval of the 

rezoning subject to the submitted master plan and a developmental procedures agreement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best 

interests of the community to approve the master plan and the associated R-P Planned Residence 

District Developmental Procedures Agreement; and  

 

 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

that the R-P Planned Residence District Master Plan for Panther West Addition, attached hereto 

as Exhibit A, and the Developmental Procedures Agreement, attached hereto and incorporated 

herein as Exhibit B, are hereby approved for 54.79 acres of land located North of Aldrich 

Elementary School and South of W. Greenhill Road, as illustrated on Exhibit A.   

 

 INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this _____day of__________, 2024. 

65

Item 6.



 

 

_________________________ 

                                                                           Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

        

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

66

Item 6.



1/25/2024

LEGEND

ARBORS DRIVE

A
RB

O
RS

 D
RI

V
E

MADELINE STREET MADELINE STREET

JO
SE

PH
 D

R
IV

E

JOSEPH DRIVE

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T
 R

-P
 M

A
ST

ER
 P

LA
N

PA
N

T
H

ER
 F

A
R
M

S,
 L

LC
PN

: 
  
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
 #

PA
N

T
H

ER
 W

ES
T
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N
S

N
A

T
H

A
N

 L
A

N
E

PH
ASE

 1

PH
ASE

 2

PH
ASE

 3

PH
ASE

 4

R-1
R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

A-1

R-P

RICHARD ROAD

1 of 1
 BUILDING TYPES

 BUILDING SETBACKS 

UNIVER
SIT

Y AVEN
UE

RICHARD
ROAD

ED
EN

 W
A

Y

LEIGH
LANE

ANDY
AVE.

BLYTHE
BLVD.

GREENHILL ROAD

IR
O

N
W

O
O

D
D

R
IV

E

BENNETT LANE

EX
H

IB
IT

 A

67

Item 6.



Exhibit B

68

Item 6.



69

Item 6.



70

Item 6.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), Planner I, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 3048 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA FOR APPROXIMATELY 54.79 ACRES OF LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN, 

REMOVING SAID AREA FROM THE MU, MIXED USE RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT AND 

R-1 RESIDENCE DISTRICT AND ADDING IT TO THE  

RP, PLANNED RESIDENCE DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 

Commission to rezone approximately 54.79 acres of property from MU, Mixed Use Residential 

District and R-1 Residence District to RP, Planned Residence District, more specifically 

described below; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City to ensure that said development proceeds in an 

orderly manner and in accordance with the principles of the Comprehensive Plan and the 

provision of the RP Planned Residence District; and 

 

WHEREAS, said RP, Planned Residence District requires the submittal and adoption of a 

master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific conditions 

pertaining to the development, timing, and phasing of the project, and other development details 

as necessary; and 

 

WHEREAS, a RP master plan has been submitted with the rezoning application (case 

#RZ23-003), the principles and provisions of which will be incorporated into a developmental 

procedures agreement between the City and owners of the property, which will be considered for 

adoption in a separate action by resolution concurrent with this rezoning; and 

 

WHEREAS, said developmental procedures agreement outlines the provision for a 

minimum 20-foot-wide outlot for a future public trail, building setbacks for future lots, restricts 

direct driveway access off W. Greenhill Road, restricts development to detached single-family 

dwellings; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered the rezoning request and 

proposed elements of the RP Master Plan and finds that said rezoning and master plan is 

consistent with the City of Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan and the intent of the RP, Planned 

Residence District and therefore recommends approval; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best interests of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve said rezoning; and  

71

Item 6.



 

 WHEREAS, Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article III, 

Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-Six (26), Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is 

incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance by reference; and 

 
 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate, be and the same is hereby removed from 

the MU, Mixed Use Residential District and R-1 Residence District added to the RP, Planned 

Residence District: 
 

Legal Description: 

 

NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 27, 

TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., BLACK HAWK 

COUNTY, IOWA, EXCEPT THAT PART LYING WITHIN 574 LD 64 AS SHOWN 

AND DEPICTED ON PLAT OF SURVEY DOC. #2013-13902. 

 

AND 

 

ALL THAT PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 22, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 

5TH P.M., BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, LYING SOUTHERLY OF 574 LD 64 AS 

SHOWN AND DEPICTED ON PLAT OF SURVEY DOC. #2013-13902. 

 

AND 

 

ALL THAT PART OF THE SOUTH ONE-HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SECTION 23, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, LYING SOUTHERLY OF 574 LD 64 AND DOC. 

#2013-12296 AS SHOWN AND DEPICTED ON PLAT OF SURVEY DOC. #2013-

13902. 

 

Containing 54.79 Acres 
 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby 

amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the RP, Planned 

Residence District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

 

 

 

 

  
72

Item 6.



INTRODUCED:     February 5, 2024    

 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   February 5, 2024    

  

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:         

 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

 

ADOPTED:            

 

 

 

         _________________________ 

ATTEST:        Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

____________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

73

Item 6.



74

Item 7.



75

Item 7.



76

Item 7.



77

Item 7.



78

Item 7.



79

Item 7.



80

Item 7.



81

Item 7.



82

Item 7.



83

Item 7.



84

Item 7.



85

Item 7.



86

Item 7.



87

Item 7.



88

Item 7.



89

Item 7.



90

Item 7.



91

Item 7.



92

Item 7.



93

Item 7.



94

Item 7.



95

Item 7.



96

Item 7.



97

Item 7.



98

Item 7.



99

Item 7.



 
 

 
  

 

ORDINANCE NO. 3049 

        AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A REVISED CEMETERY SECTION OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES BY REPEALING DIVISION 3, CEMETERY SECTION, OF ARTICLE II, ARBORIST 

AND CEMETERY SECTIONS, OF CHAPTER 17, PARKS AND RECREATION, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A 

NEW DIVISION 3, CEMETERY SECTION, CONSISTING OF SECTIONS 17-75 THROUGH 17-98, 

INCLUSIVE. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

        Division 3, Cemetery Section, of Article II, Arborist and Cemetery Sections, of Chapter 17, Parks and 

Recreation, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its 

entirety and a new Division 3, Cemetery Section, consisting of Sections 17-75 through 17-98 is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

DIVISION 3. CEMETERY SECTION 

Sec. 17-75. Cemetery supervisor appointment; supervision. 

The cemetery section of the department of public works, operations and maintenance division, shall be 
under the control of the cemetery supervisor, who shall be appointed by the director of public works upon 
recommendation of the operations and maintenance division manager and be directly responsible to, and subject 
to the direction of, the operations and maintenance division manager.  

(Code 2017, § 20-106; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014; Ord. No. 2942, § 2, 6-3-2019) 

Sec. 17-76. Duties of cemetery supervisor. 

The supervisor of cemeteries shall:  

(1)     Develop and update regulations consistent with this division concerning all municipal cemeteries 
located in the city.  Such regulations are subject to approval by the council and shall be made available 
to the public. 

(2) See that the cemetery ordinances and regulations are enforced.  

(3) Perform such other duties as are required by ordinances and regulations and as the council and 
operations and maintenance division manager may direct.  

(4) Do all proper acts necessary to maintain the cemetery grounds in a neat, clean and attractive condition 
at all times.  

(Code 2017, § 20-107; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014; Ord. No. 2941, § 5, 6-3-2019) 

Sec. 17-77. Authority of cemetery supervisor to control location of markers and monuments. 

The supervisor of cemeteries shall control and direct the location of all markers, columbarium and 
monuments within municipal cemeteries located in the city.  

(Code 2017, § 20-108; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

100

Item 7.



 

 

Sec. 17-78. Cemeteries renamed. 

The cemetery formerly known as Old Cemetery is hereby named Greenwood Cemetery and the cemetery 
formerly known as Twelfth Street Cemetery is hereby named Fairview Cemetery.  

(Code 2017, § 20-109; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 17-79. Applicability of cemetery ordinances and regulations. 

The provisions of this division and the amendments thereto and all other ordinances and regulations of the 
city relating to Greenwood Cemetery shall, except as otherwise provided, apply to any and all other cemeteries 
which are owned, operated or controlled by the city.  

(Code 2017, § 20-110; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 17-80. Disposition of monies received by cemetery supervisor. 

All monies received by the cemetery supervisor under the ordinances and regulations of this division shall be 
paid over to the city clerk within 30 days after the receipt thereof. The clerk shall then deposit such monies with 
the treasurer.  

(Code 2017, § 20-111; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 17-81. Burial in cemetery required. 

The remains of all persons, when such remains are buried in the city, except those that are cremated, shall 
be buried in either Greenwood Cemetery, Hillside Cemetery, Fairview Cemetery or other cemeteries established 
by the city.  

(Code 2017, § 20-112; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 17-82. Hours of cemeteries. 

The cemeteries subject to this division shall be open to the public each day from sunrise to sunset, and no 
person shall enter such cemeteries at any other time without the consent of the cemetery supervisor or public 
safety services department.  

(Code 2017, § 20-113; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 17-83. Operation of perpetual care cemeteries. 

(a) Trusteeship. Pursuant to Iowa Code § 523I.502, the city hereby states its willingness and intention to act as 
the trustee for the perpetual maintenance of interment spaces in Greenwood Cemetery, Hillside Cemetery, 
Fairview Cemetery, and any other cemeteries hereafter established by the city.  

(b) Establishment of trust fund. A perpetual trust is hereby established for Greenwood Cemetery, Hillside 
Cemetery and Fairview Cemetery in accordance with the Iowa Cemetery Act. A restricted fund is created, to 
be known and designated as the "perpetual care cemetery fund," which shall be funded by the deposit of an 
amount equal to or greater than 20 percent of the gross selling price, or $50.00, whichever is more, for each 
sale of interment space within each cemetery. The fund shall be administered in accordance with the 
purposes and provisions of the Iowa Cemetery Act (Iowa Code ch. 523I). The perpetual care cemetery fund 
shall be maintained separate from all operating funds of the city and the principal of the fund shall not be 

101

Item 7.



 

 

reduced voluntarily except as specifically permitted by the Iowa Cemetery Act and applicable administrative 
regulations.  

(c) Sale of interment rights. The sale or transfer by the city of interment rights for lots and cremains niches in 
each cemetery subject to the provisions of this division shall be sold at such price as the council may, from 
time to time, provide by resolution, subject, however, to the provisions of subsection (b) of this section, and 
shall be evidenced by a certificate of interment rights and agreement evidencing the conveyance of exclusive 
rights of interment upon payment in full of the purchase price. The agreement for interment rights shall 
disclose all information required by the Iowa Cemetery Act, including the amount or percentage of money to 
be placed in the perpetual care cemetery fund, and the balance thereof to be placed in the city's general 
fund.  

(d) Perpetual care registry. The city shall maintain a registry of individuals who have purchased interment rights 
in the cemetery subject to the care fund requirements of the Iowa Cemetery Act, including the amounts 
deposited in the perpetual care cemetery fund of the city.  

(Code 2017, § 20-114; Ord. No. 2876, § 1, 8-15-2016) 

Sec. 17-84. Interment Rights. 

(a)      Interment.  A person acquires interment rights upon city approval of an interment agreement, payment of 
the required fee, and issuance of a certificate of interment rights.  Such person shall be considered owner of 
an interment space with rights to be interred in or to direct interment in the interment space, subject to the 
ordinances and cemetery regulations of the city.  Only those persons whose names appear in the cemetery 
records of the city shall be recognized as owner. 

(b)     No subdivision.  Interment spaces shall not be subdivided except by consent of the cemetery supervisor.   

(c)     Taxes, assessments.  Interment spaces are exempt from taxation and may not be pledged or otherwise 
encumbered by the owner. 

(d)     Surviving spouse; heirs.  Rights of interment are presumed to include the surviving spouse of the owner, 
which rights may not be divested without the written consent of said surviving spouse.  For purposes of this 
subsection a surviving spouse does not include a person divorced from the owner or whose marriage has 
been annulled as of the date of death of the owner.  If there is no surviving spouse at the time of the owner’s 
death, or upon the death of the surviving spouse, indivisible rights of interment shall then pass to heirs at law 
of the deceased owner in the order of their need, subject to the vested right of interment in the interment 
space of the deceased owner and surviving spouse.  Any heir may waive rights to interment in favor of 
another heir or heirs by filing a written instrument to that effect with the city clerk.   

(e)     Joint interment rights.  Where a right of interment is conveyed to two or more persons who are not married, 
such owners shall be considered as joint tenants with each joint tenant having a vested right of interment. 
Upon the death of a joint tenant the right of interment vests in all surviving joint tenants, subject to the 
vested right of interment in the interment space of the deceased joint tenant.    

(f)      Transfer of rights of interment.  Transfer of rights of interment may be made by written instrument filed with 
the city clerk, and surrender of the owner’s certificate of interment rights, subject to approval of the 
cemetery supervisor.  No transfer shall be allowed if there is indebtedness owed to the city from the owner 
of record of the interment space.  An additional interment fee as provided in section 17-83 shall be paid with 
any transfer, and upon payment of the requisite fee a new certificate of interment rights shall be issued to 
the new owner.  Such transfer of interment rights shall be noted in the perpetual care registry. 

(g)     Termination of interment rights.  

          (1)     Interment rights may be surrendered by the owner upon written instrument filed with the city clerk.  A 
refund of the purchase price, without interest, shall be paid to the surrendering owner. 

          (2)     Interment rights of an owner shall be deemed terminated upon transfer of such interment rights. 

102

Item 7.



 

 

          (3)     Interment rights shall be terminated and shall automatically revert to and vest with the city if an 
interment space is unoccupied and has not been occupied in the preceding 75 years.  Notice of 
termination shall be provided to the owner of record or the owner’s heirs as provided by law. 

          (4)     Interment rights to an interment space may be terminated and revert to and vest with the city upon 
disinterment, unless contrary written notice is provided to the city clerk by an owner, surviving spouse, 
or heirs within 90 days of such disinterment.               

Sec. 17-85. Interments. 

(a) Application. 

          (1) An application for interment must be made to the cemetery supervisor in the form specified in the 
cemetery regulations. 

          (2) An application for interment shall in all cases be accompanied by the fee, to be fixed as provided in 
section 17-83.  

          (3)     No interment shall be allowed without an approved application and payment of the requisite fee.  

          (4)     Interment is allowed only in designated interment spaces within municipal cemeteries. 

(b) Prerequisites to issuance of permit. The city clerk shall not issue a permit for interment unless sufficient 
information has been provided to the cemetery supervisor to ensure correct location of interment as well as 
the method of interment and also to ensure that city standards are met with respect to the burial receptacle 
or urn. 

(c) Unauthorized interment prohibited. The owner of an interment space shall not permit interments to be made 
therein for remuneration and shall not permit interments to be made except as provided in this division.  

(d) Interment in interment space of another. The cemetery supervisor is strictly forbidden to permit the 
interment of any person in the interment space of someone other than the owner or surviving spouse 
without the express written permission of the owner or the owner’s surviving spouse, or their heirs.  

(e) Incorrect information.  The city shall not be responsible for any error occurring from the lack of precise and 
correct instructions on an interment permit application and shall not be responsible for the identity of any 
deceased person sought to be interred.   

(Code 2017, § 20-116; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014; Ord. No. 2876, § 2, 8-15-2016) 

Sec. 17-86. Care of cemetery lots. 

No person, other than the owner or the owner’s spouse, heirs, or a near relative or intimate friend, working 
without compensation, shall be permitted to care for any cemetery lot or niche, and such care shall be subject to 
cemetery regulations.   

(Code 2017, § 20-117; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014; Ord. No. 2942, § 2, 6-3-2019) 

Sec. 17-87. Removal of remains from cemeteries. 

A notice of disinterment shall be filed with the cemetery supervisor prior to disinterment and is subject to 
the same fees as for interment, except to correct an error by the city.  Such notice shall contain information as 
required by the cemetery supervisor.  Disinterment is otherwise subject to state law.  The clerk shall maintain a 
permanent record of disinterments. 

(Code 2017, § 20-118; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014)

103

Item 7.



 

 

Sec. 17-88.  Cemetery work; license required. 

(a)    Cemetery work defined.  For purposes of this division, cemetery work means construction, placement, 

maintenance or repair of a foundation, monument, marker or other structure, or performing engraving, or 

adding adornments, in a cemetery subject to this division.   

(b)     No cemetery work without a license.  No person shall perform cemetery work without first obtaining a license 

from the cemetery supervisor and paying the required fee as established by the city council from time to 

time. 

(c)     Cemetery license application.  The application for a cemetery license shall be in a form prescribed by the 
cemetery supervisor and shall include information reasonably calculated to determine the appropriateness of 
granting a license, including but not limited to satisfactory evidence of ability to properly perform cemetery 
work.  The cemetery supervisor shall determine whether a cemetery license shall be issued. 

 

Sec. 17-89.  Cemetery work bond; insurance. 

(a)      Bond.  Each applicant for a cemetery license shall file with the city clerk a bond with a surety approved by 
the cemetery supervisor in the penal sum of $10,000.00, conditioned that applicant will comply with and 
observe the terms and conditions of all cemetery ordinances and regulations, and will pay all costs, fines and 
penalties incurred on account of failure to observe such ordinances and regulations.  Further, such bond shall 
be conditioned on the performance of cemetery work in a good and workmanlike manner. 

(b)    Insurance.  All cemetery licensees shall provide proof of and maintain commercial general liability insurance 
having a minimum combined single limit of $1,000,000.00.   

 

Sec. 17-90.  Revocation of cemetery license. 

(a)     A cemetery license granted under this division shall be revoked if the cemetery licensee does or allows to be 
done any of the following: 

          (1)     Fails to comply with all cemetery ordinances and regulations. 

          (2)     Fails to furnish proof of or maintain the bond or insurance required by this division. 

          (3)     Fails to provide timely advance notice to the cemetery supervisor or designee of cemetery work as 
required by this division.  

          (4)     Refuses to allow or resists an inspection of cemetery work by any authorized agent of the city. 

          (5)     Furnishes false information on the license application or other documents required under this division. 

          (6)     Fails to correct defective work or materials after notice by the cemetery supervisor. 

          (7)     Fails to pay fees or costs of repair or removal of a defective foundation, monument or marker installed 
or repaired by the licensee and corrected by the city. 

          (8)     Fails to pay for damage done to interment spaces, plots, walks, drives, grounds, trees, shrubs or other 
cemetery property by a licensee or agent after notice and demand therefore.       

(b)     Upon the occurrence of any of the events described in subsection (a) of this section, the city cler k 
shall provide to the cemetery licensee written notice of revocation of the cemetery license, and the 
cemetery licensee shall thereupon immediately cease to perform cemetery work. 

104

Item 7.



 

 

(c)     The cemetery licensee may appeal revocation of the cemetery license by written notice of appeal 
mailed or delivered to the city clerk within ten days of the date of notice of revocation. During the 
pendency of the appeal, the cemetery licensee shall not be allowed to perform cemetery work. 

(d)     Upon receipt of the appeal, the city clerk shall notify the chair of the administration committee of the 
city council of the appeal, and a hearing before the administration committee shall be scheduled 
within 20 days of the date of the notice of appeal. The cemetery licensee shall be notified in writing of 
the time and place of hearing on the appeal and shall be afforded an opportunity to present 
information to the administration committee in support of the appeal. The administration committee 
shall also consider any information provided by the cemetery supervisor.  The administration 
committee shall issue a written decision within ten days of the date of the hearing, either affirming or 
reversing the revocation of the cemetery license with or without condition. The decision of the 
administration committee shall be final. 

Sec. 17-91.  Notice of cemetery work; inspection; defective work. 

(a)     Notice of cemetery work.  Before any cemetery work is commenced, a cemetery licensee shall 
provide the cemetery supervisor at least ten days advance notice. 

(b)     Plans and specifications.  The cemetery supervisor may require written plans and specifications of 
such cemetery work prior to commencement. 

(c)      Inspection; correcting defective work.  The cemetery supervisor has the right to inspect cemetery work and if 
the determination is made that cemetery ordinances or regulations are or were not being followed or if the 
workmanship results in instability or other defect, or if approved plans and specifications were not followed, 
the cemetery supervisor may order the work to stop until the defect is corrected, which may include removal 
and reinstallation by the licensee.  The actual monument, marker or other adornment intended for 
installation is also subject to inspection and approval prior to installation.   

(d)     Defect found within one year.  If a marker or monument sinks, tilts or becomes misaligned, or if cemetery 
work or material is otherwise found to be defective within one year from completion of cemetery work, such 
defective work or material shall be corrected by the licensee at licensee’s cost upon written notice by the 
cemetery supervisor.  Such notice shall specify the nature of the defective work or material.   

Sec. 17-92. Cemetery markers and monuments—Repair or removal of unsightly markers and 

monuments. 

(a) Notice to owner. Following one year after installation, should any monument, marker or other adornment in 
a cemetery begin leaning, become dilapidated, unsightly or objectionable to the cemetery supervisor, the 
city clerk shall notify the owner by mail, if the owner’s address is known, to make such repairs as may be 
necessary, or to replace the monument, marker or other adornment, within 30 days from the date of mailing 
of such notice. At the expiration of such time, if the notice has not been complied with, or if the owner is not 
known or cannot reasonably be located or ascertained, it shall be the duty of the cemetery supervisor to 
enter upon and cause such repairs to be made, or such objectionable thing to be removed. The supervisor 
shall report the cost to the clerk, and the cost of such repair or removal shall be assessed against such owner, 
if known, or surviving spouse or heirs. 

(b) Repair by city at owner's request. At the request of an owner of an interment space, the cemetery supervisor 
may make needed repairs to any marker or monument and render a bill to the owner for the cost of the 
repairs. If such bill is not paid within a reasonable time after billing, the city may pursue collection by any 
lawful means.  

105

Item 7.



 

 

(c)      Vandalism.  The City is not responsible for damage to or defacement of markers, monuments or other 
adornments, or interment spaces, caused by acts of vandalism.  In such case the cemetery supervisor shall 
notify the owner as provided in this section within sixty days of discovery of such vandalism, and the owner 
shall be responsible for repair or replacement as also provided in this section. 

(Code 2017, § 20-124; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 17-93.  Columbarium. 

(a)     Definitions.  The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this section, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning.   

          (1)     Columbarium.  An aboveground structure owned by the city and located in city cemeteries that contains 
cremains niches. 

          (2)     Niche or cremains niche.  A compartment within a columbarium for the storage of funerary urns that 
are available to the public for interment as provided in this division.  

          (3)     Funerary Urn.  A container holding the cremated remains of a deceased person. 

(b)     Funerary urn or urn.  A funerary urn shall be of a material and of a size suitable for placement in a niche 
within a columbarium.  Unsuitable funerary urns may be rejected by the cemetery supervisor at the cemetery 
supervisor’s discretion. 

(c)     Niche plate.  Cremains niches shall be enclosed with a niche plate provided by the City and shall be sealed in a 
manner directed by the cemetery supervisor.  No attachments to a niche plate shall be allowed other than 
standard identifying bronze plaques provided and affixed by the City.  However, military medallions may be 
attached to a niche plate as approved by the cemetery supervisor and affixed by the city. 

(d)     Disinurnment.  Removal of cremains from a niche shall be allowed only as provided in section 17-87. 

(e)     Fees.  The fees for interment in a columbarium shall be as provided for in section 17-83.  The fees for City-
provided niche plates and plaques shall be established by council by resolution from time to time.  

(f)     Inurnment outside a columbarium.  Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent the burial of a 
funerary urn in a gravesite or placement of an urn in a monument niche as approved by the cemetery 
supervisor.         

Sec. 17-94.  Improvements to cemetery lots. 

No improvements to municipal cemetery lots or grounds shall be made except under the direction of the 
supervisor of cemeteries.  

(Code 2017, § 20-126; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014)

Sec. 17-95. Destruction of cemetery property. 

No person shall willfully and without authority destroy, mutilate, deface, injure or remove any of the 
gravestones or other structures in a cemetery within the limits of the city, or injure or destroy any fence, railing, 
tree, shrubbery, flower or lawn in such cemetery, or anything belonging to the city, or use such cemetery for any 
disrespectful or improper purpose whatever.  Violation of this section shall be a municipal infraction punishable as 
provided in section 1-9.  

(Code 2017, § 20-129; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

106

Item 7.



 

 

 

Sec. 17-96. Traffic regulations. 

No person in a cemetery shall:  

(1) Operate a vehicle at a rate of speed exceeding ten miles per hour.  

(2) Operate any vehicle on any area except the established cemetery roads or parking areas or such 
other areas as may be specifically designated by the director of public works or designee.  

(3) Operate a snowmobile, all-terrain vehicle or similar equipment, unless operated by an employee or 
agent of a public or private agency for the purposes of providing emergency services, rescue or 
maintenance, and as may be specifically designated by the director of public works or designee.  

(4) Operate a vehicle at night without headlights or other similar lighting equipment.  

(5) Operate any vehicle in disregard of any traffic sign indicating direction, caution or stopping, or any 
other sign posted for proper control and to safeguard life and property.  

(6) Park a vehicle in other than established designated parking areas, or as directed by the cemetery 
supervisor or his designee.  

(7) Leave a vehicle standing or parked during the hours when the cemetery is closed.  

(8) Park a vehicle, or use a cemetery, for the purpose of repair or washing or maintenance of a vehicle.  

(Code 2017, § 20-129A; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014; Ord. No. 2941, § 5, 6-3-2019) 

Sec. 17-97. Removal of refuse and litter from cemetery lots. 

No refuse or litter shall be left on any cemetery lot subject to the provisions of this division, or placed on the 
lot of another, or in the streets, nor shall any decayed flowers, shells, or any other unsightly thing be left on any lot 
for a period longer than three days; otherwise it shall be the duty of the cemetery supervisor to remove such 
unsightly thing without notice.  

(Code 2017, § 20-130; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 17-98.  Private mausoleums and crypts. 

Private mausoleums and crypts are hereby prohibited in the city.  

(Code 2017, § 20-132; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Secs. 17-99—17-132. Reserved. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

107

Item 7.



 

 

INTRODUCED:     February 5, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   February 5, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:         

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:            

 

       _____________________________ 

       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 
 

108

Item 7.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 5, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Updates to City Code Section 23-300  
  Lawful Speed Limits Established 
  W 27th Street 
 
The newly designed and constructed portion of W 27th Street between Hudson and 
Union Road near the new high school has been completed. The intended speed limit 
through the updated corridor has been adjusted with the new roundabouts. The 
adjustments will shift to a 25mph zone from Hudson Road to Greenhill road, a 35mph 
zone from Greenhill road to the westerly high school roundabout, and the existing 
corridor West of the high school will remain as currently posted at 45 mph.   
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to City Code Section 23-300, Lawful 
Speed Limits Established, to match what has been designed and constructed. Please 
see the attached redline changes for City Code Section 23-300, Lawful Speed Limits 
Established.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approval of setting the speed limits in the 
corridor on the attached redline through the corridor from Hudson Road to the west City 
limits.  
 
If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to ask. 
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer  
 

109

Item 8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared By: Matthew Tolan, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, Phone: (319) 268-5161 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3050 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE ENUMERATED SPEED LIMIT ON 27TH 
STREET AS 25 MILES PER HOUR FROM HUDSON ROAD WEST 2,700 FEET 
AND AS 35 MILES PER HOUR FROM 2,700 FEET WEST OF HUDSON ROAD 
TO 4,700 FEET WEST OF HUDSON ROAD AND AS 45 MILES PER HOUR 
FROM 4,700 FEET WEST OF HUDSON ROAD TO THE WEST CITY LIMITS, IN 
SECTION 23-300, LAWFUL SPEED LIMITS ESTABLISHED, OF DIVISION 5, 
SPEED, OF ARTICLE III, OPERATION, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 
MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, BY REPEALING SUBSECTION 8(A), AND ENACTING A 
NEW SUBSECTION 8(A) IN LIEU THEREOF; AND REPEALING SUBSECTION 
10(C) AND ENACTING A NEW SUBSECTION 10(C) IN LIEU THEREOF; AND 
REPEALING SUBSECTION 12(E) AND ENACTING A NEW SUBSECTION 
12(E) IN LIEU THEREOF. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 1. Subsection 8(a) and Subsection 10(c) and Subsection 12(e) of Section 23-

300, Lawful Speed Limits Established, of Division 5, Speed, of Article III, Operation, of Chapter 
23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are 
hereby amended by repealing said Subsections in their entirety and enacting in lieu thereof new 
Subsections 8(a) and 10(c) and 12(e), as follows: 

 
Sec. 23-300. - Lawful speed limits established. 

Unless otherwise provided by this chapter or other city ordinances and appropriately 
posted, the speed limits established in this section shall be the lawful speed, and any speed in 
excess thereof shall be unlawful. 

[unchanged provisions omitted] 

   (8) Twenty-five miles per hour. 25 miles per hour on any of the following streets as 
indicated: 
 

[unchanged provisions omitted] 

110

Item 8.



2 

 

 

 a. 27th Street (west), from its intersection with Hudson Road west a distance of 
2,700 feet. 

 
[unchanged provisions omitted] 

 
(10) 35 miles per hour.  35 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated: 
 
                                   [unchanged provisions omitted] 
 
      c. 27th Street (West), from a point 2,700 feet west of Hudson Road west to a 

point 4,700 feet west of Hudson Road.  
 
                                  [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 
(12) 45 miles per hour.  45 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated: 
 
                                   [unchanged provisions omitted] 
 
      e. 27th Street (West), from a point 4,700 feet west of Hudson Road west to the 

west City limits. 
 
                                  [unchanged provisions omitted] 
 
 
 

 
INTRODUCED:     February 5, 2024    
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   February 5, 2024    
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:         
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:         
 
ADOPTED:            
 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                           Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

111

Item 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-11-14 11:03:41 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 17) 

 
Page 1 of 4 

Sec. 23-300. Lawful speed limits established. 

Unless otherwise provided by this division or other city ordinances and appropriately posted, the speed 
limits established in this section shall be the lawful speed, and any speed in excess thereof shall be unlawful.  

(1) Parks, cemeteries and alleys. 15 miles per hour in any park, cemetery or public alley.  

(2) Business districts. 20 miles per hour in any business district.  

(3) Industrial districts. 25 miles per hour in any industrial district.  

(4) Residence districts; school districts. 25 miles per hour in any residence or school district.  

(5) Suburban districts. 45 miles per hour in any suburban district.  

(6) Fifteen miles per hour. 15 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. Clay Street, from West Third Street north to West Second Street.  

b. Pheasant Drive, for a distance of 210 feet east of the centerline of the jog in Pheasant Drive and 
for a distance of 200 feet west of the centerline of the jog in Pheasant Drive.  

(7) Twenty miles per hour. 20 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

Waterloo Road, from its intersection with 14th Street northwesterly to the intersection of Bluff Street 
and East 13th Street.  

(8) Twenty-five miles per hour. 25 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. 27th Street (West), from its intersection with Hudson Road west a distance of 1,8002,700 feet.  

b. Brandilynn Boulevard, from 400 feet east of Wal-Mart Drive west to the west end of the street.  

c. Center Street, from its intersection with First Street to a point 300 feet north of First Street.  

d. Center Street, from a point 200 feet south of its intersection with Green Avenue north to a point 
200 feet north of its intersection with Lantz Avenue.  

e. Chancellor Drive, from Viking Road south to Ridgeway Avenue.  

f. Cottage Row Road, from Center Street south to a point 800 feet west of the south end of the 
Snag Creek Bridge.  

g. Technology Parkway, from Hudson Road east to Chancellor Drive.  

h. Wal-Mart Drive, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

i. Westminster Drive, from Viking Road north and east to Nordic Drive.  

(9) 30 miles per hour. 30 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from Main Street east to a point 850 feet east of Main Street.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 520 feet east of Main Street west to Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Main Street west to Highland Drive.  

d. Brandilynn Boulevard, from 400 feet east of Wal-Mart Drive east to the east end of the street.  

e. Main Street (South), from University Avenue south to Orchard Drive.  

f. Prairie Parkway, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

g. Winterberry Drive, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

112

Item 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-11-14 11:03:41 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 17) 

 
Page 2 of 4 

(10) 35 miles per hour. 35 miles per hour on any of the following streets as indicated:  

a. 12th Street (West), from a point 425 feet west of the Carriage Lane intersection with West 12th 
Street to a point 125 feet west of the intersection of Barnett Drive with West 12th Street.  

b. 18th Street (East), from Main Street to Waterloo Road.  

c. 27th Street (West), from a point 1,8002,700 feet west of Hudson Road west to a point 4,0004,700 
feet west of Hudson Road.  

d. Big Woods Road, from Lake Street north to the north city limits.  

e. Cedar Heights Drive, from its intersection with University Avenue to a point 1,200 feet south of 
University Avenue.  

f. Center Street, from a point 300 feet north of First Street north to a point 200 feet south of its 
intersection with Green Avenue, and from a point 200 feet north of its intersection with Lantz 
Avenue north to the north city limits.  

g. Cottage Row Road, from 800 feet west of the south end of the Snag Creek Bridge west to the end 
of said road.  

h. Dunkerton Road, from its intersection with Center Street east to its intersection with U. S. 
Highway 218.  

i. Greenhill Road, from Hudson Road west and north to West 27th Street.  

j. Hudson Road, from its intersection with the south line of University Avenue north to its 
intersection with First Street.  

k. Independence Avenue, from Lincoln Street north to Big Woods Road.  

l. Lake Street, from a point 600 feet east of Central Avenue east to U.S. Highway 218.  

m. Lincoln Street, from its intersection with Jefferson Street east to its intersection with Vermont 
Street.  

n. Lone Tree Road, from its intersection with Ford Road to Center Street.  

o. Main Street, from 13th Street to University Avenue, inclusive.  

p. Main Street (South), from Orchard Drive south to the end of the street.  

q. Production Drive, from Viking Road west and south to Technology Parkway.  

r. Rainbow Drive, from its intersection with Waterloo Road east to the city limits.  

s. Technology Parkway, from Hudson Road west to the west end of the street.  

t. University Avenue, from Hudson Road east to the east city limits.  

u. Viking Road, from its intersection with the west line of Prairie Parkway west to the west city 
limits.  

v. Waterloo Road, from its intersection with East 14th Street southeasterly to its intersection of 
University Avenue.  

w. Ridgeway Avenue, from Hudson Road east to Iowa Highway 58.  

(11) 40 miles per hour. 40 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

Reserved.  

(12) 45 miles per hour. 45 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

113

Item 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-11-14 11:03:41 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 17) 

 
Page 3 of 4 

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 850 feet east of Main Street to a point 1,520 feet east 
of Main Street.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 1,200 feet east of Main Street west to a point 520 feet 
east of Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Highland Drive west to a point 340 feet west of Lake Ridge Drive.  

d. 12th Street (West), from a point 125 feet west of the intersection of Barnett Drive with West 
12th Street to the west city limits.  

e. 27th Street (West), from a point 4,0004,700 feet west of Hudson Road west to the west city 
limits.  

f. Cedar Heights Drive, from a point 1,200 feet south of University Avenue south to the city limits.  

g. Center Street, from a point 300 feet north of First Street to Cottage Row Road.  

h. Dunkerton Road, from its intersection with U. S. Highway 218 east to the east city limits.  

i. Fitkin Road, from its intersection with Ford Road to Center Street.  

j. Ford Road, from its intersection with Fitkin Road south to Lone Tree Road.  

k. Greenhill Road, from its intersection with Hudson Road to the east city limits.  

l. Hudson Road, from its intersection with the south line of University Avenue south to the south 
city limits.  

m. Iowa Highway 58, from its intersection with Ridgeway Avenue south to the south city limits.  

n. Lake Street, from U.S. Highway 218 east to the east city limits.  

o. Leversee Road (West half), from a point one-quarter mile north of Lincoln Street to the north city 
limits.  

p. Lincoln Street, from its intersection with Vermont Street easterly to the city limits.  

q. Lone Tree Road, from its intersection with Center Street to Leversee Road.  

r. Main Street (South), from Viking Road south to the city limits.  

s. Ridgeway Avenue, from Hudson Road west to the western city limits.  

t. Union Road, from the south city limits to West 1st Street.  

u. Viking Road, from the east line of Prairie Parkway east to its intersection with Cedar Heights 
Drive.  

v. Ridgeway Avenue, from Iowa Highway 58 east to the eastern city limits.  

(13) 50 miles per hour. 50 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (West), from a point 340 feet west of Lake Ridge Drive west to Union Road.  

b. Union Road, from West First Street north to the north city limits.  

(14) 55 miles per hour. 55 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 1,520 feet east of Main Street east to a point 700 feet 
east of the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 
58 southbound overpass.  

114

Item 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-11-14 11:03:41 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 17) 

 
Page 4 of 4 

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 600 feet west of the midpoint between the Iowa 
Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound overpass west to a point 
1,200 feet east of Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Union Road west to the west city limits.  

d. Iowa Highway 58, from a point 1,300 feet north of its intersection with Greenhill Road south to 
its intersection with Ridgeway Avenue.  

e. University Avenue, from a point 3,100 feet west of its intersection with Hudson Road to the west 
city limits.  

(15) 60 miles per hour. 60 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East), from its intersection with the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 
northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound overpass east a distance of 700 feet.  

b. Iowa Highway 58, from its intersection with First Street south to a point 1,300 feet north of its 
intersection with Greenhill Road.  

c. U.S. Highway 218 southbound, from a point 2,000 feet north of its intersection with Lincoln 
Street south to its intersection with First Street.  

d. U.S. Highway 218 northbound, from its intersection with First Street north to a point 410 feet 
north of its intersection with Lincoln Street.  

(16) 65 miles per hour. 65 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 700 feet east of its intersection with the midpoint 
between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound 
overpass east to the east city limits.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from the east city limits west to a point 600 feet east of its 
intersection with the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa 
Highway 58 southbound overpass.  

c. U.S. Highway 218 southbound, from the north city limits south to a point 2,000 feet north of its 
intersection with Lincoln Street.  

d. U.S. Highway 218 northbound, from a point 410 feet north of its intersection with Lincoln Street 
north to the north city limits.  

(Code 2017, § 26-207; Ord. No. 1935, §§ 2, 3, 2-25-1991; Ord. No. 1981, §§ 1—5, 7-13-1992; Ord. No. 1982, § 1, 7-
13-1992; Ord. No. 2002, §§ 1, 2, 1-11-1993; Ord. No. 2005, §§ 1, 2, 2-22-1993; Ord. No. 2116, §§ 2, 3, 9-11-1995; 
Ord. No. 2199, § 1, 8-11-1997; Ord. No. 2238, §§ 1, 2, 6-22-1998; Ord. No. 2244, § 2, 10-12-1998; Ord. No. 2314, §§ 
1, 2, 11-13-2000; Ord. No. 2315, §§ 1—5, 11-13-2000; Ord. No. 2325, §§ 1—3, 2-12-2001; Ord. No. 2358, §§ 1—3, 
11-26-2001; Ord. No. 2402, §§ 1, 2, 11-25-2002; Ord. No. 2403, §§ 1, 2, 11-25-2002; Ord. No. 2440, §§ 1, 2, 7-14-
2003; Ord. No. 2451, §§ 1—3, 9-22-2003; Ord. No. 2543, §§ 1, 2, 8-22-2005; Ord. No. 2589, §§ 1—6, 7-10-2006; 
Ord. No. 2601, §§ 1, 2, 9-25-2006; Ord. No. 2704, §§ 1—3, 2-22-2010; Ord. No. 2732, § 1, 2-28-2011; Ord. No. 
2767, §§ 1—4, 6-11-2012; Ord. No. 2772, §§ 1, 2, 7-23-2012; Ord. No. 2835, §§ 1, 2, 2-2-2015; Ord. No. 2898, §§ 1, 
2, 3-20-2017; Ord. No. 2917, §§ 1, 2, 2-19-2018; Ord. No. 2927, 6-18-2018; Ord. No. 2957, §§ 1—3, 11-4-2019; Ord. 
No. 2991, 8-2-2021) 

 

115

Item 8.



MEETING OF STANDING COMMITTEES  
City Hall, 220 Clay Street  

February 5, 2024  
  
The meeting of Standing Committees met at City Hall at 5:15 p.m. on February 5, 2024, with the 
following Committee persons in attendance: Mayor Laudick, Councilmembers Gil Schultz, Chris Latta, 
Daryl Kruse, Aaron Hawbaker, Dustin Ganfield, Hannah Crisman, and Kelly Dunn. Staff members from 
various City Departments and members of the community attended in person.    
  
Committee of the Whole:  
Chair Latta called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the Committee of the Whole 
Agenda, City Council Training Update. Kristine Stone, Ahlers & Cooney, P.C. provided an overview of 
City Council roles, along with open meeting and open records requirements. Councilmembers 
discussed definitions of a City Manager versus a City Administrator, what constitutes a public record 
in regard to social media, email inquiries to personal accounts and what is required by law in meeting 
minutes. Stone responded that the minutes of a public meeting must include the agenda, who is in 
attendance, what items were voted on, who voted and how they voted. 
 
 
Chair Latta introduced the second item on the Committee of the Whole Agenda, Hearst Project 
Update. Cory Hurless, Cultural Programs Supervisor and Heather Lynxwiler, Project Architect from 
OPN Architects provided an overview of the Hearst Master Plan Study Final Report that provides a 
working document from which to develop options and make decisions for the facility structure with the 
intention of building and site longevity of at least 30 years. Two options were presented: renovation 
and new construction. Councilmembers discussed questions about parking, removal of the red house 
(224 Seerley Blvd), fundraising, and longevity of building for the two options presented. 
 

Meeting adjourned at 6:38 p.m.  
  
Minutes by Kristin Thomas, Administrative Supervisor  

 

116

Item 9.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

 
 
  

   

 

 

 
 
  
  
 
     TO: Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

DATE: February 19, 2024 

 RE: Annual Reports of Boards and Commissions for 2023 

 

 
Attached you will find summaries of agenda items in 2023 for the Planning and Zoning 

Commission, Board of Adjustment, Historic Preservation Commission, Group Rental 

Committee/Board of Rental Housing Appeals, the Housing Commission, and the Cedar Falls 

Bicycle/Pedestrian Committee.  

 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

The Planning and Zoning Commission reviews and makes recommendations to the City Council 

on all types of land use matters within the community. The Commission is comprised of nine 

members appointed by the Mayor and approved by the City Council. The Planning and Zoning 

Commission reviews numerous requests each year, including requests for rezoning, subdivision 

plats, site plans for development projects, and street vacations. The Commission also reviews 

and makes recommendations regarding changes to the Comprehensive Plan and zoning code 

amendments. As the Commission meets twice each month, requests for Commission review are 

likewise accepted twice per month. Planning & Community Services Division staff develops staff 

reports and recommendations for the Commission and coordinates the Planning and Zoning 

Commission agendas and meetings. 

 

In 2023 the Commission considered several residential subdivisions, including a preliminary plat 

of Autumn Ridge 9th and 11th Additions, preliminary and final plats of Ashworth North, final plat 

of West Fork 1st Addition. There was considerable discussion about the proposed changes to 

the Autumn Ridge Master Plan, which was eventually disapproved by the Commission resulting 

in a withdrawal of the master plan change and the preliminary plat for Autumn Ridge 9th and 11th 

Additions. The Commission reviewed and recommended approval of several rezoning requests, 

which provide the opportunity for future subdivisions in Northern Cedar Falls and near Aldrich 

Elementary School.  Several requests for amendments to the zoning ordinance were considered 

and several were recommended for approval.  

 

117

Item 10.



In addition to the 2023 Planning & Zoning Commission Annual Report and attendance record, a 

summary of the land use permits that were issued during the year is attached. The summary 

provides insight into the smaller projects happening in the community. Over 1000 land use 

permits were approved in 2023.  

 

Board of Adjustment 

The Board of Adjustment is empowered by State law to consider variances, conditional uses, 

and special exceptions from the terms of the City Zoning Ordinance. The Board is asked to 

carefully consider the evidence presented at the hearing and weigh whether there is sound 

justification to allow deviation from the terms of the Zoning Ordinance. This is an autonomous 

body with quasi-judicial powers, whose members are appointed by the Mayor and approved by 

the City Council. Decisions by the Board can be appealed to District Court. The 7-member 

Board considers each request for a variance, special exception, or conditional use on its own 

merits. Planning & Community Services Division staff prepares staff reports and 

recommendations to the Board and coordinates Board of Adjustment agendas and meetings.  

 

Since petitions to the Board of Adjustment are rare, there were only 3 meetings held in 2023. 

The Board received conditional use requests to allow the adaptive re-use of two different former 

church buildings. Both requests were approved with conditions to ensure that the new uses 

would be compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. One variance was approved to adjust 

the parking location for a small corner property in the downtown area.    

 

Historic Preservation Commission 

The Historic Preservation Commission was established by the City Council in 2011. The 

Commission meets monthly. Their primary objectives are to maintain an inventory of historic 

resources of Cedar Falls, to educate the public on matters related to the history of Cedar Falls, 

and to be a voice for historic preservation. 

 

The Commission hosted a very successful educational event in May, a walking tour of the 

Seerley Park Neighborhood, showcasing 8 historic homes that surround the park. Over 100 

people attended the tour. Commission members and staff provided historical information about 

the park and the homes, with several of the homeowners recounting colorful anecdotes. 

Attendees were even invited inside the former home of Nancy Price, revered local author, who 

used the Seerley Park Neighborhood as the setting for one of her most famous novels, Sleeping 

with the Enemy, which in 1991 was made into a feature film.   

 

Board of Rental Housing Appeals 

The Group Rental Committee was created to consider whether new rental applications 

requesting higher levels of occupancy (3, 4, or 5 individuals aged 18 years or older) are 

appropriate to the property and neighborhood. The Group Rental Committee is comprised of the 

Planning & Community Services Manager, the Building Official, and the Fire Chief. The 

Committee meets on a regular basis when applications for new single-unit dwelling or duplex 

rentals are received or when rentals are changing ownership. The Group Rental Committee has 

118

Item 10.



limited authority to approve higher levels of occupancy, so applicants have the option to appeal 

those decisions. The Board of Rental Housing Appeals was created to review all appeals from 

the decisions of the Group Rental Committee and other appeals related to rental properties. 

Staff provides analysis and recommendation to the BRHA based on the characteristics of the 

site and carrying capacity of the property. The Board is comprised of seven citizens appointed 

by the Mayor and approved by City Council. The Board meets as needed. The 2023 Annual 

Report of Activities for the Board of Rental Housing Appeals is attached.  

 

Housing Commission 

The Cedar Falls Housing Commission is comprised of seven members appointed by the Mayor 

and approved by the City Council. The Commission acts as an advisory board to the City 

Council. Their role is to consider special projects for meeting the housing needs of low-income 

families, elderly and handicapped persons. They review projects and programs funded through 

the federal Community Development Block Grant awarded to Cedar Falls from the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  They also hear matters related to the 

City’s Housing Choice Voucher Program, which is a rental assistance program also funded with 

federal funds. In 2022 the City Council tasked the Housing Commission with furthering the 

Council goals related to housing as recommended by the Racial Equity Taskforce. The 

Commission continued that work in 2023. A specific achievement this year was the development 

of a Housing Needs Assessment for Cedar Falls, which is a tool that can now be used to guide 

decisions on housing development and needs in the community. The attached report contains a 

summary of the Housing Commission activities in 2023. 

 

Cedar Falls Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission 

In 2023, the former Bike and Pedestrian Advisory Committee, which was a fifteen member 

volunteer group that met monthly was re-constituted in October by City Council as an official 

City commission. The new Commission consists of 7 members appointed by the Mayor and 

approved by the City Council. Its mission is to improve the quality of life in Cedar Falls through 

increased opportunity for safe walking and bicycling as viable means of transportation, physical 

activity, and recreation. The Committee has focused on the essential elements, five categories 

known as the “Five E’s”, being Engineering, Education, Encouragement, Enforcement, and 

Evaluation. The 2023 Annual Report of Activities is attached for your review. 

 

 

119

Item 10.



 

 

CEDAR FALLS PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
Annual Summary 

2023 
 
 

January 11, 2023 – NO MEETING (no items) 
 
 

January 25, 2023 
 
1. PC-2 District Site Plan Review for (Building#2) 930 Viking Road (SP22-019) ........ APPROVED. 
 
 

February 8, 2023 
 
1. Zoning Text Amendment – Expand list of potential conditional uses of defunct institutional 

buildings (TA22-005) ............................................................................. SET PUBLIC HEARING. 
 
 

February 22, 2023 
 

MEETING CANCELLED DUE TO INCLEMENT WEATHER 
 
 

March 8, 2023 
 
1. Zoning Text Amendment – Expand list of potential conditional uses of defunct institutional 

buildings (TA22-005) ............................................................................................... APPROVED. 
 
2. Rezoning from A-1 to R-2 – 14.08 acres of land west of Cypress Avenue and north of Tomahawk 

Lane (RZ22-004)  .................................................................................. SET PUBLIC HEARING. 
 
3. Rezoning from A-1 to R-1 – 3.07 acres of land west of Hudson Road along Ashworth Drive 

(RZ23-001)  ........................................................................................... SET PUBLIC HEARING. 
 
4. Zoning Text Amendment – Modify sign allowance for Civic and Institutional Uses in the 

Downtown Character District (TA23-001) .............................................. SET PUBLIC HEARING. 
 
5. Final Plat – West Viking Road Industrial Park, Phase VI (FP22-006)……………….APPROVED. 
 
6. Site Plan Review- for Triplex on Pinnacle Ridge First Addition, Lot 1 ..................... APPROVED. 
 
 

March 22, 2023 
 
1. Rezoning from A-1 to R-2 – 14.43 acres of land west of Cypress Avenue and north of Tomahawk 

Lane (RZ22-004)  .................................................................................................... APPROVED. 
 
2. Rezoning from A-1 to R-1 – 3.07 acres of land west of Hudson Road along Ashworth Drive 

(RZ23-001)  ............................................................................................................. APPROVED. 
 

120

Item 10.



 

 

3. Zoning Text Amendment – Modify sign allowance for Civic and Institutional Uses in the 
Downtown Character District (TA23-001) ................................................................ APPROVED. 

 
4. Minor Plat – Gateway Business Park Minor Plat of Lot 2 (MP23-001) .................... APPROVED. 
 
 

April 12, 2023 
 
1. Right-of-Way Vacation – portion of Hudson Road near Ashworth North Subdivision (VAC23-

001)  ........................................................................................................................ APPROVED. 
 
 

April 26, 2023 
 
1. Hwy 1 District Site Plan Review – Southeast corner of Brandilynn Boulevard and Winterberry 

Drive for Popeyes Restaurant ................................................................................. APPROVED. 
 
2. MU District Site Plan Amendment – Valley Lutheran School - 4520 Rownd St. ...... APPROVED. 
 
 

May 10, 2023 
 
1. Land Use Map Amendment (LUMA) and Rezoning from C-1 to PC-2 for property at 702 LeClair 

Street and LUMA from “Low Density Residential” to “Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use”
 .............................................................................................................. SET PUBLIC HEARING. 

 
2. Zoning Code Text Amendment – Vinyl Siding Allowance in CD-DT ...... SET PUBLIC HEARING. 
 
 

May 24, 2023 
 
1. Land Use Map Amendment (LUMA) from “Low Density Residential” to “Neighborhood 

Commercial and Mixed use” (LU23-001) and Rezoning from C-1 to PC-2 for property at 702 
LeClair Street .......................................................................................................... APPROVED. 

 
2. Zoning Code Text Amendment – Vinyl Siding Allowance in CD-

DT ................................................................................................................................................ 
 ............................................... APPROVED FOR SINGLE UNIT AND TWO UNIT DWELLINGS. 

 
3. Communication Tower at 4510 Chadwick Road .................................................. WITHDRAWN. 
 
4. Zoning Code Text Amendment – Parking and Minimum Building Height for Institutional Uses in 

CD-DT…………….SET PUBLIC HEARING FOR PARKING AMENDMENT; BUILDING HEIGHT 
PROPOSAL TABLED FOR FURTHER STUDY. 

 
 

June 14, 2023 
 
1. Zoning Code Text Amendment – Parking for Institutional Uses in CD-DT .............. APPROVED. 
 

121

Item 10.



 

 

2. RP Master Plan Amendment – Autumn Ridge 
Development ................................................................................................................................ 
 ............................................................................................. CONTINUED TO NEXT MEETING. 

 
3. Preliminary Plat – Autumn Ridge 9th and 11th Additions ..... CONTINUED TO NEXT MEETING. 
 
 

June 28, 2023 
 
1. RP Master Plan Amendment – Autumn Ridge 

Development ................................................................................................................................ 
 ............................................................................................. CONTINUED TO NEXT MEETING. 

 
2. Preliminary Plat – Autumn Ridge 9th and 11th Additions ..... CONTINUED TO NEXT MEETING. 
 
 

July 12, 2023 NO MEETING (no items) 
 

July 26, 2023 
 

1. RP Master Plan Amendment – Autumn Ridge Development - DISCUSSION DEFERRED TO 
9/13/23 MEETING. 

 
2. Preliminary Plat – Autumn Ridge 9th and 11th Additions - DISCUSSION DEFERRED TO 

9/13/23 MEETING. 
 
3. Preliminary Plat – Ashworth North Subdivision ....................................................... APPROVED. 
 
4. Zoning Code Text Amendment – On-Street Parking as Shared 

Parking ......................................................................................................................................... 
 .............................................................................................................. SET PUBLIC HEARING. 

 
 

August 9, 2023 MEETING CANCELLED (due to publishing error by the Courier) 
 
 

August 23, 2023 
 

1. Zoning Code Text Amendment – On-Street Parking as Shared 
Parking ......................................................................................................................................... 
 ......................................................................................................... RESET PUBLIC HEARING. 

 
2. Master Plan Amendment– Arbors Subdivision ........................................................ APPROVED. 
 
3. Preliminary Plat Amendment– The Arbors Subdivision ........................................... APPROVED. 

 
 

September 13, 2023 
 

1. College Hill Neighborhood Design Review – Artwork at Pettersen Plaza................ APPROVED. 
 

122

Item 10.



 

 

2. PC-2 Site Plan – 702 LeClair Street ........................................................................ APPROVED. 
 
3. MU District Master Plan Amendment – Pinnacle Prairie Townhomes, Phase I ....... APPROVED. 
 
4. Easement Vacation – W. Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, Lots 17 & 18 ........ APPROVED. 

 
5. Zoning Code Text Amendment – On-Street Parking as Shared Parking....................... DENIED. 

 
6. RP Master Plan Amendment – Autumn Ridge Development ........................................ DENIED. 

 
 

September 27, 2023 – NO MEETING 
 

October 11, 2023 
 

1. College Hill Neighborhood Design Review – 2121 Walnut St. ................................ APPROVED. 
 
2. Hwy-1 Commercial Site Plan – 703 Brandilynn Blvd. .............................................. APPROVED. 
 
 

October 25, 2023 
 

1. College Hill Neighborhood Design Review – 423 W. 26th Street ............................ .APPROVED 
 

 
November 8, 2023 

 
1. Preliminary and Final Plat for Autumn Ridge 12th Addition – 1.06 acres of property located east 

of Golden Lane ........................................................................................................ APPROVED. 
 
2. Land Use Map Amendment (LUMA) and Rezoning from R-1 & MU to RP for 54.79 acres of 

property located North of Aldrich Elementary School and South of W. Greenhill Road. LUMA 
from “Low Density Residential”, “Greenways & Floodplain Use” and “Neighborhood Commercial 
& Mixed Use” to “Low Density Residential Use and (a reduced) Greenways/Floodplain” ..... SET 
PUBLIC HEARING. 

 
November 21, 2023 

 
1. Land Use Map Amendment (LUMA) and Rezoning from R-1 & MU to RP for 54.79 acres of 

property located North of Aldrich Elementary School and South of W. Greenhill Road. LUMA 
from “Low Density Residential”, “Greenways & Floodplain Use” and “Neighborhood Commercial 
& Mixed Use” to “Low Density Residential Use and (a reduced) 
Greenways/Floodplain” ........................................................................................... APPROVED. 

 
2. College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District site plan for modification of a parking area – 2704 

College Street ......................................................................................................... APPROVED. 
 
 

December 13, 2023 
 

1. Final Plat – Ashworth North ..................................................................................... APPROVED. 

123

Item 10.



 

 

 
December 27, 2023 

 
1. Preliminary Plat Amendment- West Fork Crossing ................................................. APPROVED. 
 
2. Final Plat – West Fork Crossing First Addition ........................................................ APPROVED. 

124

Item 10.



2023 Planning & Zoning Commission Attendance 
 
Chair:  Amanda Lynch  
Vice Chair: Dave Hartley 
 

 1/11 1/25 2/8 2/22 3/8 3/22 4/12 4/26 5/10 5/24 6/14 6/28 
Mid-year 

tally 
7/12 7/26 8/9 8/23 9/13 9/27 10/11 10/25 11/8 11/21 12/13 12/27 

Total 
Ratio 

% 
Attend 

Alberhasky 

N
O

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 

NA NA 
M

E
E

T
IN

G
 C

A
N

C
E

L
E

D
 

NA NA NA NA NA X X A 2/3 

N
O

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 

A 

N
O

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 

X X 

N
O

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 

X X X X X X 
12/12 w/ 

2 A’s 
100% 

Crisman X X X X X O X X X X 9/10 X O X X X X X X O 16/19 84% 

Grybovych  X O X X X X X X O X 8/10 X X O X X X O O X 14/19 74% 

Hartley X X X O X X X O X X 8/10 X X X X X X X X X 17/19 89% 

Larson X X X X O X X X X A 8/10 A X X X X R R R R 
14/15 w/ 

2 A’s 
93% 

Leeper X O X X X O O X X X 7/10 X X X X X O O X O 13/19 68% 

Lynch O X X X X X O X O X 7/10 X X X X X O O O O 12/19 63% 

Moser X X O X X X X O X X 8/10 X X X O X X X X X 16/19 84% 

Stalnaker NA NA NA NA NA NA NA X X X 3/3 X X X X X X X X X 12/12 100% 

 
X – Indicates Present 
O – Not Present 

NA – Not Appointed 
R – Resign 
A – Abstain 
S – Sick 

 
 

125

Item 10.



CEDAR FALLS BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
Annual Summary 

2023 
 
January 17, 2023 – No Meeting 
 
February 21, 2023 – No Meeting  
 
March 21, 2023 – N0 Meeting 
 
April 18, 2023 – No Meeting 
 
May 16, 2023 – No Meeting 
 
May 31, 2023   
 

City Attorney Kevin Rogers did a presentation to the Board on the function and role of 
the Board of Adjustment.  Key topics covered were the differences between a special 
exception request, conditional use request, and a variance request. Also discussed was 
the process of appeal to an administrative decision made by the Community 
Development Department pertaining to the Code of Ordinances.  

 
June 20, 2023  
   
1. A variance request by Travis Carolan at 422 Iowa Street for relief from Sec. 26-

193.5(F)(b)(iv) prescribed parking setback. - Approved 
 

2. A conditional use request by McKenna Pryor at 209 Walnut Street to allow the adaptive 
reuse of a defunct institutional building, a former church, as a salon/personal service use. 
- Approved 

  
July 18, 2023 – No Meeting 
 
August 15, 2023 
 

A conditional use request by Juli and Dan Morris at 701 W 6th Street to allow the adaptive 
reuse of a defunct institutional building, a former church, as a personal service use. - 
Approved 

 
September 19, 2023 – No Meeting 
 
October 17, 2023 – No Meeting 
 
November 21, 2023 – No Meeting   
 
December 19, 2023 – No Meeting  
 

126

Item 10.



 
Chair: Mike Mangin 
Vice Chair: Jennifer Rasmussen 
 
 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
ATTENDANCE JANUARY 2022THROUGH DECEMBER 2022 

 

J
a

n
. 

2
0

2
3
 

F
e

b
. 

2
0

2
3
 

M
a

r.
 2

0
2

3
 

A
p

r.
 2

0
2

3
 

M
a

y
 2

0
2

3
 

J
u

n
e

 2
0

2
3
 

J
u

ly
 2

0
2

3
 

A
u

g
. 

2
0

2
3
 

S
e

p
t.

 2
0
2

3
 

O
c

t.
 2

0
2

3
 

N
o

v
. 

2
0

2
3
 

D
e

c
. 

2
0
2

3
 

T
o

ta
l 

R
a

ti
o

 

%
 A

tt
e

n
d

. 

Beach / / / / X X / X / / / / 3/3 100% 

Lang / / / / X X / X / / / / 3/3 100% 

Mangin / / / / O X / X / / / / 2/3 67% 

Miller / / / / X X / X / / / / 3/3 100% 

Rasmussen / / / / O O / X / / / / 1/3 33% 

Sorensen / / / / X X / X / / / / 3/3 100% 

Hibben * * / / X X / X / / / / 3/3 100% 

 

 
X =  Present 

O =  Not Present 

/       =  No Meeting 

127

Item 10.



CEDAR FALLS HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
2023 Annual Summary.  

 
January 10, 2023 

 Commission discussed a new educational project; a historic tour of homes 
around Seerley Park on College Hill; UNI students to help promote the event.  

 Commission discussed applying for a CLG grant to conduct a recon survey of the 
Overman Park neighborhood.  
 

February 14, 2023 

 Updates on the Seerley Park Neighborhood walking tour to include 8 houses with 
unique architectural styles. 

 The Commission discussed and approved the annual CLG report  

 Commission elected Julie Etheredge as Chair and Sally Timmer as the Vice 
Chair for the commission for 2023.   
 

March 14, 2023 

 Seerley Park Historic Tour date set for May 25, 2023. Commission discussed the 
ways to continue to promote the event.   

April 11, 2023 

 UNI Student representative presented the draft work on developing a brochure 
and the poster for the Seerley Park Neighborhood Walking Tour, including a 
digital (e-map) version. It is hoped that this will encourage younger generations 
to attend such events and learn about area history.   

 The commission discussed the possibility of sending a pre-application for the 
CLG grant application for the recon survey of the Overman Park District in June 
to get feedback from SHPO before submitting the formal application.  
 

May 09, 2023 

 Commission discussed logistics of the Seerley Park Neighborhood Tour, 
assigned duties and last push to promote the event.  
 

June 13, 2023 

 Debrief on the successful Seerley Park Neighborhood Walking Tour.  

 The Commission shared the experience of attending the Preserve Iowa Summit 
in Sioux City and highlighted learnings. 
 

July 11, 2023 

 Representative from Cedar Valley Historical Society, which is a group of 50-60 
people that meets regularly to learn about historical facts in Cedar Valley, invited 
the commission to present an educational project at an upcoming meeting. 

 The Commission brainstormed several ideas for new educational projects in 
North Cedar, the downtown area, and buildings on the UNI campus. 
 

 

128

Item 10.



August 08, 2023 

 The City Attorney gave a presentation about the Commission’s role, and the 
resources available for commission members from the City and introduced the 
City’s DEI Specialist. 

 Commission committed to giving a presentation on the recently completed 
“Seerley Park Tour” to the Cedar Valley Historic Preservation group on 
November 28th, 2023 at the Grout Museum, Waterloo. 

September 12, 2023 

 Discussed additional possibilities to improve traffic to the webpage.  

 Discussion of possibilities for future educational projects in different areas of 
town including touring some of the historical houses on 2nd Street, developing a 
“Main Street 360” style digital page that shows a timeline of different eras like the 
Fortepan Iowa website but limited to Cedar Falls, looking at North Cedar 
Neighborhood area and Sartori Park area for possible new tours.  

 
October 10, 2023 

 Staff is working with the Visitor and Tourism office to revise brochures from past 
educational tours to put on the webpage.  

 The commission reported on discussions with the North Cedar Neighborhood 
Association to collaborate on a historic neighborhood tour and what sites might 
be highlighted.  

 The Commission noted 8-10 houses on 2nd Street with unique architectural 
styles and different housing types that could be featured on a future walking tour.  

 
November 14, 2023  

 Commission approved the draft application for the CLG grant to be submitted for 
pre-review with SHPO and also a memo that would be submitted to seek City 
Council support for submitting the application to SHPO. 

 Commission discussed updating Eddie Bowle’s write-up and resources on the 
webpage as part of updating digital records of historical resources. 

 Commission reviewed resources for the proposed educational event in the North 
Cedar Neighborhood area.  

 Representatives from the North Cedar Neighborhood Association committed to 
helping with the research and the tour.  
 

December 12, 2023 

 Commission discussed updating the webpage with Eddie Bowles's information 
and links that can be shared with the Visitors and Tourism website. 

 Representative from North Cedar Neighborhood Association attended to 
continue discussion on sites for the tour of North Cedar, including several parks, 
and Eddie Bowles’ cabin. Tentative date set for May 2024.  

 City staff discussed compiling the annual CLG report and work plan for 2024 that 
will have to be submitted to SHPO. Staff asked the commission to review the 
report, form a work plan, and finalize the same at their next meeting. 

 
 

129

Item 10.



 
 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
ATTENDANCE JANUARY 2023 THROUGH DECEMBER 2023 

 
J

a
n

. 
2
0

2
3
 

F
e

b
. 

2
0

2
3
 

M
a

r.
 2

0
2

3
 

A
p

r.
 2

0
2

3
 

M
a

y
 2

0
2

3
 

J
u

n
e

 2
0

2
3
 

J
u

ly
 2

0
2

3
 

A
u

g
. 

2
0

2
3
 

S
e

p
t.

 2
0
2

3
 

O
c

t.
 2

0
2

3
 

N
o

v
. 

2
0

2
3
 

D
e

c
. 

2
0
2

3
 

T
o

ta
l 

R
a

ti
o

 

%
 A

tt
e

n
d

. 

Sally Timmer (Vice Chair) X X X X X X X X X X X X 12/12 100% 

Julie Etheredge (Chair) X X X O X X X O X O X X 9/12 75% 

Michael Mahncke  O X X X X X O X O X X X 9/12 75% 

Lindi Roelofse  X X X X X X X O O O O X 8/12 67% 

Jim O’Loughlin  X X O O X X X X X X X X 10/12 83% 

X =  Present 
O =  Not Present  

130

Item 10.



CEDAR FALLS BOARD OF RENTAL HOUSING APPEALS 
2023 Annual Summary 

 
Following is a summary of appeals to the Board of Rental Housing Appeals (BRHA). These 
are appeals of decisions made by the Group Rental Committee regarding maximum 
occupancy of a rental unit based on regulations in City Code Chapter 11, Article II, Minimum 
Rental Housing Code. Note that the Group Rental Committee is not authorized to grant 
higher occupancy where the lot or rental unit does not meet minimum standards, but informs 
applicants of their right to appeal to the BRHA. Staff provides analysis and recommendation 
to the BRHA based on the characteristics of the site and carrying capacity of the property. 
The occupancy listed in the table is the number of adult occupants approved by the BRHA: 

    

Date of 
Appeal Address Owner 

Requested 
Occupancy 

Occupancy 
Approved for 

2/6/23 1227 W 22nd Street Korbin Hoffmann 4 4 

2/6/23 1116 W 22nd Street Warren Freeman 4 4 

7/17/23 2824 Cottage Row Road Laura Ann O’Brien 12 4 

8/21/23 218 Oregon Street Josh and Sarah Bey 4 4 

 
 

BOARD OF RENTAL HOUSING APPEALS 
ATTENDANCE JANUARY 2023 THROUGH DECEMBER 2023 

 

J
a

n
. 

2
0

2
3
 

F
e

b
. 

6
 

2
0

2
3
 

M
a

r.
  

2
0

2
3
 

A
p

r.
  

2
0

2
3
 

M
a

y
 

2
0

2
3
 

J
u

n
e

 

2
0

2
3
 

J
u

ly
 1

7
 

2
0

2
3
 

A
u

g
. 

2
1

 

2
0

2
3
 

S
e

p
. 

2
0

2
3
 

O
c

t.
 

2
0

2
3
 

N
o

v
. 

2
0

2
3
 

D
e
c

. 

2
0

2
3
 

T
o

ta
l 

R
a
ti

o
 

%
 

A
tt

e
n

d
. 

Cindy Wiles 

N
o
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 

X 

N
o
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 

N
o
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 

N
o
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 

N
o
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 

X X 

N
o
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 

N
o
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 

N
o
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 

N
o
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 

3/3 100% 

Kim Kranz  X X X 3/3 100% 

Mary Jane 
McCollum 

X X X 3/3 100% 

Dan 
Berregaard  

X X X 3/3 100% 

Bruce 
Wingert  

X X X 3/3 100% 

Vacant Seat N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Vacant Seat   N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
X = Present 
O = Not Present 

131

Item 10.



 

 

CEDAR FALLS HOUSING COMMISSION 
Annual Summary 

2023 
 

 
January 18, 2023- No Meeting- Lack of Quorum 
 
February 15, 2023 

1. Work related to City Council Goals on Housing……………………… ........ . DISCUSSION 

2. Update on CDBG projects ........................................................................ . DISCUSSION 

3. Home American Rescue Plan (ARP) …………… ........................................ . APPROVED 

4. Amend Contract for EMBARC (now RIVA) ……………………… ................. . APPROVED 

5. Housing Choice Voucher Status Report ……………………………........... .. DISCUSSION 

6. Appoint Chair and Vice Chair ........................................................................ APPOINTED  

 
March 15, 2023- No Meeting- Lack of Quorum 
 
April 19, 2023 

1. Housing Needs Assessment ……………………… ....................................... . APPROVED 
 
May 17, 2023   

1. FFY22 CDBG Annual Action Plan -Background and Introduction……….....DISCUSSION 
 
June 21, 2023  

1. FFY22 CDBG Annual Action Plan ……………………… ................................ APPROVED 

2. Owner-Occupied Rehab Project Bluff Street………………… ....................... . APPROVED 

3. Owner-Occupied Rehab Project Calumett Drive………………… ................. . APPROVED 

4. Housing Choice Voucher Status Report ……………………………........... .. DISCUSSION 

 
July 19, 2023  

1. Overview of Building Code Requirements with Building Official …………   DISCUSSION 

2. 2024-2028 Consolidated Plan Update ………………… ............................ . DISCUSSION 

3. Housing Choice Voucher Status Report ……………………………........... .. DISCUSSION 

 
August 16, 2023   

1. Update from the CFEDC ….…………………………………………………….DISCUSSION 
2. Housing Choice Voucher Status Report ................ ……………………….... DISCUSSION 

 
September 20, 2023 

1. Rental Rehab project of W 4th Street ..................... …………………….……...APPROVED 

2. Review Recommendations of the Housing Needs Assessment………… . . DISCUSSION 

3. Housing Choice Voucher Status Report  ……………………….….....……..  DISCUSSION 

 
October 18, 2023 

1. FFY 2023 CAPER (year-end report for CDBG activities) ............................... APPROVED 

2. City Council Goals related to Housing and Review of Work Completed….. DISCUSSION 

132

Item 10.



 

 

3. Housing Choice Voucher Status Report…………………………………….... DISCUSSION 

 
November 15, 2023 
 

1 Review Letter to City Council on Housing Goals ………………… ................. APPROVED 

2. Owner-Occupied Rehab project on Bluff St.…………………………….….......APPROVED     

 
December 21, 2023- No Meeting  
 
Chair:  Gary Winterhof 
Vice Chair: Craig Fairbank  
 
 

HOUSING COMMISSION 
ATTENDANCE JANUARY 2023 THROUGH DECEMBER 2023 

 

J
a

n
. 

2
0

2
3
 

F
e

b
. 

2
0

2
3
 

M
a

r.
 2

0
2

3
 

A
p

r.
 2

0
2

3
 

M
a

y
 2

0
2

3
 

J
u

n
e

 2
0

2
3
 

J
u

ly
 2

0
2

3
 

A
u

g
. 

2
0

2
3
 

S
e

p
t.

 2
0
2

3
 

O
c

t.
 2

0
2

3
 

N
o

v
. 

2
0

2
3
 

D
e
c

. 
2

0
2

3
 

T
o

ta
l 

R
a
ti

o
 

%
 A

tt
e

n
d

. 

Fairbanks 

N
o

 M
e

e
ti
n

g
 

X 

N
o

 M
e

e
ti
n

g
 

O X X X X X X X 

N
o

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
 

8/9 89% 

Larson X X X O X  O X X X 7/9 78% 

Pearce X X X X X X X X X 9/9 100% 

Winterhof X X O X X X X X X 8/9 89% 

Vacant NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA    

 
X =  Present 
O =  Not Present 
R =  Resigned 
NA = Not Appointed 

133

Item 10.



 

 

      

ANNUAL REPORT for Calendar Year 2023 
Cedar Falls Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission 

 

Commission Members: 

John DeGroote 

Andrew Shroll: Chair 

Roger White 

Jack Yates: Vice Chair 

Lauri Young 

(open position) 

(open position) 

 

 

 

 

Liaisons: 

Chris Sevy: Cedar Falls Planning 

Matt Tolan: Cedar Falls Engineering 

Zach Ladage: Cedar Falls Public Safety 

Austin Lechtenberg: Cedar Falls Public Safety 

Aldina Dautović: INRCOG 

Jenifer Smith: Cedar Falls Schools 

Gretchen Harken: Cedar Valley Cyclists 

Roger White: Cedar Valley Bicycle Collective 

(open): Cedar Valley Association for Soft Trails 

MEETING SCHEDULE: Meetings are held monthly at the Cedar Falls City Hall 

Conference Room 2 on the first Tuesday of each month from 5:15 to 6:30 pm. 

MISSION STATEMENT: The mission of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission is to 

improve the quality of life, general health, safety, and welfare in Cedar Falls through the 

increased opportunity for safe walking, bicycling, and other active modes as viable 

means of transportation and physical and recreational activity. 

  

134

Item 10.



 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 

Accomplishments in 2023 

1. Applied for and received Bronze level Bicycle Friendly Community status 

2. Council approved conversion from committee to Commission 

3. Provided input on Code and Bylaws for conversion to Commission 

4. Reviewed Black Hawk County MPO 2050 Long-Range Transportation Plan 

5. National Bike Month activities, including Safe Routes to School volunteering 

6. Launched Walking subcommittee 

7. Launched shared lane markings subcommittee 

8. Initiated grant project proposal rankings for 2024 applications 

9. Maintained a list of network concerns and provided recommendations 

10. Contributed multiple Currents articles 

11. Continued to grow the positive and productive relationship with City staff 

Committee Recommendations for City and status as of end of 2023 

1. Elevate the Cedar Falls Bicycle / Pedestrian Advisory 
Committee to a standing committee similar to current boards 
and commissions 

Complete 

2. Amend Bicycle Ordinance based on committee 
recommendations 

Discussed but 
not completed  

3. Adopt clearly stated policy that bicycles “May Use Full Lane” 
without sharrow 

Not completed 

4. Monitor pedestrian/motor vehicle and bicycle/motor vehicle 
collision and injury statistics 

Not completed  

5. Provide staff time to serve as Bicycle/Pedestrian Program 
Manager(s) 

Met in 2023, 
maintain in 

2024 

6. Summarize design processes for sidewalks and trails Discussed but 
not completed 

in 2023 

 

 

135

Item 10.



 

 

 

Goals for 2024 

1. Deliver on Walking/Pedestrian subcommittee Year 1 goals 

2. Recommend comprehensive shared lane network signage 

3. Monitor, recommend, and track resolutions to trail and sidewalk concerns 

4. Provide e-bike safety education campaign 

5. Substantive in-person activities focusing on the “Five E’s” for creating safe and 
useable accommodations for bicyclists and pedestrians: 

ENGINEERING – Creating safe and convenient places to walk, ride and park 

EDUCATION – Giving people of all ages and abilities the skills and confidence to 
ride and walk, including awareness for motorists in sharing the road 

ENCOURAGEMENT – Creating a strong bike and pedestrian culture that welcomes 
and celebrates both modes of transportation 

EQUITY & ACCESSIBILITY – A bicycle and pedestrian-friendly community for 
everyone 

EVALUATION & PLANNING – Planning for bicycling and walking as safe, viable 
transportation options 

Long-term Goals 

1. Increase continuity and safety of bicycle routes for transportation 

2. Increase walkability and pedestrian friendliness in Cedar Falls 

3. Implement recommendations captured in Bicycle Network Plan and Metropolitan 

Pedestrian Master Plan  

4. Recommend grant funds for bicycle and pedestrian intersection and connectivity 

improvements 

5. Obtain Silver Bicycle Friendly Community status for Cedar Falls 

6. Update neighborhood design standards to include bicycle and pedestrian 

accommodations and walkable community zoning practices 

 

 

 

136

Item 10.



 

 

 

BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN COMMISSION 

ATTENDANCE JANUARY 2023 THROUGH DECEMBER 2023 

 
John 

Degroote 
Andrew 
Shroll 

Roger 
White 

Jack Yates 
Lauri 

Young 
Vacant 
Seat 

Vacant 
Seat 

January 3, 2023 X X X X   N/A N/A 

February 7, 2023 X   X X   N/A N/A 

March 7, 2023 X X   X X N/A N/A 

April 4, 2023 X X X X   N/A N/A 

May 2, 2023 X X   X X N/A N/A 

June 6, 2023 X X X X X N/A N/A 

July 4, 2024 No meeting 

August 1, 2023   X X X X N/A N/A 

September 5, 2023 X X X X   N/A N/A 

October 3, 2023 X X X X X N/A N/A 

November 7, 2023 X X   X X N/A N/A 

December 5, 2023 X X X X   N/A N/A 

Total Ratio: 10/11 10/11 8/11 11/11 6/11 N/A N/A 

% Attend: 91% 91% 73% 100% 55% N/A N/A 

        

Note: The months detailed prior to October are for informational purposes only and they reflect the 
historical attendance of current members but not all members of the previous Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Advisory Committee which was dissolved as of the Commission's inaugural meeting on October 3, 2023. 

 
 

137

Item 10.



PERMIT CATEGORY TOTAL MONTH 2023 2022

Sign 113 January 33 58

Single Family Dwelling 63 February 56 65

Residential Addition 17 March 95 102

Deck 116 April 120 159

Fence 142 May 116 116

Detached Structure 33 June 138 106

Duplex/Condo 2 July 88 73

Com./Ind./Pub. Building 12 August 112 128

Com./Ind./Pub. Addition 9 September 98 99

Townhouse 33 October 101 78

Multi-Family 1 November 66 82

Driveway/Parking Lot 68 December 38 44

Home Occupation 1 Total 1061 1110

Demolition 20

Land Use (shed<120sq.ft) 59

Swimming Pool 3

Poultry 15

Remodel 342

Floodplain Permits 12

Total 1061

LAND USE PERMITS ISSUED IN THE 2023 CALENDAR YEAR BY THE

PLANNING DIVISION FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

2023

2022
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180
J
a
n
u
a

ry

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

M
a

rc
h

A
p
ri
l

M
a

y

J
u
n
e

J
u
ly

A
u
g
u

s
t

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

O
c
to

b
e
r

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200 220 240 260 280 300 320 340 360

Sign

Single Family Dwelling

Residential Addition

Deck

Fence

Detached Structure

Duplex/Condo

Com./Ind./Pub. Building

Com./Ind./Pub. Addition

Townhouse

Multi-Family

Driveway/Parking Lot

Home Occupation

Demolition

Land Use (shed<120sq.ft)

Swimming Pool

Poultry

Remodel

Floodplain Permits

9. 2023 permit summary.x  1/11/2024
138

Item 10.



9. 2023 permit summary.x  1/11/2024
139

Item 10.



From: Gina Weekley <Gina.Weekley@cedarfalls.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, February 7, 2024 3:20 PM 
To: Danny Laudick <Danny.Laudick@cedarfalls.com>; Sonja Bock <Sonja.Bock@cedarfalls.com>; Chelsie 
Luhring <Chelsie.Luhring@cedarfalls.com> 
Subject: Resignation from Human Rights Commissioner Role 

 
Hello Mayor Laudick, Commission Bock, and Chelsie,  
 
I hope this message finds you well. It is with a heavy heart that I write to resign from my 
position as Human Rights Commissioner for Cedar Falls, Iowa. It has been an honor 
and privilege to serve the community in this capacity, and I am grateful for the 
opportunity to have contributed to the important work of advancing human rights and 
social justice in our city. 
 
However, as much as I have cherished this role, I find myself in a position where I must 
prioritize other commitments in my life. Pursuing a doctoral degree, balancing full-time 
employment, and fulfilling parental responsibilities have become increasingly 
demanding, leaving me unable to dedicate the time and energy necessary to fulfill my 
duties as a Human Rights Commissioner effectively. 
 
Please understand that this decision was not made lightly. I have thoroughly considered 
my options and concluded that stepping down from my position is the most responsible 
course of action at this time. While I may no longer be able to serve in an official 
capacity, please know that I remain deeply committed to supporting the vital work of the 
Human Rights Commission in whatever capacity my schedule allows. 
 
I am grateful for the support and camaraderie of my fellow commissioners and the 
invaluable contributions of our dedicated staff. It has been a pleasure to collaborate with 
such passionate individuals who share a common goal of promoting equality and 
inclusivity in our community. 
 
Once again, I extend my heartfelt gratitude for the opportunity to serve as a Human 
Rights Commissioner for Cedar Falls. It has been a privilege to work alongside such 
dedicated individuals and contribute to the advancement of human rights in our 
community. 
 
Thank you for your understanding and support. 
 
Best,  
Gina Weekley 
 

140

Item 11.

mailto:Gina.Weekley@cedarfalls.com
mailto:Danny.Laudick@cedarfalls.com
mailto:Sonja.Bock@cedarfalls.com
mailto:Chelsie.Luhring@cedarfalls.com


141

Item 12.



142

Item 12.



143

Item 12.



144

Item 12.



145

Item 12.



146

Item 12.



147

Item 13.



148

Item 14.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Laudick and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  February 12, 2024 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Asian Fusion Vietnamese and Thai Cuisine, 5725 University Avenue, Special Class C retail 
alcohol - renewal. 

b) Cottonwood Canyon, 419 Washington Street, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

c) The Wine Shop, 305 Main Street, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 

d) Chad's Pizza & Restaurant, 909 West 23rd Street, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 

e) Sakura Japanese Steakhouse & Sushi Bar, 5719 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - 
renewal. 

f) Casey's, 1620 West 1st Street, Class E retail alcohol - new. 

 

149

Item 15.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Laudick, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: February 7, 2024 

   SUBJECT:   Water Service Territory Transfer Agreement 
 
 

Please find attached a Water Service Territory Transfer Agreement between Iowa Regional 

Utilities Association (“IRUA”) and the City related to rights to provide water services to several 

parcels along South Union Road that the City has acquired and in one case plans to acquire.  

These parcels are planned to be annexed into the City and added to the West Viking Road 

Industrial Park. 

 

The reason this agreement is necessary is that the parcels are currently part of IRUA’s rural 

water service territory and such territory is protected under federal law.  As a consequence, the 

City must acquire those rights at fair value so that IRUA’s water service infrastructure can be 

dismantled and service rights transferred to the City. 

 

Note that USDA and Co-Bank must approve the agreement and are therefore additional 

signatories   All parties have approved the agreement. 

 

The City previously entered into a similar agreement with IRUA with respect to property 

acquired by the City nearby.   

 

I recommend approval by Council of this agreement. 

 

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.   

 

Thank you.  

150

Item 17.



1 
 

 

WATER SERVICE TERRITORY TRANSFER AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

IOWA REGIONAL UTILITIES ASSOCIATION 

AND 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 This Agreement is made and entered into by and between Iowa Regional Utilities 
Association (“IRUA”), and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (“Cedar Falls” or the “City”)) (and 
deemed effective as of the last date signed by a signatory hereto - i.e. the “Effective 
Date”). 
 
 WHEREAS, IRUA is an Iowa non-profit corporation that is a federally indebted rural 
water association under 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b) which provides public water supply services 
to customers in Black Hawk County, Iowa; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Cedar Falls is a municipal corporation located in Black Hawk County, 
Iowa, whose municipal water utility, Cedar Falls Utilities, provides public water supply 
services to customers in Cedar Falls; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Cedar Falls has recently purchased approximately 4.85 acres of land 
consisting of two parcels, legally described as “City Property” in Exhibit “A” attached and 
also as generally depicted as “City of Cedar Falls” in Exhibit “B” attached (hereinafter the 
“Purchased Property”); and  
 
           WHEREAS, Cedar Falls intends to acquire an additional .50 acres of land adjacent 
to the City Property consisting of one parcel, legally described as “Gaffney Property” in 
Exhibit “A” attached and also as generally depicted as “Jerome & Cynthia Gaffney” in 
Exhibit “B” attached (hereinafter the “Gaffney Property”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Purchased Property and the Gaffney Property may be subject to 
development and/or annexation in the future by Cedar Falls; and 
 
 WHEREAS, IRUA claims the exclusive right to provide public water supply 
services to the Purchased Property and the Gaffney Property; and 
 
 WHEREAS, IRUA and Cedar Falls have agreed upon a compensation amount due 
IRUA for Cedar Falls to acquire the exclusive right to provide public water supply services 
to the Purchased Property and the Gaffney Property, and now wish to reduce their 
agreement to writing. 
 

151

Item 17.



2 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in and for consideration of the mutual releases, covenants, 
and undertakings hereinafter set forth, and for other valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, IRUA and Cedar Falls agree as follows: 
 
 1. Payment. In exchange for the promises and releases made herein and 
subject to the approvals set forth in Paragraph 5 below, Cedar Falls shall pay to IRUA the 
lump sum of Twenty-Five Thousand Thirty-Seven and 29/00 Dollars ($25,037.29) within 
thirty (30) days of approval of this Agreement by the City Council of Cedar Falls. Such 
payment shall be made to the address listed for IRUA in Paragraph 10 below. Except as 
required in Paragraph 3 below, no other payment of damages, costs, fees, expenses or 
any other amount shall be made to IRUA in connection with public water supply services 
for the Purchased Property and the Gaffney Property. 
 
 2. Release and Relinquishment of Service Rights; Conveyance. In exchange for 
the payment described in Paragraph 1 above, IRUA permanently and irrevocably 
releases and relinquishes all of IRUA’s right, title, and interest to provide public water 
supply services to the Purchased Property and the Gaffney Property.  In further exchange 
for such payment, IRUA conveys, assigns and transfers to Cedar Falls any and all rights 
IRUA may have to provide public water supply services to the Purchased Property and 
the Gaffney Property.  

 
 3. Capping of Existing Service Line.  The parties acknowledge that IRUA owns 
a water service line and meter pit housing a meter and valves within the Purchased 
Property serving the property located at 2617 S. Union Road (County Parcel 
891434301005).  Within 180 days of the Effective Date, IRUA shall dig down to the water 
main at the service line connection (on the west side of the road) and disconnect and cap 
the service line and retrieve the meter and valves from the meter pit.  The capped service 
line and meter pit shall be allowed to remain in place and shall be considered abandoned 
by IRUA and deemed transferred by IRUA to the City immediately upon completion of the 
work by IRUA called for in this paragraph and thereafter the City shall be deemed the 
owner thereof and shall hold IRUA harmless from all claims related thereto. The City 
agrees to pay $1,750 to IRUA to complete this work.  
 
 4. Non-precedential. IRUA and Cedar Falls agree that this Agreement is based 
on the unique circumstances of the Purchased Property and the Gaffney Property, and 
without regard to a per acre valuation of water service territory rights or the provisions of 
Iowa Code § 357A.21. 
  
 5. Approvals. This Agreement is subject to approval by: 
 

 a. IRUA, the United States Department of Agriculture and CoBank, ACB, 
f/k/a National Bank for Co-operatives, and this Agreement shall not be deemed 
effective until such approvals have been obtained. In the event that either IRUA or 
the United States Department of Agriculture or CoBank, ACB, f/k/a National Bank 
for Co-operatives does not approve this Agreement, then the same shall be 

152

Item 17.



3 
 

deemed void and of no force and effect. IRUA agrees to diligently and 
expeditiously seek those approvals. 
 
 b. The City Council of Cedar Falls and this Agreement shall not be deemed 
effective until such approval has been obtained. In the event that the City Council 
does not approve this Agreement then the same shall be deemed void and of no 
force and effect. Cedar Falls agrees to diligently and expeditiously seek approval. 

 
 6. Intended Beneficiaries. This Agreement is made solely for the benefit of IRUA 
and Cedar Falls and nothing herein shall be construed as creating any benefits, rights, 
remedies or claims in favor of any other person or entity. 
 
 7. Exhibit and Recitals. All recitals above and all Exhibits attached are hereby 
incorporated into this Agreement by this reference. 
 
 8. Binding on Successors. This Agreement inures to the benefit of, and is 
binding on, IRUA and Cedar Falls as well as their respective successors, transferees and 
assigns.  
 
 9. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of IRUA 
and Cedar Falls with respect to the subject matter, and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
understandings, representations and agreements, whether written or oral. 
 
 10. Notices. Any notices called for in this Agreement shall be given by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, and shall be deemed given as of the date placed for mailing 
with postage paid, as follows: 
 
 City of Cedar Falls, Iowa IRUA 
 Attn: City Attorney 1351 Iowa Speedway Drive 
 220 Clay Street Newton, IA 50208 
 Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
IRUA and Cedar Falls agree that should either address listed in this Paragraph 10 
change, that notice of such changed address be given to the other party at least 14 days 
prior to the effective date of such change, using the same method as for notice set forth 
herein. 
 
 11. Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended, modified, or terminated, 
nor may any obligation under it be waived, unless in writing and signed by both parties 
after necessary approvals. 
 
 12. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa and in accordance with applicable federal 
law, including but not limited to 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b). 
 

153

Item 17.



4 
 

 13. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is finally determined to be 
invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, that part shall be ineffective 
to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability only, without in any way affecting the 
remaining parts of said provision or remaining provisions. 
 
 14. Section 1926(b).  Except as otherwise provided for herein, IRUA retains any 
and all of its rights, privileges, and benefits possessed and not herein specifically released 
and relinquished by the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including, but not limited 
to the rights, privileges and benefits under 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b). 
 
 15. Jointly Drafted. IRUA and Cedar Falls agree that this Agreement was jointly 
prepared so that any uncertainty or ambiguity shall not be construed against either party 
as drafter. 
 
 16. Recording.  This Agreement shall be recorded in the Office of the Black Hawk 
County Recorder. 
 
 17. Execution.  This Agreement will be executed in counter parts and merged as 
a single document and same shall be deemed as legally binding as if the Parties had 
simultaneously executed same in the presence of one another.  Further a recorded 
electronic copy of this document shall be deemed as legally binding as the original.   
  

154

Item 17.



5 
 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, IRUA and Cedar Falls have executed this Water Service 
Territory Transfer Agreement as of the date first listed below. 
 
 
 
 

Iowa Regional Utilities Association 
 
By: ________________________ 
Ronald Dunsbergen, President 
 
By: ________________________ 
Delwin Van Zante, Secretary 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA, JASPER COUNTY, ss: 
 
On this ________ day of ___________________, 2024, before me the undersigned, a 
Notary Public in and for the aforesaid State and County, personally appeared Ronald 
Dunsbergen and Delwin Van Zante, to me personally known, who, being by me duly 
sworn, did say that such persons are, respectively, the President and the Secretary of 
Iowa Regional Utilities Association the aforesaid corporation executing the within and 
foregoing instrument, that no seal has been procured by said corporation; that said 
instrument was signed on behalf of said corporation by authority of its Board of Directors; 
and, that the aforesaid Ronald Dunsbergen and Delwin Van Zante, as said officers of 
such corporation, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the voluntary act 
and deed of said corporation, by it and by said officers voluntarily executed. 

  

 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      Notary Public in and for said County and State 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

155

Item 17.



6 
 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
___________________________ 
Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 
 
On this _______ day of ___________________, 2024, before me, the undersigned, a 
Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa, personally appeared Daniel Laudick and Kim 
Kerr, to me personally known, and, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that they are 
the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that the seal 
affixed to the foregoing instrument is the corporate seal of the corporation, and that the 
instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of the corporation, by authority of its City 
Council, as contained in Resolution Number ____________ passed (the Resolution 
adopted) by the City Council on the ____ day of ______________, 2024, and that Daniel 
Laudick and Kim Kerr acknowledged the execution of the instrument to be their voluntary 
act and deed and the voluntary act and deed of the corporation, by it voluntarily executed 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      Notary Public in and for said County and State 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

156

Item 17.



7 
 

 
 
 

USDA APPROVAL 
  

THIS AGREEMENT IS APPROVED, subject to the conditions stated in Exhibit “C” 
attached, on behalf of the United States of America (USDA/RD) this ________ day of 
________________, 2024. 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:   

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE/RURAL DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

By:_______________________________________ 

 Area Director  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

157

Item 17.



8 
 

 

 

CO-BANK APPROVAL 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT IS APPROVED on behalf of CoBank, ACB, f/k/a National 

Bank for Co-operatives (Co-Bank) this ________ day of __________________, 2024. 

 

COBANK, ACB, f/k/a NATIONAL BANK FOR CO-OPERATIVES:  

 

 

By:_______________________________________ 

 Julia McCusker, Regional Vice President  

158

Item 17.



Exhibit “A” 
 
 

Gaffney Property 
The South one-hundred and ten feet (110) of the West two-hundred and thirty-one feet (231) of the 
South six-hundred and sixty feet (660) of the Northwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 
thirty-four (34), Township eighty-nine (89) North, Range fourteen (14) West, Black Hawk County, Iowa. 
 
City Property 
The West two-hundred thirty-one (231) feet of the South six-hundred and sixty feet (660) of the 
Northwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section thirty-four (34), Township eighty-nine (89) 
North, Range fourteen (14) West, Black Hawk County, Iowa, except the South one-hundred and ten feet 
(110) thereof. 
 
City Property 
Parcel ‘A’ of Plat of Survey Doc. #2017-02916 filed August 12, 2016, being a part of the Northwest 
Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 89 North, Range 14 West, Black Hawk 
County, Iowa. 

 
 

159

Item 17.



160

Item 17.



EXHIBIT “C” 

 
USDA’s approval of this Agreement is subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Water service rights to the parcel in question shall not be conveyed by the 

City to a subsequent purchaser for value; 
2. Water service shall not be provided by the City to the parcel in question; and 
3. In the event that either of the foregoing do occur (i.e., in the event that water 

service rights to the parcel are conveyed by the City to a subsequent 
purchaser for value or water service is provided by the City to the parcel in 
question), then the City shall be required to comply in all respects with 
applicable statutory and regulatory provisions. 

 
In the event the City breaches, violates, or otherwise fails to comply with any of 

the foregoing conditions, resulting in resumed supply of water service to the parcel in 
question, the City agrees that:        

 
(a) it shall be required to comply in all respects with the provisions of Title VI of 

the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the federal regulations issued pursuant 
thereto, including without limitation 7 CFR Part 15, and  

(b) upon any breach or violation by the City of the obligations referenced in the 
foregoing subsection (a), the Government may, at its option,  

(i) terminate or refuse to render or continue financial assistance for the 
aid of the property, facility, project, service, or activity, and/or  

(ii) enforce this agreement by suit for specific performance or by any other 
available remedy under the laws of the United States or the State in 
which the breach or violation occurred. 

 
 

 

161

Item 17.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

Information Systems Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council Members 

 FROM: Julie Sorensen, Information Systems Manager 

 DATE: February 12, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Master Service Agreement Renewal with IP Pathways 

 

 
IP Pathways our vendor for Teir 3 Network Engineering support and network equipment 
configuration and installation has updated their Master Service Agreement.  IP 
Pathways had proven to be a valuable partner and we buy blocks of hours of support 
from them at a discounted rate yearly.  When we renewed our support hours this year, 
they asked that we update our Service agreement as well.       
 
The Master Service Agreement has been reviewed by Kevin Rogers, city attorney, and 
has been negotiated with IP Pathways.  Therefore, they have included an Addendum 
with the Agreement to cover some of the changes we have requested to the original 
Master Service Agreement.  I’ve included both for your reference.   
 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this purchase, please feel free to 
contact me at 268-5111. 
 
 
 
Julie Sorensen 
Manager of Information Systems 
 
Attached:   
QuoteIP_Pathways.019352.v1.5 
20240122 ADDENDUM TO MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

162

Item 18.



December 19, 2023

Master Services Agreement

City of Cedar Falls

163

Item 18.



Master Services Agreement

This Master Services Agreement (the “Master Agreement”) is effective as of 12/19/2023 (the “Effective Date”) by and between IP Pathways, 

LLC an Iowa limited liability company with its principal place of business at 3600 109th Street, Urbandale, Iowa 50322 and City of Cedar Falls, 

with its principal place of business at 220 Clay Street , Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (“Customer”). IP Pathways and Customer may be referred to 
individually as a “Party” or collectively, the “Parties.”  

WHEREAS, IP Pathways has the expertise and facilities to provide professional and managed services and/or hybrid IT solutions (the “IP 
Pathways’ Services”);

WHEREAS, Customer is interested in having IP Pathways provide IP Pathways’ Services for Customer; 

WHEREAS, IP Pathways is willing to provide the IP Pathways’ Services for Customer pursuant to the terms and conditions as set forth herein;  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements and promises contained herein, the Parties agree as follows:

1. ANCILLARY AGREEMENTS. During the Master Agreement Term, IP Pathways will provide to Customer the IP Pathways’ Services set forth 
in one or more ancillary agreements via a separate Statement of Work (“SOW”), Service Order, or other docum ent (collectively, 
“Ancillary Agreement(s)”) incorporated by reference. Each Ancillary Agreement will be entered into pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of this Master Agreement. An individual SOW and/or Service Order must be executed for each IP Pathways’ Service as agreed 
to by the Parties. Each Ancillary Agreement will contain a description of the IP Pathways’ Services performed by IP Pathways, and any 
applicable fee, billing and/or invoice information as well as additional information or terms and conditions required for the successful 
completion of the IP Pathways’ Service(s). Any capitalized terms not otherwise herein defined will have the meaning provided in an 
Ancillary Agreement. References to “Agreement” means collectively, this Master Agreement and each applicable Ancillary Agreement 
and any other document incorporated by reference. 

2. BREAK/FIX SERVICES AND TRAVEL EXPENSES. General break/fix engagements not described in an Ancillary Agreement but performed 
by IP Pathways at Customer’s request, will require verbal or written authorization by authorized representatives of both Parties. 
Break/fix engagements will be billed at the rates set forth on attached Exhibit A, incorporated herein by this reference. IP Pathways will 
bill Customer for all break/fix services and services calls in fifteen (15) minute increments. Further, certain IP Pathways’ Services may 
require IP Pathways to travel to Customer’s location. Customer will be charged for travel expenses in addition to the hourly fees for 
break/fix engagements. The fees for the travel expenses charged to Customer are also set forth in Exhibit A. IP Pathways shall have the 
right, at any time and in its sole discretion, to adjust the rates in Exhibit A and shall notify Customer of any such rate adjustments at least
thirty (30) calendar days prior to the effective date of the new rates. 

3. PAYMENT TERMS. Customer must pay IP Pathways such fees as provided in the applicable Ancillary Agreement and all taxes, fees or 
assessments imposed on or required to be collected by IP Pathways by any governmental agency related to any of the activities 
contemplated hereunder (“Service Fees”). Payments are due within thirty (30) days of the invoice date. Late payments accrue interest at 
the rate of one and one-half percent (1 ½%) per month, or the highest rate allowed by applicable law, whichever is lower. If Customer 
disputes an invoice, Customer must timely pay all amounts owed and simultaneously provide IP Pathways written detail of the disputed 
amount. The Parties will work diligently to resolve billing disputes in a timely manner. All amounts owed, if any, by IP Pathways to 
Customer will be paid promptly following resolution. With written notice, IP Pathways also reserves the right to pass through to 
Customer any increase in fees and charges by third parties, including but not limited to, any increase in tariffs, fees or other amounts 
charged to IP Pathways in connection with the delivery of IP Pathways’ Services provided under the Agreement as of the date such 
increases are effective. CUSTOMER MUST PROVIDE EVIDENCE OF ITS SALES TAX EXEMPT STATUS IF IT CLAIMS SUCH STATUS. IP 
Pathways reserves the right to suspend all work if Customer’s account becomes past due for a period of more than forty-five (45) 
calendar days.

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 2

164

Item 18.



4. CHANGE MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES. 

a. Change Order. No Services Fees (except for an increase in service fees due to a third party) or term adjustment on an Ancillary 
Agreement will be binding on the Parties unless expressly stated in an IP Pathways change order executed by both Parties (a 
“Change Order”). No Change Order will be issued to: (a) remediate deficient work performed under an Ancillary Agreement; or (b) 
correct mutually agreed-on errors or omissions in an Ancillary Agreement. It may become necessary to amend an Ancillary 
Agreement for reasons including, but not limited to, the following: (i) a delay or interference with, or suspension or stoppage of, IP 
Pathways’ obligations under an Ancillary Agreement caused by the acts (including any instruction) or omissions of Customer or any 
Customer representative; (ii) Force Majeure Event; (iii) a change in law, or any other excusable event(s) as mutually agreed to by the 
Parties. In the event either desires to change an Ancillary Agreement, the following procedures shall apply: (i) IP Pathways will 
deliver a Change Order to Customer; (ii) the Change Order will describe the nature of the change, the reason for the change and the 
effect the change will have on the IP Pathways’ Services. Upon execution of the Change Order, it will be incorporated into and made 
a part of the specific Ancillary Agreement; and (iii) IP Pathways is under no obligation to proceed with the change request until such 
time as the Change Order is agreed upon in writing by both Parties. 

b. Addendum. Any changes to this Master Agreement shall be noted in a separate addendum to this Master Agreement, incorporated 
by herein by this reference. Further, any changes to an Ancillary Agreement, other than those changes requiring a Change Order, 
shall be noted in a separate addendum to the Ancillary Agreement. 

c. Order of Precedence. In the event of any conflict between this Master Agreement and the terms and conditions of an Ancillary 
Agreement, the order of precedence is as follows: (1) Addendum to the Ancillary Agreement or a Change Order. If both are 
incorporated into an Agreement, whichever has the most recent date shall be the controlling document followed by the document 
with the later date; (2) the Ancillary Agreement; (3) the addendum to the Master Agreement; (4) this Master Agreement. 

5. CUSTOMER OBLIGATIONS. 

a. Customer understands that if additional IP Pathways’ Services are ordered, the ability of IP Pathways to provision the service 
augmentation is dependent upon availability capacity of IP Pathways’ business and staffing. IP Pathways reserves the right to refuse 
provisioning of service elements that are not in accordance with accepted practices. Customer will not hold IP Pathways liable for 
any damage or loss due to inability to provide such additional IP Pathways’ Services. 

b. It is Customer’s responsibility to ensure that any and all devices owned by Customer (the “Customer Equipment”) that may be used 
in conjunction with the IP Pathways’ Services, is able to connect to all devices owned or provided by IP Pathways (the “IP Pathways’ 
Provided Equipment”) and is configured properly. 

c. Customer must maintain in force, at its expense, with a reputable insurance company during the Master Agreement Term, 
appropriate insurance policies to cover potential losses or liability, including but not limited to: coverage for all Customer 
Equipment, commercial general liability insurance, and public liability insurance. 

d. IP Pathways is not liable for the permanent loss of any Customer data, nor does it guarantee the absolute protection of Customer’s 
data. Customer will maintain facilities and procedures external to the IP Pathways’ Services for reconstruction of lost or altered files, 
data or programs and IP Pathways’ shall not be liable to Customer for such lost or altered files, data or programs. Provided, however, 
certain IP Pathways’ Services may explicitly state in the Ancillary Agreement that IP Pathways shall be responsible for Customer’s 
lost or altered files, data or programs, in which case IP Pathways’ liability shall be subject to Section 14 of this Master Agreement. 

6. PROVISION OF SERVICES. Customer understands that IP Pathways will make commercially reasonable efforts to provision the IP 
Pathways’ Services. IP Pathways will provide the IP Pathways’ Services, in consideration for the Services Fees described in an Ancillary 
Agreement and, solely in the case of Service Orders, under Section 15 herein. 

7. OUT OF SCOPE. IP Pathways provides IP Pathways’ Services solely at the Customer’s direction, and is only responsible to provide the IP 
Pathways’ Services available for Customer’s use for its projects. Unless described in an Ancillary Agreement, deliverables are not within 
the scope, and IP Pathways will not be providing Customer with any deliverables. In the event there is development of deliverables, the 
Parties agree they will enter into a separate agreement under different terms and conditions. 

8. CONTACT. IP Pathways and Customer each shall designate a single point of contact to whom communications in regards to the IP 

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 3

165

Item 18.



Pathways’ Services may be addressed and who has the authority to act on all aspects of the IP Pathways’ Services, shall be available 
during standard business hours, and shall designate a backup contact for when the primary contact is not available. 

9. OWNERSHIP.

a. During the Master Agreement Term, Customer acknowledges that, but for third party software that is provided with IP Pathways 
Services and such third-party licensors provide rights to Customer, IP Pathways owns all right, title and interest in and to any and all 
IP Pathways’ technology including software and documentation and any software or hardware tools, ideas, concepts, 
methodologies, processes, inventions and utilities developed by or on behalf of IP Pathways or Customer as part of the IP Pathways’ 
Services and any trademarks and/or service marks of IP Pathways (collectively “IP Pathways Intellectual Property”) is vested in IP 
Pathways and/or in IP Pathways’ licensors. IP Pathways reserves the right to develop, use and distribute works that perform 
functions the same as or similar to the IP Pathways Intellectual Property along with any residuals pursuant to the IP Pathways’ 
Services, except for data pertaining solely to Customer. Unless otherwise specifically provided for in an Ancillary Agreement, 
Customer may not copy, modify or translate, or decompile, disassemble or reverse engineer, or use other than in connection with 
the IP Pathways’ Services and as permitted by the Ancillary Agreement, or grant any other person or entity the right to, or 
distribute, the IP Pathways Intellectual Property or related documentation. 

b. During the Master Agreement Term, Customer may provide feedback or suggestions to IP Pathways regarding the IP Pathways’ 
Services. Unless IP Pathways otherwise agrees in writing, Customer agrees that IP Pathways shall own all feedback, comments, 
suggestions, ideas, concepts and changes that Customer provides to IP Pathways and all associated intellectual property rights 
(collectively, the “Feedback”) and Customer hereby assigns to IP Pathways all of Customer’s right title and interest thereto. 
Customer must not knowingly provide IP Pathways any Feedback that is subject to third party intellectual property rights. Customer 
agrees to cooperate with IP Pathways with respect to signing further documents and doing such other acts as are reasonably 
requested by IP Pathways to confirm that IP Pathways owns the Feedback and to enable IP Pathways to register and/or protect any 
associated intellectual property rights associated with the IP Pathways’ Services. 

10. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. 

a. Each Party acknowledges that it may have access to information claimed to be confidential by the other Party (the “Confidential 
Information”). Confidential Information shall include, but is not limited to, all data, materials, products, technology, computer 
programs, specifications, manuals, business plans, software, marketing plans, financial information, and other information, whether 
or not marked as confidential or proprietary, disclosed or submitted, orally, in writing, electronically, website-based or by any other 
media, to IP Pathways or Customer by the other. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Confidential Information shall not include (i) 
information the receiving party already knows or was already in receiving party’s possession as evidenced by receiving party’s 
records; (ii) information that becomes generally available to the public except as a result of disclosure by the receiving party in 
violation of this Master Agreement, (iii) information that becomes known to the receiving party from a source other than the 
disclosing party on a non-confidential basis; and/or (iv) is independently developed by the receiving party without any breach of this 
Master Agreement. Both Parties agree that the Confidential Information is to be considered confidential and proprietary and shall 
hold the same in confidence as it holds its own Confidential Information, but not less than a reasonable standard of care. Except as 
otherwise provided, each Party agrees that it shall not use the Confidential Information other than as necessitated by the Ancillary 
Agreement, and shall disclose it only to its officers, directors, or employees with a specific need to know. Neither Party will disclose, 
publish or otherwise reveal any of the Confidential Information received by any other party whatsoever except with specific prior 
written authorization. The terms of this Section shall survive termination of this Master Agreement. 

b. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the receiving party may disclose that part of the Confidential Information that is required to be 
disclosed to comply with applicable laws or with a court or administrative order, provided that the receiving party gives the 
disclosing party prompt and reasonable notification of such requirement prior to such disclosure and takes all reasonable and lawful 
actions to obtain confidential treatment for such disclosure and to minimize the extent of such disclosure. 

c. All Confidential Information transmitted or disclosed hereunder will be and remain the property of the disclosing party. The 
receiving party agrees that upon termination or expiration of this Master Agreement and at the disclosing party’s request, the 

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 4

166

Item 18.



receiving party shall destroy all parts of Confidential Information and any copies, summaries of documents, materials or other 
tangible manifestations thereof in the possession or control of the receiving party. 

11. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. 

a. Customer Warranties. Customer represents and warrants to IP Pathways: 

i. That it is a corporation, limited liability company or other business organization duly organized and validly existing in good 
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it was organized, is duly qualified and in good standing in each other 
jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business or the maintenance of its property so requires and owns or has the legal right 
and authority, and will continue to own or maintain the legal right and authority during the Master Agreement Term, to place 
and use the Customer Equipment;  

ii. That Customer’s services, products, materials and/or any Customer Equipment (collectively, “Customer Business”) does not and 
will not operate in any manner that would violate any applicable law or regulation, and comply with all requirements provided 
for in an Ancillary Agreement; 

iii. That Customer will not make unauthorized use of any trade secrets or confidential or proprietary information of IP Pathways or 
a third party; 

iv. That it will comply at all times with all applicable laws, regulations and ordinances relating to Customer’s use of the IP 
Pathways’ Services; 

v. That the premises and conditions to be encountered by IP Pathways at the location of any call or project work and in areas 
where the work is to be performed shall not contain, present, or expose IP Pathways’ employees, invitees or representatives to 
any hazardous conditions, materials or substances. 

b. IP Pathways’ Warranties. IP Pathways represents and warrants to Customer: 

i. That in performing the IP Pathways’ Services, IP Pathways will not make unauthorized use of any trade secrets or confidential or 
proprietary information of Customer or a third party; 

ii. That IP Pathways is a limited liability company, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Iowa and is 
duly qualified and in good standing in each other jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business so requires and has all right, 
title, ownership, marketing and other rights required to furnish all IP Pathways’ Services under an Ancillary Agreement; 

iii. It will comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations regarding the provision of IP Pathways’ Services; 

iv. That all labor and/or services provided by IP Pathways pursuant to this Master Agreement and a SOW (the “Professional 
Services”) are warranted to be performed in a professional and workmanlike manner, using qualified personnel and in 
accordance with industry standards. As to any defects in the Professional Services, the extent of IP Pathways’ liability is limited 
to, and Customer’s sole and exclusive remedy is limited to the re-performance of the Professional Services, without such defects. 

c. DISCLAIMER BY IP PATHWAYS. IP Pathways shall have no responsibility for, nor any other liability or warranty for, defects, damages 
or delays caused by the actions or inactions of persons or entities not affiliated with IP Pathways, or caused by, or attributable to any 
reason beyond IP Pathways’ commercially reasonable control. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED HEREIN, THE IP PATHWAYS’ 
SERVICES, IP PATHWAYS’ SPACE AND/OR THE IP PATHWAYS-PROVIDED EQUIPMENT, ARE PROVIDED “AS-IS” AND IP PATHWAYS DOES 
NOT MAKE, AND HEREBY DISCLAIMS, ANY AND ALL EXPRESS AND/OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, 
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NONINFRINGEMENT AND TITLE, AND ANY WARRANTIES 
ARISING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE OR TRADE PRACTICE. IP PATHWAYS DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE IP PATHWAYS 
SERVICES, IP PATHWAYS’ SPACE, AND/OR THE IP PATHWAYS-PROVIDED EQUIPMENT WILL BE AVAILABLE UNINTERRUPTED, ERROR-
FREE OR IN A COMPLETELY SECURE BASIS. IT IS INTENDED THAT THE FEES AND CHARGES PAYABLE BY CUSTOMER HEREUNDER SHALL 
BE A NET RETURN TO IP PATHWAYS, FREE OF EXPENSE, CHARGE, OFFSET, DIMINUTION OR OTHER DEDUCTION WHATSOEVER 
(EXCEPTING FEDERAL AND STATE INCOME TAXES OF GENERAL APPLICATION AND THOSE EXPENSES WHICH THIS AGREEMENT 
EXPRESSLY MAKES THE RESPONSIBILITY OF IP PATHWAYS).

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 5

167

Item 18.



12. DEFAULT; REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT. The occurrence of any one or more of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default”: (1) 
Customer’s breach of an Agreement; and/or (2) failure by Customer to perform any obligations or covenants set forth in an Ancillary 
Agreement. In addition to all other rights and remedies granted to IP Pathways in the Master Agreement, and under applicable law, 
upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, IP Pathways shall immediately and automatically have the right to (a) terminate any or all 
Ancillary Agreement(s) and this Master Agreement and cease providing the IP Pathways’ Services to Customer; (b) remove any 
equipment, if so applicable; and (c) require payment upon early termination of an Ancillary Agreement for all Services Fees and other 
costs, expenses and amounts to be incurred during the Master Agreement Term. 

13. INDEMNIFICATION 

a. By Customer. Customer shall defend, indemnify and hold IP Pathways harmless from and against any and all third party claims, 
demands, actions, damages, suits, losses, liabilities, costs, and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs arising 
from: 

i. Customer’s use of the: IP Pathways’ Space, the Customer Equipment, the IP Pathways’ Provided Equipment or the IP Pathways’ 
Services; 

ii. Customer’s Business; 

iii. Any breach by Customer of any warranty or obligation hereunder; 

iv. Any injury or death of any person or damage to any property occurring upon Customer’s location, the IP Pathways’ Space and/or 
the building or the land of which the IP Pathways Space are a part of, arising out of (or in connection with) or claimed to arise 
out of (or in connection with) Customer’s use of the IP Pathways’ Space, the Customer Equipment, the IP Pathways Provided 
Equipment or the IP Pathways’ Services; 

v. Any action or inaction on the part of Customer that causes IP Pathways to be in breach of any agreement with a IP Pathways 
lessor; 

vi. The violation of any law or regulation by Customer relating to Customer’s use of the IP Pathways’ Services; 

vii. Customer’s violation of a Permitted Use, as defined below. 

b. By IP Pathways. IP Pathways shall defend, indemnify and hold Customer harmless from and against any and all third party claims, 
demands, actions, damages, suits, losses, liabilities, costs, and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs arising 
from: 

i. IP Pathways' business; 

ii. Any breach by IP Pathways of any warranty or obligation hereunder; 

iii. The violation of any law or regulation by IP Pathways.

14. LIABILITY AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. 

a. IP Pathways Liability. IP Pathways shall not be liable for any claim involving, concerning or related to the loss or destruction of 
Customer data or any portion thereof or for any damages either to person or property sustained by Customer or by other persons 
due to the IP Pathways’ Services and/or IP Pathways’ Space or any part thereof becoming out of repair or due to the happening of 
any accident or event in or about the IP Pathways’ Space or due to the act or neglect of any occupant of the IP Pathways’ Space or of 
any other person, including, but not limited to damage caused by gas, electricity, power outages, snow, frost, steam, sewage, sewer 
gas or odors, fire, water or the bursting or leaking of pipes, faucets, sprinklers and plumbing fixtures (collectively “Excluded 
Liability”), unless such Excluded Liability arose as a result of IP Pathways’ intentional misconduct or gross negligence.

b. LIMITATION. IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER, ANY EMPLOYEE, AGENT OR CONTRACTOR THE OTHER, OR 
ANY THIRD PARTY FOR ANY CLAIMS ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS MASTER AGREEMENT AND/OR ANY ANCILLARY 
AGREEMENT, INCLUDING IN RELATION TO THE IP PATHWAYS’ SPACE, THE IP PATHWAYS’ PROVIDED EQUIPMENT, THE IP PATHWAYS’ 

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 6

168

Item 18.



SERVICES, CUSTOMER’S BUSINESS OR OTHERWISE, WHICH CLAIMS INVOLVE INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, OR CONSEQUENTIAL 
DAMAGES, EVEN IF ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES, WHETHER UNDER THEORY OF CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING 
NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY IN THIS MASTER AGREEMENT 
OR ANY ANCILLARY AGREEMENT, EACH PARTY’S MAXIMUM AGGREGATE LIABILITY TO THE OTHER RELATED TO OR ARISING UNDER 
AN AGREEMENT WILL BE LIMITED TO THE TOTAL AMOUNT PAID BY CUSTOMER TO IP PATHWAYS FOR THE TWELVE (12) MONTH 
PERIOD PRECEDING THE INCIDENT. 

15. SERVICE ORDERS. This Section 15 is applicable solely to Service Order(s) in effect between IP Pathways and Customer:

a. Renewal Term Service Fees. Upon any Renewal Service Term, a Service Order shall automatically renew subject to the same terms 
and conditions. IP Pathways shall have the right to appropriately escalate fees according to its then current fee structure or by three 
percent (3%) whichever is greater. 

b. Delivery of Services. IP Pathways will complete all Contracted Service(s) in accordance with the appropriate Targeted Initial 
Response Time as described in this Master Agreement provided that Customer’s usage has not reached the Unsupported threshold 
as set forth below. Upon IP Pathways’ determination that Customer’s usage has reached the Unsupported threshold, IP Pathways 
shall be excused from satisfying the requirements for the applicable Targeted Initial Response Time until IP Pathways determines 
that Customer’s usage no longer triggers the Unsupported threshold. Customer can request Contracted Service(s) through IP 
Pathways on a one time or continual basis, such changes or modification to be made by executing a Change Order. IP Pathways 
reserves the right to modify its network and facilities used to provide the Contracted Service(s) so long as the modifications do not 
materially reduce the Contracted Service(s) as provided in an applicable SLA at any time during the Service Term. IP Pathways shall 
use reasonable efforts to notify Customer of any planned changes to IP Pathways’ network or facilities that may adversely affect the 
Contracted Service(s). 

c. Use. Customer shall use the Contracted Service(s) solely for a Permitted Use. “Permitted Use” shall mean Customer’s right to use the 
Contracted Service(s) for its own purposes in accordance with the Agreement for any purpose other than Prohibited Conduct. 
Prohibited Conduct shall mean unacceptable uses related to the Service Order Service, which includes, without limitation, use of the 
Contracted Service(s) to: (i) disseminate, store or transmit unsolicited messages, chain letters or unsolicited commercial email; (ii) 
disseminate or transmit material that, to a reasonable person may be abusive, obscene, pornographic, defamatory, harassing, 
grossly offensive, vulgar, threatening or malicious; (iii) disseminate, store or transmit files, graphics, software or other material that 
actually or potentially infringes the copyright, trademark, patent, trade secret or other intellectual property right of any person or 
organization; (iv) create a false identity or to otherwise attempt to mislead any person as to the identity or origin of any 
communication; (v) export, re-export or permit downloading of any message or content in violation of any export or import law, 
regulation or restriction of the United States and its agencies or authorities, or without all required approvals, licenses or 
exemptions; (vi) interfere, disrupt, or attempt to gain unauthorized access to other accounts on a Contracted Service or any other 
computer network; (vii) disseminate, store or transmit viruses, trojan horses or any other malicious code or program; or (viii) engage 
in any other activity deemed by IP Pathways to be in conflict with the spirit or intent of the Agreement. Further, Customer is solely 
responsible for any and all acts and omissions that occur under Customer's account or password, or related to its equipment or any 
agent of Customer, that may result in harm or damage to IP Pathways, its property or any third-party property. 

d. IP Numbers. IP Pathways must maintain and control ownership of all internet protocol (“IP”) numbers and addresses that may be 
assigned to Customer by IP Pathways and IP Pathways reserves, in its sole discretion, the right to change or remove any and all such 
IP numbers and addresses. 

e. Service Level Agreement. IP Pathways, in good faith, will be the sole Party to determine whether IP Pathways has not met any of the 
applicable terms of a Service Level Agreement (the “SLAs”), based upon the agreed-to Contracted Service(s). The SLAs define 
availability, performance and other requirements of the Service Order Service provisioning and delivery. Customer must at all times 
cooperate with IP Pathways in testing, determining and verifying that a qualifying Service Outage has occurred. IP Pathways will use 
commercially reasonable efforts to make the Contracted Service(s) available 100% of the Service Term. For purposes of the SLA, 
“Service Outage” shall mean environment downtime other than the exclusions listed in Section 15(e)(v) below. Services-specific 
support and SLA terms may also be described in the services description in a Service Order.

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 7

169

Item 18.



i. Service Support. IP Pathways support can be contacted by one of the following methods:

Method Details 

Telephone 877-363-3895 Option 2 

Email support@ippathways.com

The preferred method of communicating support issues is via email. Alternatively, issues can be reported verbally at the 
telephone number above. Upon successfully requesting support via email or telephone, a support ticket number will be issued. 
That ticket number should be referenced when working with support. When contacting support, a priority level (see Service Level 
Targeted Initial Response Time) should also be reported. Priority level 3 is the default priority. Customer may request to escalate 
to a higher priority which may be accepted in IP Pathways’ sole discretion. Additional coverage can be provided on request and at 
an additional cost.

ii. Scope of SLA. This SLA only applies to Contracted Service(s) to the extent that they are provided by means of systems and 
equipment that are either owned or operated by or on behalf of IP Pathways. IP Pathways’ support is not responsible for end-
user support of issues not directly related to the Contracted Service(s). This includes, but is not limited to, Customer operating 
systems, Customer Equipment, or Customer application support. IP Pathways shall not be liable to pay compensation under this 
SLA where its failure to meet any of its obligations under this SLA is a caused by a Force Majeure event, by the performance of 
routine maintenance, by a failure in any Customer Equipment, or by any act or omission of Customer, or third-party acting on 
Customer’s behalf. IP Pathways reserves the right to amend the SLA from time to time. IP Pathways shall give Customer not less 
than thirty (30) days’ notice of any changes in the SLA and Customer will be notified by e-mail. 

iii. Service Level Credit Request Process and Limitations. Credits for a Service Outage under this SLA shall only be payable if the 
following steps are met:

1. Customer is not currently, nor was at the time the Service Outage occurred, in default of any of the terms and conditions of 
the applicable Agreement and this SLA; 

2. Customer must have submitted a support ticket within forty-eight (48) hours of the Service Outage. 

3. Customer must have submitted a request to accounting@ippathways.com and marked in the subject line with “claim for 
services credit.” All claims for credits must be submitted promptly and in any event within seven (7) calendar days from the 
date of the Service Outage. 

4. IP Pathways, in its sole discretion, must have agreed in writing, acting reasonably and without undue delay to issue a credit in 
connection with such claim. 

Customer’s failure to comply with this subsection shall result in Customer’s waiver of its right to receive any such credit. All 
credits so payable shall be applied to Customer’s account to be reconciled. The maximum monthly credit available under this SLA 
is limited to an amount not greater than thirty percent (30%) of the monthly recurring charge for such Service Order Service that 
incurred the Service Outage but excluding, in all cases any monthly recurring fees for third party service fees. Credits provided 
hereunder shall be Customer’s sole and exclusive remedy for any Service Outage. For the purpose of determining the amount of 
any credit, a Service Outage will be deemed to commence when the outage is reported on IP Pathways’ monitoring systems.

Service Availability Credit Remedy 

< 100% - = 99.50 5% credit 

< 99.50 - = 99.00 10% credit 

< 99.00 - = 98.50 15% credit 

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 8

170

Item 18.



< 98.50 30% credit 30% credit

iv. Unsupported. This SLA is not applicable, and IP Pathways shall be excused from satisfying the requirements of the applicable 
Target Initial Response Time, if Customer uses a system beyond its capabilities and the system reaches an unsupported status 
(“Unsupported”). IP Pathways, or IP Pathways’ monitoring systems, will determine the current status and inform the Customer 
via email of any changes to a system’s unsupported status. Examples of Customer’s system being deemed Unsupported includes 
but is not limited to: (i) a resource (e.g. disk space or CPU) within the system being utilized beyond IP Pathways’ recommended 
thresholds; or (ii) the failure of Customer to maintain direct manufacturer support on Customer Equipment. Furthermore, SLAs 
will be inapplicable during the time periods outside of manufacturer support coverage hours for Customer Equipment. IP 
Pathways highly recommends 24x7 manufacturer support contracts. All Customer Equipment under IP Pathways management 
must have been purchased through manufacturer authorized channels. In addition, SLAs will be inapplicable for Services where 
Customer has denied approval for the installation of the AdaptiveCloud Agent or other software that IP Pathways uses to aid in 
the delivery and management of the Contracted Services. The terms of this Section shall apply until IP Pathways determines that
condition no longer triggers the Unsupported status. 

v. Service Outage Exclusions. A Service Outage excludes the following: 

1. Scheduled Downtime (as defined below), including scheduled maintenance, a suspension, or a termination of the 
Contracted Service; 

2. Failure of servers or services outside of a computer network or data center on which the Contracted Service is dependent, 
including, but not limited to, inaccessibility on the Internet that is not caused by IP Pathways’ infrastructure; 

3. Force Majeure event and any other circumstances or events not in IP Pathways’ direct control; 

4. Attack on IP Pathways’ infrastructure, including a denial of service attack or unauthorized access (i.e., hacking) for Customer-
managed services not subject to IP Pathways’ security and risk management procedures; 

5. Unavailability not reported by Customer within seven (7) calendar days of the date on which the Service Outage occurred; 

6. Use of a separate IP Pathways service that is not subject to this SLA; 

7. Unavailability that results from the failure of individual servers and that is not attributable to an event causing unavailability 
to all Customers using the Contracted Service; or 

8. Unavailability that is caused by Customer’s breach of the Agreement. 

9. Unavailability that is caused by Customer Equipment or any form of negligence on the Customer’s part

vi. Service Levels. IP Pathways guarantees an overall Service Availability of 100%. Service Availability shall mean all times in any 
calendar month the Contracted Service is available to access, not to include Scheduled Downtime. IP Pathways may carry out 
periodic maintenance or upgrade work (“Scheduled Downtime”), as also provided for in this Master Agreement. Except in the 
case of an emergency, IP Pathways will provide Customer with two (2) calendar days’ notice of Scheduled Downtime. If IP 
Pathways fails to provide the appropriate notice, at Customer’s request, Customer will be entitled to a credit to Customer’s 
account in the amount of the pro-rated fee for the provision of one day of Contracted Service. This credit will only apply to 
monthly recurring fees. IP Pathways will endeavour to accommodate Customer’s requirements in terms of outage times; 
however, depending on the circumstances this may not always be possible. Outage times will be quoted in Central Time to 
prevent mistakes being made over the various time zones. 

vii. Service Level Targeted Initial Response Times. IP Pathways guarantees an overall response time for certain system failures 
according to the following schedule.

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 9

171

Item 18.



Priority Level Description Target Initial Response 

Priority 1 

System down state and business operations adversely affected. Customer must 
commit to around-the-clock action and involvement by all necessary and 
appropriate personnel and systems until a mutually agreeable workaround is 
provided and normal business operations are restored. 

30 minutes 

Priority 2 
System experiencing infrequent, isolated, or intermittent errors or equivalent 
issue. Business operations may continue but at an inconsistent or less than 
optimal rate. 

1 hour 

Priority 3 

Systems are experiencing an issue, anomaly, or cosmetic defect that inflicts 
little or no business impact. (This is the default priority. Customer may request 
to escalate to a higher priority which may be accepted in IP Pathways’ sole 
discretion.) 

4 hours 

Priority 4 
General request for information, configuration, or maintenance. There is no 
impact to current production systems or business operations. 

24 Hours

f. IP Pathways uses its AdaptiveCloud Agent to enable features such as, but not limited to, remote support, license utilization, service 
monitoring and to otherwise aid IP Pathways in the delivery and management of certain Contracted Services. Customer agrees to 
the terms and conditions of the AdaptiveCloud Agent Software License Agreement, which may be updated from time to time, and is 
available at https://my.adaptivecloud.com. IP Pathways will obtain Customer permission before installing the AdaptiveCloud Agent 
in Customer’s environment. 

16. RIGHT OF AUDIT. Customer agrees that during the Master Agreement Term, IP Pathways will have the right to audit Customer in order 
to verify Customer’s compliance with the terms and conditions of an Agreement. The costs of such audit shall be borne by IP Pathways 
except where the audit identifies that Customer has been underpaying for licenses or services. In such case, Customer shall bear the 
cost of the audit and IP Pathways, in its sole discretion, may invoice Customer for underpayment. 

17. TERM AND TERMINATION. 

a. Term. This Master Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date and continue in full force and effect so long as there is an 
Ancillary Agreement in place between the Parties. In the event there is not a current Ancillary Agreement in place, either Party must 
send written notice of its intent to terminate this Master Agreement, which shall be effective immediately (the “Master Agreement 
Term”). This Master Agreement may also be terminated pursuant to Section 17(b) below. 

b. Termination. 

i. Subject to section 17(b)(iv), either Party may terminate this Master Agreement: 

1. Immediately, upon the insolvency of the other Party or the institution of any proceedings in bankruptcy or under any other 
insolvency law, or an arrangement with creditors, or a corporate reorganization, receivership or dissolution of the other 
Party; 

2. Upon thirty (30) days’ written notice to the other Party if the other Party materially breaches an obligation, or any 
representation or warranty and such breach is not cured within such thirty (30) day period. 

ii. IP Pathways may terminate this Master Agreement: 

1. Upon thirty (30) days’ written notice if Customer is in default of its payment obligations hereunder on two (2) or more 
occasions in any six (6) month period; 

2. Upon thirty (30) days’ written notice if Customer is in breach of another agreement with IP Pathways and Customer fails to 

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 10

172

Item 18.



cure such breach within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice from IP Pathways; 

3. For convenience, upon sixty (60) days’ notice to Customer, regardless if there is a current Ancillary Agreement in place. 

iii. Each Ancillary Agreement is considered to be a separate Agreement, and as such the termination of one Ancillary Agreement 
shall not necessarily effectuate a termination of all agreements with Customer. However, each Ancillary Agreement is entered 
into pursuant to and incorporates the terms and conditions of this Master Agreement, and as such, termination of this Master 
Agreement will also terminate any Ancillary Agreement that is incorporated into this Master Agreement.

iv. Upon termination of this Master Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement, Customer will remain liable for all fees and charges 
incurred by Customer as of the last day of receiving the IP Pathways Services. For clarity, this includes all usage-based fees as 
well as any commitment-based fees that may be applicable to a specific IP Pathways’ Service. 

18. NON-SOLICITATION. 

a. Customer must not at any time during the Master Agreement Term, or during the one (1) year period following the last work 
performed by IP Pathways pursuant to an Ancillary Agreement (the “Restricted Period”), directly or indirectly, by, through, for or on 
behalf of Customer, or by, through, for or on behalf of others: (i) solicit for employment, retain or employ any past or present 
employee of IP Pathways that offered, implemented or performed services, either directly or indirectly, for Customer; or (ii) request, 
induce, counsel or advise any employee of IP Pathways that offered, implemented or performed services, either directly or 
indirectly, for Customer, to leave the employ, of or cease affiliation with, IP Pathways.

b. Customer acknowledges and agrees that IP Pathways has committed and will continue to commit substantial time, personnel and 
resources to the fulfillment of IP Pathways’ obligations under the Agreement. Should Customer wish to solicit for employment a 
past or present IP Pathways employee pursuant to Section 18(a)(i) or (ii) above, Customer may do so upon providing sixty (60) days’ 
advance written notice to IP Pathways and paying a fee of $20,000 to IP Pathways (the “Direct Hire Fee”). The Direct Hire Fee will be 
reflected on Customer’s invoice following the month of the past or present IP Pathways employee’s starting date of employment 
with Customer. 

c. Customer further acknowledges and agrees that any breach, attempted breach or repudiation by Customer of the restrictive 
covenants set forth in this Section 18 would produce irreparable harm and injury to IP Pathways, and it would be difficult, if not 
impossible, to compute IP Pathway’s actual damages resulting therefrom. Consequently (and in addition to any other rights or 
remedies available hereunder, at law or in equity), in the event this Section 18 is breached by Customer, Customer will pay to IP 
Pathways a solicitation fee, which shall be the sum of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000). The Parties acknowledge and agree 
that the solicitation fee is reasonable under the circumstances and the imposition and payment thereof does not constitute a 
penalty. 

19. INUNCTIVE RELIEF. Each Party acknowledges and agrees that any breach, attempted breach or repudiation by a Party of the restrictive 
covenants set forth in Sections 9, 10, and 18 of this Master Agreement would produce irreparable harm and injury to the non-breaching 
Party, and it would be difficult, if not impossible, to compute the non-breaching Party’s actual damages resulting therefrom. Each Party 
further acknowledges and agrees that no adequate remedy exists at law for the breach, attempted breach or repudiation by the 
breaching Party of the restrictive covenants set forth in Sections 9, 10 and 18 of this Master Agreement. Each Party therefore consents 
to the equity jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Iowa and acknowledges and agrees that an injunction is an appropriate and 
necessary remedy to prevent the breach, attempted breach or repudiation of such covenants. Each Party expressly waives and agrees to 
be estopped from asserting that any hardship, inconvenience or inequity will be suffered by it by submission to the equitable jurisdiction
of the courts of the State of Iowa or by the issuance of such injunctive relief. 

20. CUMULATIVE REMEDIES. Except to the extent expressly provided in Section 11(b)(iv) and 15(f)(iii)(4) herein or in an Ancillary Agreement 
which may provide Customer a sole and exclusive remedy under certain circumstances, the rights and remedies provided in this 
Agreement, are cumulative and will not prevent or prohibit any Party hereto from exercising any other rights or remedies available 
under the Agreement, at law or in equity. 

21. ARBITRATION. If any claim, dispute, controversy or breach shall arise in connection with this Agreement, its performance or 
nonperformance, the Parties agree the claim, dispute, controversy or breach and all matters related thereto, shall be settled by binding 

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 11

173

Item 18.



arbitration, in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgement upon the 
award rendered by the arbitrators(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The place of any arbitration shall be in Des Moines, 
Iowa. 

22. GOVERNING LAW. This Master Agreement and any Ancillary Agreement and all rights and duties hereunder, including but not limited to 
all matters of construction, validity and performance, will be governed by the substantive laws of the State of Iowa, without reference to 
conflict of law principles. 

23. NOTICE. Any notice required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be (a) in writing, (b) effective upon receipt, and (c) delivered by 
one of the following means: (i) by prepaid, nationally recognized, overnight package delivery or courier service; or (ii) by the United 
States Postal Service, first class, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. In addition to actual receipt by a Party, the 
following shall constitute receipt: (A) a Party's rejection or other refusal to accept notice, and (B) the inability to deliver notice to a Party 
because of a changed address of which no notice has been provided in accordance with this Section and received by the other Party. All 
notices given under the Agreement shall be addressed to the addresses of the Parties set forth below or to such other addresses of 
which the Parties hereto have been advised in writing by any of the above-described means.

If to IP Pathways: If to Customer: 

IP Pathways, LLC 
Attn: Legal Department
3600 109th Street, Urbandale, IA 50322

With an electronic copy to: 
legal@ippathways.com

City of Cedar Falls
Julie Sorensen 
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls IA, 50613

24. FORCE MAJEURE. Neither Party shall be liable to the extent and for the duration of the delay for any failure to perform its obligations 
under this Master Agreement or an Ancillary Agreement if prevented from doing so by a cause or causes beyond its control. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, such causes include acts of God, or the public enemy, fires, floods, storms, earthquakes, riots, 
strikes, lockouts, wars or war operations, acts of terrorists, restraints of government or other cause or causes which could not with 
reasonable diligence be controlled or prevented by the Party. 

25. NON-ASSIGNABILITY, DELEGATION. The rights and duties of Customer and IP Pathways under an Agreement, cannot be assigned by 
either Party, without the advance written consent of the other Party, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld. However, in its 
sole discretion, IP Pathways may delegate all, or any portion thereof, of the IP Pathways’ Services to a third party. 

26. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES. There are no third party beneficiaries to this Master Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement, including but
not limited to customers and clients of any Customer. 

27. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Master Agreement, together with any incorporated Ancillary Agreement and any other document 
incorporated by reference constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties regarding the subject matter herein and supersedes all 
prior and contemporaneous representations, agreements, and understandings, whether oral, written or otherwise. Any amendment or 
addendum to this Master Agreement or an Ancillary Agreement must state that it is entered into pursuant to, and incorporates the 
terms and conditions of this Master Agreement. Except as otherwise provided for herein, this Master Agreement or any Ancillary 
Agreement may not be amended, altered or modified except by written agreement between the Parties. 

28. BINDING EFFECT. This Master Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties hereto, their respective 
successors, permitted assigns and personal representatives. Nothing in this Master Agreement, express or implied, is intended to confer 
upon any other person any rights or remedies under or by reason of this Master Agreement. 

29. SEVERABILITY. Any term or provision of this Master Agreement which is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction will, as to such 
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without rendering invalid or unenforceable the remaining 

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 12

174

Item 18.



terms and provisions of this Master Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement, or affecting the validity or enforceability of any of the terms 
or provisions of this Master Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement in any other jurisdiction. 

30. WAIVER. The failure of any Party hereto to insist in any one or more instances upon performance of any term or condition of this 
Master Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of future performance of any such term, covenant or condition, but the obligation 
of such Party with respect thereto shall continue in full force and effect. 

31. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES. The Parties intend that an independent contractor relationship be created by this Master Agreement. 
Subject to the confidentiality provisions contained in this Master Agreement, IP Pathways shall be free to contract for similar services to 
be performed for other clients while under contract with Customer. IP Pathways is not to be considered an agent or employee of 
Customer for any purpose. 

32. SURVIVAL. The rights and obligations of the Parties in this Master Agreement that would by their nature or context be intended to 
survive the expiration or termination of this Master Agreement shall so survive.

33. COUNTERPARTS. This Master Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all 
of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Electronic signatures shall be accepted as binding for all purposes. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Master Agreement as of the Effective Date set forth above. 

City of Cedar Falls IP Pathways

Signature:

Name: Julie Sorensen

Date:

Signature:

Name: Brittani Shields

Title: Controller

Date:

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 13

175

Item 18.



EXHIBIT A

Engineer Type 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.
Central Monday-Friday

("Standard Hours")

Weekends and Hours other than 
Standard Hours

Holiday Hours

Support Engineer $239.00 $358.50 $358.50

Network Engineer $266.00 $399.00 $399.00

Systems Engineer $266.00 $399.00 $399.00

Project Manager $239.00 $358.50 $358.50

Travel Rates:

Local: Break/fix service calls performed at a location within a sixty (60) mile radius from Omaha, Nebraska, Des Moines, Iowa, Overland Park, 
KS, or Columbus, OH shall be subject to a travel charge of one hundred and twenty dollars ($120) per hour for travel time from IP Pathways’ 
nearest office to the project location; or

Long Distance:  Break/fix service calls performed at a location outside of a sixty (60) mile radius from Omaha, Nebraska, Des Moines, Iowa, 
Overland Park, KS, or Columbus, OH shall be subject to a travel charge of three hundred dollars ($300) per day per engineer working on a 
project or call;

Overnight:  All break/fix service calls performed on location, regardless of the distance from IP Pathways' nearest office, requiring an 
overnight stay, shall be subject to a total travel charge of three hundred dollars ($300) per day per engineer (the “Overnight Fee”). If the work 
performed requires an overnight stay, the Overnight Fee will be charged in lieu of the Local fee or Long Distance fee set forth above.

MSA 19352 v1  | Page: 14

176

Item 18.



 

 

 

 
ADDENDUM TO MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
This Addendum (“Addendum”) effective as of the latter of the signature dates below (the “Addendum Effective 
Date”), amends the Master Service Agreement (the “MSA”), in addition to any and all related addenda or 
amendments (collectively, the Agreement”), by and between City of Cedar Falls (“Customer”) and the IP Pathways 
entity providing the Service to Customer, as identified on the service document, LLC (“IP Pathways”). 
 

Terms  
A. IP Pathways and Customer hereby agree to amend the Agreement by adding to or replacing the following 

language of the MSA: 
 

1. Section 13.a. is hereby amended by adding the following paragraph at the end of the subsection: 

“Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or in any Ancillary Agreemetn, the 
Customer is not in any way liable for, nor shall it have any duty to hold harmless or indemnify for, 
claims, demands, losses, expenses or damages caused by the acts, errors or omissions of any 
person or entity other than Customer’s employees, officers or authorized agents.” 

 

2. Section 17.b.ii.3. is hereby amended by striking the subsection in its entirety and replacing with the 

following: 

“For convenience, upon ninety (90) days’ notice to Customer, regardless if there is a current 
Ancillary Agreement in place” 

 

3. Section 17 is hereby amended by renaming subsections (iii) and (iv) as (iv) and (v) respectively and 

inserting a new subsection (iii) as follows:  

“iii. Customer may terminate this Master Agreement for convenience upon one hundred  

eighty (180) days’ prior written notice to IP Pathways.”  

 
B. Limited Effect.  Except as modified by this Addendum, all other terms and conditions of the Agreement 

shall remain in full force and effect.   

 

C. Counterparts.  This Addendum may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which is deemed an 

original, but all of which constitutes one in the same agreement.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of this 

Addendum electronically or by facsimile shall be effective as delivery of an original signed counterpart of this 

Addendum.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused Addendum to be executed by a duly authorized 
representative of the parties as of the Addendum Effective Date. 

 
Customer: City of Cedar Falls 

By: Julie Sorensen 

Signature: ___________________________  

Date: __________________________  

IP Pathways, LLC 

By: Brittani Shields, Controller 

Signature: ___________________________  

Date: _______________________________

 

177

Item 18.



 

 

 

 
ADDENDUM TO MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
This Addendum (“Addendum”) effective as of the latter of the signature dates below (the “Addendum Effective 
Date”), amends the Master Service Agreement (the “MSA”), in addition to any and all related addenda or 
amendments (collectively, the Agreement”), by and between City of Cedar Falls (“Customer”) and the IP Pathways 
entity providing the Service to Customer, as identified on the service document, LLC(“IP Pathways”). 
 

Terms  
A. IP Pathways and Customer hereby agree to amend the Agreement by adding to or replacing the following 

language of the MSA: 
 

1. Section 10.b. is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

 

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, the receiving party may disclose that part of the Confidential 
Information that is required to be disclosed to comply with applicable laws or with a court or 
administrative order, provided that the receiving party gives the disclosing party prompt and 
reasonable notification of such requirement prior to such disclosure and reasonably cooperates with 
disclosing party should it wish to take any and takes all reasonable and lawful actions to obtain 
confidential treatment for such disclosure and to minimize the extent of such disclosure. 
 

2. Section 12 is hereby amended by striking the section in its entirety and replacing with the following: 

 

“The occurrence of any one or more of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default”: (1) 

Customer’s or IP Pathways’ breach of an Agreement and/or (2) failure by Customer or IP 

Pathways to perform any obligations or covenants set forth in an Ancillary Agreement.  In 

addition to all other rights and remedies granted to IP Pathways or Customer in the Master 

Agreement or Ancillary Agreement and under applicable law, upon the occurrence of an Event of 

Default, the non-breaching party shall give the breaching party thirty (30) days written notice 

(unless breaching party is found to be violating the law, in which case termination shall be 

immediate and automatic).  If breaching party fails to cure such Event of Default, the non-

breaching party shall immediately and automatically have the right to (a) terminate any or all 

Ancillary Agreement(s) and this Master Agreement; and (b) in the case of IP Pathways, remove 

any equipment it owns, and require payment upon early termination of an Ancillary Agreement 

for all Service Fees and other costs, expenses and amounts to be incurred during the Master 

Agreement Term; and (c) in the case of Customer, demand prompt return of its property.” 

  
 

3. Section 13.a. is hereby amended by adding the following paragraph at the end of the subsection: 

“Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or in any Ancillary Agreementn, the 
Customer is not in any way liable for, nor shall it have any duty to hold harmless or indemnify for, 
claims, demands, losses, expenses or damages caused by the acts, errors or omissions of any 
person or entity other than Customer’s employees, officers or authorized agents.” 

 

4. Section 17.b.ii.3. is hereby amended by striking the subsection in its entirety and replacing with the 

following: 

“For convenience, upon ninety (90) days’ notice to Customer, regardless if there is a current 
Ancillary Agreement in place” 

178

Item 18.



 

 

 

5. Section 17 is hereby amended by renaming subsections (iii) and (iv) as (iv) and (v) respectively and 

inserting a new subsection (iii) as follows:  

“iii. Customer may terminate this Master Agreement for convenience upon one hundred  

eighty (180) days’ prior written notice to IP Pathways.”  

 

6.  Section 18 is hereby amended by striking the section in its entirety and replacing with the following: 
 

“ a.  Neither Party must not at any time during the Master Agreement Term, or during the one (1) 
year period following the last work performed  by IP Pathways pursuant to an Ancillary 
Agreement (the “Restricted Period”), directly or indirectly, by, through, for or on behalf of either 
Party, or by, through, for or on behalf of others: (a) solicit for employment, retain, or employ any 
past or present employee of the other Party that  offered, implemented, or performed services, 
either directly or indirectly, for the Party; or (b) request, induce, counsel, or advise any employee 
of the other Party that offered, implemented, or performed services, either directly or indirectly, 
for the Party, to leave the employ of or cease affiliation with, the other Party.  

 
b.  The Parties each acknowledge and agree that both Parties have committed and will continue 
to commit substantial time, personnel, and resources to the fulfillment of their obligations under 
this Agreement. Should either Party wish to solicit for employment a past or present  employee 
of the other Party pursuant to Section 18(a) above, the Party  may do so upon providing sixty (60) 
days’ advance written notice to the other Party and paying a fee of $20,000 to the other Party 
(the “Direct Hire Fee”). The Direct Hire Fee will be reflected on the monthly invoice following the 
month of the past or present as a debit or credit depending on which Party hired the other 
Party’s employee based on employee’s starting date of employment.  

 
c.  Both Parties further acknowledge and agree that any breach, attempted breach, or 
repudiation by either Party of the restrictive covenants set forth in this Section 18 would produce 
irreparable harm and injury , and it would be difficult, if not impossible, to compute actual 
damages resulting therefrom. Consequently (and in addition to any other rights or remedies 
available hereunder, at law or in equity), in the event this Section H is breached , the breaching 
Party will pay to the other Party a solicitation fee, which shall be the sum of one hundred 
thousand dollars ($100,000). The Parties acknowledge and agree that the solicitation fee is 
reasonable under the circumstances and the imposition and payment thereof does not 
constitute a penalty.” 

 

7. Section 21 is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

“21. [RESERVED]” 

B. Limited Effect.  Except as modified by this Addendum, all other terms and conditions of the Agreement 

shall remain in full force and effect.   

C. Counterparts.  This Addendum may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which is deemed an 

original, but all of which constitutes one in the same agreement.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of this 

Addendum electronically or by facsimile shall be effective as delivery of an original signed counterpart of this 

Addendum.  

 
 
 

179

Item 18.



 

 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused Addendum to be executed by a duly authorized 
representative of the parties as of the Addendum Effective Date. 

 
Customer: City of Cedar Falls 

By: [Manager] 

Signature: ___________________________  

Date: __________________________  

IP Pathways, LLC 

By: Brittani Shields, Controller 

Signature: ___________________________  

Date: _______________________________

 

180

Item 18.



181

Item 19.



RESOLUTION NO.  

 

RESOLUTION DESIGNATING JULY 5 AND JULY 6, 2024 (9 A.M. – 10 P.M.) AS 
ADDITIONAL DAYS OF USE FOR CONSUMER FIREWORKS WITHIN CITY LIMITS 

 
WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa it shall be 

unlawful for any person to use or explode any consumer fireworks within the corporate 
limits of the City of Cedar Falls except on July 4 of each year between the hours of 9:00 
a.m. and 11:00 p.m.; and 

 
WHEREAS, any additional days of allowed use may be designated by resolution 

of council if adopted between the dates of January 1 and March 1 of each year to apply 
to the same calendar year; and 
  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa has considered 
designating July 5 and July 6, 2024 (9 a.m.-10 p.m.) as additional days of use for 
consumer fireworks within City limits; and  

  
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa deems it in the best 

interest of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa to approve July 5 and July 6, 2024 as additional 
days of use for consumer fireworks within City limits. 

  
NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that the designation of July 5 and July 6, 2024 (9 a.m.-10 p.m.) as additional days 
of use for consumer fireworks within City limits is hereby approved and adopted. 

 
  ADOPTED this 19th day of February 2024. 
 

                                                               
_____________________________ 

                                                                                 Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
                                                                                               
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 
 

182

Item 19.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Inspection Services Division 

 

  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  
 
 FROM: Jamie Castle, AIA 
  Building Official 
 
 DATE: February 12, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Contract with Professional Lawn Care  
 
Please see the contract for Lawn Care Services starting in Spring of 2024 and 
concluding Fall of 2027.  As noted in the Exhibits the work is based on an hourly fee to 
provide yard care services for private properties which are not compliant with City 
Ordinances and have not responded to notices sent by the City.   
 
City Staff contacted 6 local contractors asking them to provide a proposal for this work.  
There were two proposals submitted.  Prolawn was the low bid.  Prolawn has been 
providing this service to the city for the last 5+ years. 
 
 
 
 

183

Item 20.



184

Item 20.



185

Item 20.



186

Item 20.



187

Item 20.



188

Item 20.



189

Item 20.



190

Item 20.



191

Item 20.



Exhibit A 
Scope of Services 

 
  

 
 
 
 
Professional Lawn Care (Pro Lawn) is to provide yard maintenance services for private 
lots in violation of Cedar Falls Ordinances for a contract duration as specified.  Spring 
2024 through Fall 2027, unless earlier terminated. 
 
Scope of Work: 
 
Once notified by City Staff contractor to mow as indicated below.   
Ideally the yard would be mowed the same day as the City notifies the Contractor, but 
the City’s expectation would be for the yard to be mowed within 24 hours of notification.   
 
 
Performance expectations: 
 

 Take pictures to document area to be addressed (with address preferably).  
Pictures to be taken both before and after work is completed, date stamped and 
provided to the City. 

 Yard to be mowed completely, front and rear.  Bagging may be necessary but 
would be determined on a case-by-case basis in advance of mowing.   

 Grass to be cleared from sidewalks and street.   
 Grass, weeds, and involuntary growth to be trimmed along all fences, buildings, 

and posts (ie mailbox).   
 Upon completion of the work, Contractor will take a date-stamped picture and 

submit to the City with its invoice.   
 If contractor arrives and finds property to meet the City’s code, then picture 

documentation (with date-stamp) is requested to the City and no mowing time 
should be billed. 

192

Item 20.



Exhibit B 
Payment for Services 

 
  

 
Professional Lawn Care (ProLawn) 
Company Contact: Krisit Simmerman or Andrew Lickteig 
Company Address: PO Box 1942; Waterloo, IA 50704 
Company Phone Number: 319-233-3942 
 
ProLawn will provide yard maintenance services for private properties not in compliance 
with City Ordinances for an hourly cost of $95.00 per hour.  
 
Bagging and hauling will occur as an extra cost, requiring preapproved by City Staff. 

193

Item 20.



 
 

   10-12-2022 
 
 

Exhibit C 
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

FOR GOODS & SERVICES 
FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 
 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who perform work for the City of 
Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this document shall be defined as any person or entity that 
will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract.   
 
 

1. All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer authorized by law to do 
business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be issued by companies satisfactory to the City and 
have a rating of A-, VII or better in the current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   

 
2. The Contractor shall obtain and maintain through the term of the Agreement, insurance with the 

terms set forth in this Exhibit and with limits of coverage equal to or in excess of those set forth on 
Pages 2-3 of this Exhibit.  By requiring the insurance as set forth in this Exhibit the City does not 
represent that coverage or limits will necessarily be adequate to protect Contractor’s interests and 
such coverage and limits shall not be deemed a limitation on Contractor’s liability under the 
Agreement or under the indemnity provisions of this Exhibit.  The City shall have the right at any 
time to require liability insurance with greater coverage than that otherwise specified herein.   

 
3. Coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. All deviations or exclusions 

from the standard ISO commercial general liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and 
shall be subject to the review and approval of the City. 

 
4. Contractor shall maintain ongoing Commercial General Liability coverage for at least 2 years 

following substantial completion of the work, under the Agreement, to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an insured contract. 

 
5. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not contain the standard ISO 

separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to 
provide cross-liability coverage. 
 

6. Certificate of Insurance: Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance, with 
accompanying endorsements, to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required herein. 
See Pages 4-5 of this Exhibit.  

 
A. Upon request by the City, Contractor shall provide Certificates of Insurance for all 

subcontractors and sub-sub-contractors who perform work or services pursuant to the 
provisions of the Agreement. 

 
B. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the Cancellation & Material 

Changes Endorsement.   
 

7. Termination: Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of these 
requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure of the Contractor to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of the Agreement, and at City’s option, 
shall allow City to terminate the Agreement for cause and/or purchase said insurance at 
Contractor’s expense. 

 
 

194

Item 20.



Insurance Limits 
 

A. Commercial General Liability 
 
The City shall be named as Additional Insured on a primary and non-
contributory basis.  The policy will include waiver of subrogation endorsement 
in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Each Occurrence $1,000,000  
Fire Damage (any one occurrence) $100,000  
Medical Payments $5,000  
Personal & Advertising Injury $1,000,000  
General Aggregate $2,000,000  
Products-Completed Operations Aggregate $2,000,000  

 
Required Endorsements - sample endorsements Pages 4-5 of this Exhibit 
Blanket or Scheduled Additional Insured  
Owners, Lessees or Contractors - Scheduled Person or 
Organization 

CG 20 10 12 19         
or Equivalent 

Additional Insured - Owners, Lessees or Contractors - 
Completed Operations 

CG 20 37 12 19           
or Equivalent 

Governmental Immunity                                     
(Nonwaiver of Government Immunity -                    
Code of Iowa §670.4) 

Equivalent to sample 
on Page 4 of this 
Exhibit. 

Designated Construction Project(S) General Aggregate 
Limit (if applicable) 

CG 25 03 05 09         
or Equivalent 

 
 
B. Automobile Liability 
 
Coverage is required for non-owned and hired vehicles, if the Contractor does 
not own any vehicles.  The City shall be named as Additional Insured on a 
primary and non-contributory basis.  The policy will include waiver of 
subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Bodily Injury & Property Damage (each accident) $1,000,000  (CSL) 
Hired & Non-Owned Autos  If required 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

195

Item 20.



C. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability  
 
As required by any applicable law or regulation.  The policy will include waiver 
of subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Workers' Compensation Statutory Limits 
Bodily Injury Each Accident $500,000  
Bodily Injury by Disease Policy Limit $500,000  
Bodily Injury by Disease Each Employee $500,000  

 
 
D. Umbrella/Excess Liability 
 
If the umbrella/excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the 
same endorsement as required of the primary policies including but not 
limited to additional insured on a primary and non-contributory, and waiver of 
subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls.   
 

Each Occurrence $3,000,000  
Aggregate $3,000,000  

 
 
E. Errors & Omissions/Professional Liability 
 
If the Agreement’s scope of services includes design work or other 
professional consultation services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent acts or omissions (except 
for intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services 
performed by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & 
Omissions coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the 
Agreement, and continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date 
of completion of all work completed or services performed under the 
Agreement. 
 

Each Occurrence $1,000,000  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

196

Item 20.



ENDORSEMENTS 
 
 

ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 
 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its 
employees, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, are 
included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 20 10 12 19 or 
equivalent, and completed operations CG 20 37 12 19 or equivalent.  
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing with any 
other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, whether other 
available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
_______________________________ 

 
GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 

(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 
 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly agrees and 
states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of governmental immunity 
available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now 
exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of governmental 
immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be 
amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so at any 
time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance carrier. Nothing 
contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from asserting the defense of 
governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage under 
this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and benefits 
accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of governmental 
immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the 
defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall not otherwise 
change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 
 

197

Item 20.



CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 
 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, Reduction in 
coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-payment of premium shall 
be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement supersedes the standard cancellation 
statement on the Certificate of Insurance to which this endorsement is attached.  
Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 days advance written notice of 
cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage and/or limits, and 10 days advance 
written notice of non-payment of premium. 

 
 

________________________________ 
 
 
 

WAIVER OF TRANSFER OF RIGHTS 
OF RECOVERY AGAINST OTHERS TO US  

(Waiver of Subrogation Endorsement) 
 
To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby releases the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its directors, employees, and agents working 
on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or 
responsibility to the Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by 
way of subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s employees. This 
provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect to loss or 
damage occurring during the time of the Agreement or arising out of the work performed 
under the Agreement. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for Professional 
Liability) shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder. 

198

Item 20.



    

199

Item 20.



COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
CG 24 53 12 19

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

WAIVER OF TRANSFER OF RIGHTS OF RECOVERY
AGAINST OTHERS TO US (WAIVER OF SUBROGATION) - 

AUTOMATIC
This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
ELECTRONIC DATA LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
LIQUOR LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
POLLUTION LIABILITY COVERAGE PART DESIGNATED SITES
POLLUTION LIABILITY LIMITED COVERAGE PART DESIGNATED SITES
PRODUCTS/COMPLETED OPERATIONS LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
RAILROAD PROTECTIVE LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK POLICY DESIGNATED TANKS

The following is added to Paragraph 8. Transfer Of
Rights Of Recovery Against Others To Us of Section
IV - Conditions:

We waive any right of recovery against any person or
organization, because of any payment we make under
this Coverage Part, to whom the insured has waived
its right of recovery in a written contract or
agreement. Such waiver by us applies only to the
extent that the insured has waived its right of recovery
against such person or organization prior to loss.

© Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2018 Page 1 of 1

CG 24 53 12 19 Policy Number: 1886783     Transaction Effective Date: 02/10/2024

 
 

200

Item 20.



201

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, EI, Civil Engineer II  
 
 DATE: February 19, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Lake Street Recreational Trail Project 
  Project No. RT-819-3247 
  Iowa DOT Project No. TAP-U-1185(655)—8I-07 
  Statement of Completion and Final Acceptance of Work 
 
Attached is the Statement of Completion and Final Acceptance of Work Agreement for 
the Lake Street Recreational Trail Project. This project is completed and ready for final 
acceptance of work. The attached Certificate of Statement of Completion and Final 
Acceptance of Work Agreement form must be approved by the City Council and signed 
by the Mayor. I am recommending proceeding with this approval.  
 
The Lake Street Recreational Trail Project included placement of a new PCC trail along 
the South side of Lake Street from Central Avenue to Big Woods Road. 
 
The Lake Street Recreational Trail Project has been completed in reasonable 
compliance with the project plans and specifications. I recommend that the city Council 
approve and accept this project. 
  

 

     
_____________________________2/05/2024__________ 
Brett Armstrong, EI            Date 
 
 
xc:  David Wicke, P.E.,  
        Chase Schrage, P.E., Public Works Director 
 
 

202

Item 22.



203

Item 22.

MaloneM
Text Box
Mayor



1/22/2024

204

Item 22.



205

Item 22.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Benjamin Claypool, Principal Engineer, PE, PhD 
 
 DATE: February 12, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: 2024 Street Restoration Project 
  City Project Number: RC-000-3337 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the 2024 Street Restoration Project. 
 

We recommend setting Monday, March 4th, 2024 at 7:00pm as the date and time for the 
public hearing on this project and Friday, March 8th, 2024, at 2pm as the date and time 
for receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published 
by Thursday, February 22nd, 2024. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for 
distribution to contractors on Tuesday, February 20th, 2024 via QuestCDN (reference 
#8978616), allowing more than two (2) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 

This project involves the restoration of portions of six (6) city streets totaling 1.54 miles. 
Work will include 11,345 sy of pavement removal by milling, 5322 tons of asphalt 
placement, 7,038 lf of pavement saw cutting, replacement of pedestrian ramps, 
modifications to existing storm sewer intakes, manhole adjustments, and pavement 
striping. 
 

The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $1,563,165.25. The project 
will be funded by Local Option Sales Tax, Street Construction Fund, and General 
Obligation Bond.  
 

The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving the 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities for the 2024 Street 
Restoration Project. 
 
xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 

206

Item 23.



ITEM # ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE QUANTITY TOTAL COST

1 2010-108-D-3 OFF-SITE TOPSOIL C.Y. 35.00$         62 2,170.00$       

2 2010-108-E-0 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY, WASTE C.Y. 20.00$         75 1,500.00$       

3 2121.03.B GRANULAR SHOULDER, TYPE A (HMA MILLINGS) TONS 25.00$         147 3,675.00$       

4 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE B TOP EACH 3,000.00$    1 3,000.00$       

5 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE C TOP EACH 3,000.00$    1 3,000.00$       

6 6010-108-F-0 MANHOLE ADJUSTMENT, MAJOR (MR. MANHOLE) EACH 5,000.00$    2 10,000.00$     

7 6010-108-H-0 REMOVAL OF STORM MANHOLES AND INTAKES EACH 750.00$       2 1,500.00$       

8 7010-108-E-0 CURB, PCC 7 IN., 2.0 FT. WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 100.00$       178 17,800.00$     
9 7020-108-A-0 HMA, (ST), SURF., 1/2", PG58-28S TONS 160.00$       2661 425,760.00$   

10 7020-108-A-0 HMA, (ST), BASE., 3/4", PG58-28S TONS 160.00$       2661 425,760.00$   

11 7030-108-A-0 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 30.00$         65 1,950.00$       

12 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 100.00$       37 3,700.00$       

13 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 100.00$       28 2,800.00$       

14 7030-108-G-0 DETECTABLE WARNINGS S.F. 70.00$         48 3,360.00$       

15 7040-108-G-0 MILLING S.Y. 42.00$         11345 476,490.00$   

16 7040-108-I-0 CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL L.F. 30.00$         178 5,340.00$       

17 8020-108-B-0 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, SOLVENT/WATERBORNE STA. 90.00$         44 3,996.00$       

18 8020-108-G-0 PAINTED SYMBOLS AND LEGENDS EACH 80.00$         2 160.00$          

19 8030-108-A-0 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 30,000.00$  1 30,000.00$     

20 9010-108-B-0 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 1.25$           3281 4,101.25$       

21 9040-108-A-2 STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP), MANAGEMENT L.S. 5,000.00$    1 5,000.00$       

22 9040-108-D-1A WATTLES, 9IN. STRAW L.F. 3.00$           20 60.00$            

23 9040-108-D-2A WATTLES, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL L.F. 1.00$           20 20.00$            

24 9040-108-T-1 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, INSTALLATION EACH 150.00$       1 150.00$          

25 9040-108-T-2 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 50.00$         1 50.00$            

26 11020-108-A-0 MOBILIZATION L.S. 70,000.00$  1 70,000.00$     

27 11050-108-A-0 CONCRETE WASHOUT L.S. 2,000.00$    1 2,000.00$       

28 11050-108-A-0 SAW AND SEAL JOINTS L.F. 8.50$           7038 59,823.00$     

$1,563,165.25TOTAL PROJECT ESTIMATE

2024 STREET RESTORATION PROJECT
CITY PROJECT NO. RC - 000 - 3337

FINAL ESTIMATE OF COSTS & QUANTITIES

207

Item 23.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council Members 

  FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: February 8, 2024 

 SUBJECT: FY2025 Budget 

 
You may recall at Council Goal Setting that it was summarized about the new 
requirements that came out of State of Iowa HF718 as it relates to the budget process.  
The first part of these new requirements is having your proposed tax rate and notice of 
hearing information determined so that information can be provided in a letter that the 
County will be sending out to all taxpayers.   This is a letter required by the new 
legislation and the format of the letter is also predetermined.  The rate in the letter does 
not have to be the final rate as approved by Council, the Council would be able to lower 
the rate when the final budget hearing occurs.   The first hearing on the proposed tax 
rate does need to be a distinct and separate meeting as outlined in HF718.   
 
Attached is a resolution setting that special hearing on the proposed FY25 tax rate for 
April 1, 2024, at 5:15 pm.  The attached resolution is also setting the proposed total tax 
rate that the City Council will be considering at this hearing.  The attached resolution will 
include that proposed tax rate based on the discussion at the Committee of the Whole 
meeting on February 19th.   
 
As you all are aware as well, the letter to the taxpayers will only include the effects of 
the tax rate change and the rollback change for a $100,000 residential and commercial 
property.  It will not include the effects of any valuation change.  This is also the first 
year for the letter, so I anticipate many questions about the letter when taxpayers 
receive the information in March.   
 
If you have any questions about the budget or the budget process, please feel free to 
contact me.  
 
 
 

208

Item 24.



RESOLUTION NO. __________ 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF THE PUBLIC HEARING ON THE PROPOSED 
PROPERTY TAX RATE AND CREATING A PROPOSED PROPERTY TAX RATE 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed maximum property tax rate for the FY2025 Budget for 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa must be created by the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined a property tax rate not to exceed 

$_____, and 

WHEREAS, as required by law, a public hearing is to be held by the City Council 

of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to consider the proposed property tax rate.   

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa that the proposed property tax rate of $_____ will be considered at a public 

hearing and that public hearing shall be held at 5:15 pm on the 1st day of April, 2024, in 

the Council Chambers of City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa.  The City Clerk is 

hereby directed to publish and post notice of the proposed property tax rate and said 

hearing, and to notify Black Hawk County of the proposed tax rate, all as required by 

law.  

ADOPTED this 19th day of February, 2024. 
        
       _____________________ 
                                                                                       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

209

Item 24.



210

Item 25.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 02/19/24 COUNCIL MEETING



211

Item 25.



212

Item 25.



213

Item 25.



214

Item 25.



215

Item 25.



216

Item 25.



217

Item 25.



218

Item 25.



219

Item 25.



220

Item 25.



221

Item 25.



222

Item 25.



223

Item 25.



224

Item 25.



225

Item 25.



226

Item 25.



227

Item 25.



228

Item 25.



229

Item 25.



230

Item 25.



231

Item 25.



232

Item 25.



233

Item 25.



234

Item 25.



235

Item 25.



236

Item 25.



237

Item 25.



238

Item 25.



239

Item 25.



240

Item 25.



241

Item 25.



242

Item 25.



243

Item 25.



244

Item 25.



245

Item 25.



246

Item 25.



247

Item 25.



248

Item 25.



249

Item 25.



250

Item 25.



251

Item 25.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 02/19/24 MEETING



252

Item 25.



253

Item 25.



254

Item 25.



255

Item 25.



256

Item 25.



257

Item 25.



258

Item 25.



259

Item 25.



260

Item 25.



261

Item 25.



262

Item 25.



263

Item 25.



264

Item 25.



265

Item 25.



266

Item 25.



267

Item 25.



268

Item 25.



269

Item 25.



270

Item 25.



271

Item 25.



272

Item 25.



273

Item 25.



274

Item 25.



275

Item 25.



276

Item 25.



277

Item 25.



278

Item 25.



279

Item 25.



280

Item 25.



281

Item 25.



282

Item 25.



283

Item 25.



284

Item 25.



285

Item 25.



286

Item 25.



287

Item 25.



288

Item 25.



289

Item 25.



290

Item 25.



291

Item 25.



292

Item 25.



293

Item 25.



294

Item 25.



295

Item 25.



296

Item 25.



297

Item 25.



298

Item 25.



299

Item 25.



300

Item 25.



301

Item 25.


	Top
	Item 1.	Minutes 02/05/24
	240205MINUTES

	Item 2.	PH-CV Commercial, LLC
	1_PH Memo to Council 02-19-24
	2_Location Map
	3_CV Commercial, LLC Amended Agreement for Private Development
	4_Resolution Approving Amended Agreement - CV Commercial, LLC

	Item 3.	PH-North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Phase 2
	1. Memo PH  - North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Ph II
	2. Phasing Plan

	Item 4.	Condemnation Hearing for 109 E 2nd Street
	1 -  Condemnation 109 E 2nd Street -  hearing
	3045_001

	Item 5.	Ord. 3047-Local Option Sales Tax
	1.LOST Memo (1) (1)
	2. Local Option Tax

	Item 6.	Ord. 3048-Amending Zoning Map-N. of Aldrich Elemen. School
	1. CC Resolution Panther West Master plan and developmental procedures agreement
	2. Exhibit A - RP MasterPlan
	3. Exhibit B - Signed Development Agreement
	8. Ord-Rezoning-Panther West (1)

	Item 7.	Ord. 3049-Cemetery Section
	1. Cem Ord 2 5 24
	2.Cemetery Ordinance (Final)

	Item 8.	Ord. 3050-West 27th Street speed limit
	1. Memo - 27th Road Speed Limit Ordinance
	2. Ord.-27th Road Speed Limit Ordinance
	3. Sec._23_300.___Lawful_speed_limits_established REDLINE

	Item 9.	Committee Minutes 02/05/24
	Standing Committee Minutes 02-05-24_FINAL

	Item 10.	Annual Report of Boards and Commissions
	1. Annual Report Council memo for 2023
	2. P  Z Annual Summary 2023
	3. P  Z Attendance Chart 2023
	4. BOA Annual Report 2023
	5. HPC Annual Summary 2023
	6. Board of Rental Housing Appeals 2023
	7. Housing Commission Annual Report 2023
	8. Bike Ped 2023 Annual Report Final draft
	9. 2023 permit summary

	Item 11.	Boards & Commissions Resignation
	Resignation Letter

	Item 12.	Board & Commissions Appointments
	3026_001

	Item 13.	WWTP Op. II Civil Service certified list
	WWTP Opr II-Cert List 2-2024

	Item 14.	Tobacco Permits 02/19/2024
	02192024 Tobacco Application

	Item 15.	Retail alcohol 2-19-24
	Retail alcohol 02-19-24

	Item 17.	Iowa Regional Utilities Assoc.-Agreement
	Memo to Mayor Council IRUA agreement
	1 16 24 Final Territory Transfer Agreement (02298515x7F7E1)
	Final Exhibit A to Agreement (02298506x7F7E1)
	Final Exhibit B to Agreement (02298507x7F7E1)
	Final Exhibit C to Agreement (02298509x7F7E1)

	Item 18.	Master Service Agreement Renewal with IP Pathways
	Council Memo - 2024 MSA for Block of Hours
	QuoteIP_Pathways.019352.v1.5
	20240122 ADDENDUM TO MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT

	Item 19.	Fireworks
	Fireworks memo
	##.Res_Fireworks2-19-24

	Item 20.	Lawn Care Services contract
	1- memo for prolawn contract
	2 - Prolawn contract - owner signed
	3 -Exibit A
	4 -Exhibit B
	5a - Exhibit C
	5b - City of Cedar Falls Cert 2024

	Item 21.	Refuse Equipment Purchase
	Transfer Trailer CC memo 2 19 24

	Item 22.	Final Acceptance - Lake Street Recreational Trail Project
	1. Memo Lake Street Trail Final Acceptance of Work
	2. Statement of Completion and Final Acceptance
	3. Pay App 9 - Retainage Release - signed

	Item 23.	Set PH-2024 Street Restoration Project
	1. Memo PSE - 2024 Street Restoration
	2. Estimate

	Item 24.	Set PH-Budget
	1-budget total levy hearing council.mem
	2-budget hearing date and total levy resolution

	Item 25.	Bills and Claims 2-19-24
	1 Daily Invoices 021924
	2 Council Invoices 021924

	Bottom

